

Filtered polynomial approximation on the sphere

Author: Wang, Yu Guang

Publication Date: 2015

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/18200

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/54485 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-27

Filtered polynomial approximation on the sphere

Yuguang Wang

A thesis in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**



School of Mathematics and Statistics Faculty of Science University of New South Wales

 $31 \ \mathrm{March} \ 2015$

PLEASE TYPE THE UNIVERSITY	Y OF NEW SOUTH WALES
Thesis/Dissertation Sheet	
Surname or Family name: Wang	
First name: Yuguang	Other name/s: Yu Guang Wang
Abbreviation for degree as given in the University calendar: PhD	
School: School of Mathematics and Statistics	Faculty: Faculty of Science
Title: Filtered polynomial approximation on the sphere.	

Abstract 350 words maximum: (PLEASE TYPE)

Localised polynomial approximations on the sphere have a variety of applications in areas such as signal processing, geomathematics and cosmology. Filtering is a simple and effective way of constructing a localised polynomial approximation. In this thesis we investigate the localisation properties of filtered polynomial approximations on the sphere. Using filtered polynomial kernels and a special numerical integration (quadrature) rule we construct a fully discrete needlet approximation.

The localisation of the filtered approximation can be seen from the localisation properties of its convolution kernel. We investigate the localisation of the filtered Jacobi kernel, which includes the convolution kernel for filtered approximation on the sphere as a particular example. We prove the precise relation between the filter smoothness and the decay rate of the corresponding filtered Jacobi kernel over local and global regions.

The difference in localisation properties between Fourier and filtered approximations can be illustrated by their Riemann localisation. We show that the Riemann localisation property holds for the Fourier-Laplace partial sum for sufficiently smooth functions on the two-dimensional sphere, but does not hold for spheres of higher dimensions. We then prove that the filtered approximation with sufficiently smooth filter has the Riemann localisation property for spheres of any dimensions.

Filtered convolution kernels with a special filter become spherical needlets, which are highly localised zonal polynomials on the sphere with centres at the nodes of a suitable quadrature rule. The original semidiscrete spherical needlet approximation has coefficients defined by inner product integrals. We use an appropriate guadrature rule to construct a fully discrete version. We prove that the fully discrete spherical needlet approximation is equivalent to filtered hyperinterpolation, that is to a filtered Fourier-Laplace partial sum with inner products replaced by appropriate quadrature sums. From this we establish error bounds for the fully discrete needlet approximation of functions in Sobolev spaces on the sphere. The power of the needlet approximation for local approximation is shown by numerical experiments that use low-level needlets globally together with high-level needlets in a local region.

Declaration relating to disposition of project thesis/dissertation

I hereby grant to the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all property rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstracts International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

Yuguang Wang R.S. Domersley 25/03/2015 Signature Witness Date

The University recognises that there may be exceptional circumstances requiring restrictions on copying or conditions on use. Requests for restriction for a period of up to 2 years must be made in writing. Requests for a longer period of restriction may be considered in exceptional circumstances and require the approval of the Dean of Graduate Research.

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

Date of completion of requirements for Award:

THIS SHEET IS TO BE GLUED TO THE INSIDE FRONT COVER OF THE THESIS

Originality Statement

'I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.'

Signed Yuguang Wang Date 31 March 2015

Yuguans Wang

Copyright Statement

'I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or here after known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all proprietary rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation. I also authorise University Microfilms to use the 350 word abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstract International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only). I have either used no substantial portions of copyright material in my thesis or I have obtained permission to use copyright material; where permission has not been granted I have applied/will apply for a partial restriction of the digital copy of my thesis or dissertation.'

Signed	Yuguang Wang	Ynename	Wa
Date	31 March 2015		my

Authenticity Statement

'I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis. No emendation of content has occurred and if there are any minor variations in formatting, they are the result of the conversion to digital format.'

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank and express my great appreciation to my supervisors Professors Ian Sloan and Rob Womersley for their constant support and guidance.

I am indebted to my colleagues Johann Brauchart, Professor Josef Dick, Quoc Thong Le Gia, Professor Edward Saff for their help and comments. I also wish to thank Professor Leonardo Colzani during his visit to UNSW for his discussion on Riemann localisation, Christian Gerhards for his discussion on applications of Riemann localisation to geophysics, and Professors Fran Narcowich and Joe Ward for their helpful discussion on needlets at conferences in Nashville and Vienna.

I would like to thank my family for their love and support and with deep gratitude to my fiance Houying Zhu for her immeasurable love.

I would like to acknowledge the support of University International Postgraduate Award (UIPA) of UNSW Australia during my research program and the partial support from Postgraduate Research Support Scheme (PRSS) of the Graduate Research School of UNSW and from Erwin Schrödinger International Institute for Mathematical Physics (ESI Vienna) during my visit to Vienna (11 October – 31 October 2014). I gratefully acknowledge Professor Ian Sloan and the Australian Research Council (ARC) for supporting many of my conference trips.

Abstract

Localised polynomial approximations on the sphere have a variety of applications in areas such as signal processing, geomathematics and cosmology. Filtering is a simple and effective way of constructing a localised polynomial approximation. In this thesis we investigate the localisation properties of filtered polynomial approximations on the sphere. Using filtered polynomial kernels and a special numerical integration (quadrature) rule we construct a fully discrete needlet approximation.

The localisation of the filtered approximation can be seen from the localisation properties of its convolution kernel. We investigate the localisation of the filtered Jacobi kernel, which includes the convolution kernel for filtered approximation on the sphere as a particular example. We prove the precise relation between the filter smoothness and the decay rate of the corresponding filtered Jacobi kernel over local and global regions.

The difference in localisation properties between Fourier and filtered approximations can be illustrated by their Riemann localisation. We show that the Riemann localisation property holds for the Fourier-Laplace partial sum for sufficiently smooth functions on the two-dimensional sphere, but does not hold for spheres of higher dimensions. We then prove that the filtered approximation with sufficiently smooth filter has the Riemann localisation property for spheres of any dimensions.

Filtered convolution kernels with a special filter become spherical needlets, which are highly localised zonal polynomials on the sphere with centres at the nodes of a suitable quadrature rule. The original semidiscrete spherical needlet approximation has coefficients defined by inner product integrals. We use an appropriate quadrature rule to construct a fully discrete version. We prove that the fully discrete spherical needlet approximation is equivalent to filtered hyperinterpolation, that is to a filtered Fourier-Laplace partial sum with inner products replaced by appropriate quadrature sums. From this we establish error bounds for the fully discrete needlet approximation of functions in Sobolev spaces on the sphere. The power of the needlet approximation for local approximation is shown by numerical experiments that use low-level needlets globally together with high-level needlets in a local region.

Contents

Ac	know	ledgements	V
Ab	strac	t	vii
Lis	st of I	Figures	xi
Lis	st of T	Tables	xii
No	tatio	a	xiii
1	Intro	oduction	1
	1.1	Key new results	3
	1.2	Notation	8
2	Func	tion spaces and filtered operators	11
	2.1	Spherical harmonics and zonal functions	11
	2.2	\mathbb{L}_p spaces on the sphere	12
	2.3	Sobolev spaces on the sphere	13
	2.4	Reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces	14
	2.5	Jacobi weighted spaces and filtered Jacobi kernels	15
	2.6	Filtered approximations and kernels on the sphere	16
3	Asyr	nptotic and local properties of filtered Jacobi kernels	21
	3.1	Introduction	21
	3.2	Asymptotic expansions of filtered Jacobi kernels	25
	3.3	Localised upper bounds	36
		3.3.1 Sharp upper bounds – special case	37
		3.3.2 Sharp upper bounds – general case $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	41
	3.4	Norms of filtered kernels and operators $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	44
		3.4.1 Weighted \mathbb{L}_1 -norms of filtered kernels	45
		3.4.2 \mathbb{L}_p -norms of filtered operators	49
	3.5	Construction of filters	51
	3.6	Numerical examples	53
	3.7	Fourier-Jacobi kernels and operators	55
4	Rien	nann localisation on the sphere	61
	4.1	Introduction	61
		4.1.1 Fourier case	63
		4.1.2 Filtered case	66
	4.2	Dirichlet kernels for Jacobi weights	67
		4.2.1 Asymptotic expansions for Jacobi polynomials	67
		4.2.2 Asymptotic expansions for Dirichlet kernels	68
		4.2.3 Uancellation effect	69

	4.3	Fourier	c local convolutions on the sphere $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		4.3.1	Preliminaries
		4.3.2	Upper bounds
		4.3.3	Lower bounds
	4.4	Filtere	d local convolutions on the sphere
	4.5	Proofs	
		4.5.1	Proofs for Section 4.2.1
		4.5.2	Proofs for Section 4.2.2
		4.5.3	Proof for Section 4.2.3
	4.6	Norms	of Fourier local convolutions and their kernels $\ldots \ldots \ldots $ 90
5	Fully	v discret	te needlet approximations on the sphere 93
	5.1	Introdu	$\mathbf{uction} \dots \dots$
	5.2	Filtere	d operators, needlets and wavelets
		5.2.1	Semidiscrete needlets and continuous wavelets
		5.2.2	Filtered operators and their kernels
		5.2.3	Semidiscrete needlet approximations
	5.3	Discret	e needlet approximations
		5.3.1	Discrete needlets and filtered hyperinterpolation 102
		5.3.2	Error for filtered hyperinterpolation
		5.3.3	Discrete needlets and discrete wavelets
	5.4	Numer	ical examples
		5.4.1	Algorithm
		5.4.2	Needlet approximations for the entire sphere $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
		5.4.3	Local approximations by discrete needlets $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	5.5	Proofs	
		5.5.1	Proofs for Section 5.2
		5.5.2	Proofs for Section 5.3
Bil	oliogr	aphy	123

List of Figures

3.1	Filters $g_{2\kappa+1}$, $\kappa = 1, \ldots, 6$, using piecewise polynomials	54
3.2	$\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norms of filtered kernels in (3.6.1) for Examples (i), (ii), (iii)	56
5.1	Needlet filter $h \in C^5(\mathbb{R}_+)$	108
5.2	An order-6 needlet with a C^5 -needlet filter	108
5.3	The test function f_2	109
5.4	\mathbb{L}_2 -errors for needlet approximations of test functions f_k using Wendland	
	functions of different smoothness k	111
5.5	Centres of needlets at level 4 (larger points) and level 6 (smaller points)	
	for a localised discrete needlet approximation	112
5.6	Absolute errors of a localised discrete needlet approximation for f_2 with	
	all needlets at levels ≤ 4 and localised needlets at levels 5, 6	112

List of Tables

Notation

$\lfloor x \rfloor$	The largest integer $\leq x$
$\lceil x \rceil$	The smallest integer $\geq x$
\mathbb{Z}_+	Set of natural numbers $\{1, 2, 3, \ldots\}$
\mathbb{R}	Set of real numbers $(-\infty, +\infty)$
\mathbb{R}_+	Set of nonnegative real numbers $[0, +\infty)$
\sim	$a(T) \sim b(T)$ means $\lim_{T \to +\infty} a(T)/b(T) = 1$
\asymp, \asymp_{α}	$a(T) \asymp_{\alpha} b(T)$ means $c_{\alpha}^{-1} b(T) \leq a(T) \leq c_{\alpha} b(T)$ for some constant c_{α}
\mathcal{O}_{lpha}	$a(T) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}(b(T))$ means $ a(T) \leq c_{\alpha} b(T) $ holds for all $T \geq T_0$ for some constants $c_{\alpha} > 0$ and $T_0 \in \mathbb{R}_+$
0	$a(T) = o(b(T))$ means that $\lim_{T \to +\infty} a(T)/b(T) = 0$
$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}, \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^k$	$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1} u_{\ell} := u_{\ell} - u_{\ell+1}, \ \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} (\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k-1} u_{\ell}), \ k = 2, 3, \dots$
$\Gamma(\cdot)$	Gamma function
$\operatorname{supp} g$	Closure of the set of points where the function g is non-zero
$\binom{a}{k}$	Extended binomial coefficient $\frac{\Gamma(a+1)}{\Gamma(a-k)\Gamma(k+1)}$ for $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$
\mathbb{R}^{d+1}	Real $(d+1)$ -dimensional Euclidean space
\mathbb{S}^d	Unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^{d+1}
$\mathcal{C}\left(\mathbf{x}, heta ight)$	Spherical cap with centre \mathbf{x} and radius θ
$ \mathbb{S}^d $	Area of the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^d
$\left \mathcal{C}\left(\mathbf{x}, heta ight) ight $	Area of spherical cap $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, \theta)$
Δ^*	Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{S}^d
$C(\mathbb{S}^d)$	Space of all real-valued continuous functions on \mathbb{S}^d
σ_d	Normalised Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{S}^d
$\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$	Real-valued \mathbb{L}_p space on \mathbb{S}^d
$\mathcal{H}_\ell(\mathbb{S}^d)$	Space of all real-valued spherical harmonics of exact degree ℓ on \mathbb{S}^d
$\mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d)$	Space of all real-valued spherical polynomials of degree at most ν on \mathbb{S}^d
$\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$	Sobolev space of order s embedded in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$
$\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$	Sobolev space of order s embedded in $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$
$(f,g)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}$	Inner product $\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x}) g(\mathbf{x}) \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x})$ for $f, g \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$
$Z(d,\ell)$	Dimension of the space $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$
$Y_{\ell,m}$	Real-valued spherical harmonic of degree ℓ , $m = 1, \ldots, Z(d, \ell)$
$\widehat{f}_{\ell m}$	Fourier coefficient for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$

V_L^d	Partial sum of Fourier series of order L on \mathbb{S}^d
v_L^d	Fourier convolution kernel for V_L (or generalised Dirichlet kernel)
$V^d_{L,g}, V_{L,g}$	Filtered approximation of degree L with filter g on \mathbb{S}^d
$v_{L,g}^d, v_{L,g}$	Filtered convolution kernel for $V_{L,g}$
$V_L^{d,\delta}$	Fourier local convolution for V_L^d
$V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}$	Filtered local convolution for $V_{L,g}$
$\mathcal{Q}_N, \mathcal{Q}(\nu, N)$	Quadrature rule on the sphere with N points
ψ_{jk}	Order j needlets, $k = 1, \ldots, N_j$
$V_L^{\rm need}$	Semidiscrete needlet approximation of degree L
$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}$	Fully discrete needlet approximation of degree L
\mathcal{U}_{jN}	Level- j contribution for discrete needlets
$w_{lpha,eta}$	Jacobi weight for $\alpha, \beta > -1$
$\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$	\mathbb{L}_p space on $[-1, 1]$ for Jacobi weight $w_{\alpha, \beta}$
$\mathcal{V}_L^{(lpha,eta)}$	Partial sum of Fourier series of order L for $w_{\alpha,\beta}$
$v_L^{(lpha,eta)}$	Fourier convolution kernel for $\mathcal{V}_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}$
$V_{L,g}^{(lpha,eta)}$	Filtered approximation for $w_{\alpha,\beta}$
$v_{L,g}^{(lpha,eta)}$	Filtered Jacobi kernel for $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$
$\widehat{\ell}, \widehat{\ell}(\alpha, \beta)$	$\ell + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}$, shift of ℓ
\widehat{L}	$L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}$, shift of L
\widetilde{L}	$L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 2}{2}$, shift of L

Chapter 1

Introduction

Approximation of functions on the sphere is an important topic in geoscience and astronomy. Choosing an appropriate approximation method is critical to reducing errors in geophysical models and thus to enhancing approximation accuracy and efficiency.

A widely used method is approximation by Fourier-Laplace expansions — the counterpart to the Fourier expansion in an Euclidean space, see [3, 19, 22, 33]. The partial sum of a Fourier-Laplace series is globally supported on the sphere. This lack of localisation is, however, sometimes a deficiency.

In this thesis we study how to improve the localisation of the Fourier-Laplace expansion. We are then led to construct a *filtered polynomial approximation*.

A filtered polynomial approximation is a constructive approximation method exploiting filters. Because of their excellent localisation properties and their polynomial structure, the filtered spherical polynomials have wide applications in areas such as signal processing [38], geography [22, 26, 65, 66] and cosmology [40, 58, 76].

Before we describe the filtered approximation we need some definitions. Let $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ be the \mathbb{L}_p space on \mathbb{S}^d with respect to the normalised Lebesgue measure σ_d . When p = 2, $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is a Hilbert space with inner product $(f,g)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} :=$ $\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x}) g(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x})$ for $f, g \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$. Given $\ell \geq 0$ let $Z(d, \ell)$ be the dimension of the space $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ of all spherical harmonics of exact degree ℓ . Let $\{Y_{\ell,m} : \ell =$ $0, 1, \ldots, m = 1, \ldots, Z(d, \ell)$ be an orthonormal basis for $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$, where the spherical harmonics $Y_{\ell,m} \in \mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$. Given a function $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ the Fourier-Laplace partial sum (or the partial sum of the Fourier-Laplace series) of degree $L \in \mathbb{N}_0$ is

$$V_L^d(f; \mathbf{x}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^L \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} \widehat{f}_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}).$$

where $\widehat{f}_{\ell m}$ is the Fourier coefficient for $f: \widehat{f}_{\ell m} := (f, Y_{\ell, m})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}$.

A typical filter function g is a continuous compactly supported function on $\mathbb{R}_+ := [0, +\infty)$ satisfying g is constant on [0, a], i.e. it takes the form

$$g(t) = \begin{cases} c, & t \in [0, a], \\ 0, & t \in [2, +\infty) \end{cases}$$
(1.0.1)

for some constant $c \ge 0$ and some $a \in (0, 2)$. We note that c is allowed to be zero, which case has an important application in Chapter 5.

Given a filter g, a *filtered approximation* for f uses the g to modify the Fourier coefficients:

$$V_{L,g}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \widehat{f}_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}), \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d), \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(1.0.2)

In Chapters 3 and 4 we prove that this filtered approximation enhances the localisation of the Fourier-Laplace partial sum.

Chapter 3 focuses on the localisation of the convolution kernel $v_{L,g}$ of the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$. We prove asymptotic expansions and localised upper bounds of the filtered Jacobi kernel, which takes the filtered convolution kernel $v_{L,g}$ on the sphere as a specific example. These results show precise relationships between the asymptotic order of L of $v_{L,g}$ and the smoothness of the filter g.

In Chapter 4 we study the localisation of the filtered approximation. The well known Riemann-Lebesgue lemma (see, for example, [69, Theorem 1.4, p. 80]) states that the *L*th Fourier coefficient of an integrable function on the circle S¹ approaches zero as *L* approaches ∞ . As a direct consequence (as explained in Chapter 4), the Riemann localisation property holds, meaning that for an integrable 2π -periodic function *f* that vanishes on an open interval, the *L*th partial sum of the Fourier series approaches zero as *L* approaches ∞ at every point of that open interval. An equivalent statement is that the Fourier local convolution of an integrable 2π periodic function on the circle (where the local convolution at θ is the convolution of the *L*th Dirichlet kernel with the function modified by replacing by zero its values in a neighbourhood of θ) approaches zero as the degree of the Dirichlet kernel approaches ∞ .

We extend the notion of Riemann localisation to the Fourier-Laplace partial sum and to the filtered approximation on \mathbb{S}^d for $d \geq 2$. We prove that the Fourier-Laplace partial sum V_L^d has the Riemann localisation property only for sufficiently smooth functions on \mathbb{S}^2 and does not have the Riemann localisation property for \mathbb{S}^d with $d \geq 3$. We then prove the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$ always has the Riemann localisation property whenever the filter g is sufficiently smooth. In Chapter 5 we consider the localised polynomial *frame* on the sphere. Narcowich et al. [51, 52] proved that when a filter h satisfies h(t) = 0 for $t \in [0, 1/2] \cup [2, +\infty)$, (i.e. the filter g in (1.0.1) with a = 1/2 and c = 0) and $h(t)^2 + h(2t)^2 = 1$ for $t \in [1/2, 1]$, the filtered convolution kernels can form a localised tight frame for $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$ — the spherical needlets.

We exploit quadrature (numerical integration) rules to construct a fully discrete approximation by spherical needlets. Using the localisation of the filtered kernels, we prove the convergence order of the discrete needlet approximation.

1.1 Key new results

We state the main new results of the thesis as follows.

Asymptotic and local properties of filtered kernels

Given $\alpha, \beta > -1$, let $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$ be the Jacobi polynomial of degree ℓ . The *filtered Jacobi kernel* is defined in terms of Jacobi polynomials by

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s,t) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)^{-1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t), \quad s,t \in [-1,1],$$

where $M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is the normalisation constant.

In Chapter 3 we study the relationship between the localisation of a filtered Jacobi kernel and the smoothness of its filter. We prove that for a filter g satisfying

(i)
$$g(t) = c$$
 for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$; $g(t) = 0$ for $t \ge 2$;
(ii) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$,
(1.1.1)

the corresponding filtered Jacobi kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ has the following asymptotic expansion for $\theta \in [cL^{-1}, \pi - cL^{-1}]$:

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = c_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa}(\theta) L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \left(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-1}\right) \right),$$

$$(1.1.2)$$

where $c_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa}(\theta)$, $u_{\kappa,i}(\theta)$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4 and $\phi_L(\theta)$, $\overline{\phi}_L(\theta)$ are explicitly given and the big \mathcal{O} notation $a_L = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}(b_L)$ means that there exists a constant c depending only on α such that $|a_L| \leq c |b_L|$. (See Theorem 3.2.11.)

We also prove a localised upper bound of the filtered Jacobi kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)$ for $\theta,\phi\in[0,\pi]$:

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)| \le \frac{c \ L^{-(\kappa-\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|)^{\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\min\{\alpha,\beta\}+\frac{1}{2}}},$$
(1.1.3)

where the constant c depends only on α, β, g and κ . (See Theorem 3.3.3.)

This improves the bounds obtained by Petrushev and Xu [57, Eq. 2.2] and Mhaskar [46, Theorem 3.1].

Let $w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) := (1-t)^{\alpha}(1+t)^{\beta}$ be the Jacobi weight for $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta}) := \mathbb{L}_1([-1,1], w_{\alpha,\beta})$ be the \mathbb{L}_1 space on [-1,1] with respect to the weight $w_{\alpha,\beta}$, and let $\chi_A(\cdot)$ be the indicator function on some set A.

Given a filter g satisfying (1.1.1), using the localised upper bound and the asymptotic expansion of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$, we prove that the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[-1,a]}(\cdot)$ is equivalent to a constant when a = 1 and has the asymptotic order $L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$ when a < 1. (See Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 in Section 3.4.1.)

In Section 3.5 we give an explicit construction for the filter satisfying (1.1.1) using piecewise polynomials with any given smoothness κ . Using these filters, we verify by the numerical experiments in Section 3.6 the results of Section 3.4.1.

The convolution kernel of the filtered approximation on the sphere is a special example of the filtered Jacobi kernel. The filtered convolution kernel on the sphere thus inherits all the localisation properties from the latter.

Riemann localisation on the sphere

Given $d \ge 2$, let $P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(t) := P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(t)/P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1)$ be the normalised Jacobi polynomial of degree ℓ . Using the additon theorem [50]

$$\sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}) Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{y}) = Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}),$$

(1.0.2) can be written as a *convolution*

$$V_{L,g}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$$

with the filtered (convolution) kernel

$$v_{L,g}(t) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(t).$$
(1.1.4)

Given $\delta > 0$ let $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, \delta) := {\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^d : \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} \ge \cos \delta}$ be a spherical cap with centre \mathbf{x} and radius δ . The Riemann localisation of the Fourier-Laplace partial sum V_L^d can be characterised by a *local convolution*

$$V_L^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}).$$

The concept of local convolution also applies to the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$. The *local convolution* for the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$ is defined by

$$V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}), \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d), \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$

Let $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d) \subset \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ be a Sobolev space with smoothness s > 0. We say the Fourier-Laplace partial sum V_L^d (or the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$) has the *Riemann localisation property* if there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that for each $0 < \delta < \delta_0$ the \mathbb{L}_p norm of its local convolution $V_L^{d,\delta}(f)$ (or $V_{L,q}^{d,\delta}(f)$) decays to zero for all $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

In Section 4.3 we prove that the local convolution for the Fourier-Laplace partial sum V_L^d has the following upper bound: for $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $s \ge 2$,

$$\left\| V_L^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \| f \|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \quad f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d), \tag{1.1.5}$$

with the optimal order $L^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$. (See Corollary 4.3.4 and Theorem 4.3.6.)

The upper bound (1.1.5) shows that the Fourier-Laplace partial sum V_L^d has the Riemann localisation property for the Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with d = 2 and $s \ge 2$, while, since the order $L^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$ is sharp, V_L^d does not have the Riemann localisation property when $d \ge 3$.

In Section 4.4 we prove that, using the asymptotic expansion (1.1.2) obtained in Chapter 3, the filtered approximation with a filter g satisfying (1.1.1) improves the Riemann localisation for $V_{L,g}$ in that for $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $s \ge 2$,

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{3}{2})} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \quad f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d).$$

Thus, when the filter g is sufficiently smooth the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$ has the Riemann localisation property for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for spheres of all dimensions.

Fully discrete spherical needlet approximations

The classical continuous wavelets represent a complicated function by projecting it onto different levels of a decomposition of the \mathbb{L}_2 function space on the sphere. A projection, often called "a detail of the function", becomes small rapidly as the level increases. This multilevel decomposition proves very useful in solving many problems. Narcowich et al. in recent work [51, 52] showed that the details of the spherical wavelets may be further broken up into still finer details, which are highly localised in space. This new decomposition of a spherical function is said to be a needlet decomposition.

Given $N \ge 1$, for k = 1, ..., N, let \mathbf{x}_k be N nodes on \mathbb{S}^d and let $w_k > 0$ be the corresponding weights. The set $\{(w_k, \mathbf{x}_k) : k = 1, ..., N\}$ is a *positive quadrature* (numerical integration) rule exact for polynomials of degree up to ν for some $\nu \ge 0$ if

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} p(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{k=1}^N w_k \, p(\mathbf{x}_k), \quad \text{for all } p \in \mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d),$$

where $\mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is the set of all spherical polynomials of degree $\leq \nu$.

Spherical needlets [51, 52] are filtered kernels with a filter h (satisfying h(t) = 0 for $t \in [0, 1/2] \cup [2, +\infty)$ and $h(t)^2 + h(2t)^2 = 1$ for $t \in [1/2, 1]$) associated with a quadrature rule. For $j = 0, 1, \ldots$, we define the *needlet quadrature*

$$\{(w_{jk}, \mathbf{x}_{jk}) : k = 1, \dots, N_j\}, \quad w_{jk} > 0, \ k = 1, \dots, N_j,$$

exact for polynomials of degree up to $2^{j+1} - 1.$ (1.1.6)

Using (1.1.4) and letting $v_{T,h} := 1$ for $0 < T \le 1$, a *needlet* ψ_{jk} , $k = 1, \ldots, N_j$ of order j with needlet filter h and needlet quadrature (1.1.6) is then defined by

$$\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) := \sqrt{w_{jk}} \, v_{2^{j-1},h}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{jk}). \tag{1.1.7}$$

Narcowich et al. [51, 52] proved that $\{\psi_{jk} : k = 1, \ldots, N_j, j = 0, 1, \ldots\}$ forms a localised *tight frame* for $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$, i.e. $\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} |(f, \psi_{jk})|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} |^2 = ||f||_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}^2$ for all $f \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$ but $\psi_{jk}, \psi_{j'k'}$ for $j \neq j'$ or $k \neq k'$ are not necessarily orthogonal. Using this frame, they then defined the *semidiscrete needlet approximation*

$$V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}) := \sum_{2^j \le L} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$

The semidiscrete needlet approximation $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ has an approximation order L^{-s} for f in Sobolev space $\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d) \subset \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with some s > 0:

$$\left\| f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \| f \|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$
 (1.1.8)

Needlet approximation in its original form is however not suitable for direct implementation as its needlet coefficients are integrals. In Chapter 5 we use an additional quadrature rule $\mathcal{Q}_N := \{(W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, ..., N\}$ with $W_i > 0$ to discretise the needlet coefficient $(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}$:

$$(f,\psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x})\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) \approx \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \,f(\mathbf{y}_i) \,g(\mathbf{y}_i) =: (f,g)_{\mathcal{Q}_N}.$$

Chapter 1 Introduction

Let $C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ be the space of continuous functions on \mathbb{S}^d . We then define the *discrete* needlet approximation of degree L by

$$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{2^{j} \le L} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_{N}} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), \quad f \in C(\mathbb{S}^{d}), \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^{d}.$$

When s > d/2, $\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is continuously embedded into $C(\mathbb{S}^d)$. Let \mathcal{Q}_N be exact for polynomials of degree up to 3L - 1. We prove that given $0 < \epsilon < s - d/2$ the discrete needlet approximation $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f)$ has an approximation order $L^{-(s-\frac{d}{2}-\epsilon)}$ for $f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$, cf. (1.1.8):

$$\left\| f - V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(s - \frac{d}{2} - \epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \quad f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d).$$

(See Theorems 5.3.3 and 5.3.5.)

The theory is illustrated numerically for the approximation of a function of known smoothness, using symmetric spherical designs [80] (for both the needlet quadrature and the inner product quadrature). The power of the needlet approximation for local approximation is shown by a numerical experiment that uses low-level needlets globally together with high-level needlets in a local region. (See Section 5.4.)

Finally, we mention that work from or related to this thesis has been submitted or is in preparation to be submitted:

- Y. G. Wang, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley. Asymptotic and local properties of filtered polynomial kernels the dependence on filter smoothness. (Preprint) (I have 50% contribution in this paper, including writing the main body of the paper, proving the main results and carrying on numerical experiments.)
- Y. G. Wang, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley. Riemann localisation on the sphere. (Preprint) (I have 50% contribution in this paper, including writing the main body of the paper, estimating the bounds for the Fourier and filtered local convolutions.)
- Y. G. Wang, Q. T. Le Gia, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley. Fully discrete needlet approximation on the sphere. *arXiv:1502.05806 [math.NA]*. (Submitted) (I have 50% contribution in this paper, including writing the main body of the paper, proving the main results and doing numerical experiments in Section 5.)
- J. S. Brauchart, J. Dick, E. B. Saff, I. H. Sloan, Y. G. Wang and R. S. Womersley. Covering of spheres by spherical caps and worst-case error for equal weight

cubature in Sobolev spaces. *arXiv:1407.8311 [math.NA]*. (Submitted) (I help to prove the main results of Sections 2, 4 and 6. I only use the filtered Bessel kernel on the sphere defined in this paper for Chapter 5 in the thesis. Other parts of the paper are not included in the thesis.)

All these papers can be downloaded from my website http://web.maths.unsw.edu.au/~yuguangwang/

1.2 Notation

We use a := b (or a =: b) to mean that a is defined by b (or b is defined by a). Let E be a Borel set in \mathbb{R} or \mathbb{R}^{d+1} or \mathbb{S}^d with $d \ge 1$. Given a positive integer k, let $C^k(E)$ be the space of k times continuously differentiable functions on E. Let C(E) denote the collection of all continuous functions on E. We let $C^k(a, b) := C^k((a, b))$ for an open interval (a, b) for brevity. For $f \in C^k([a, b]), k = 0, 1, \ldots$, we denote the left and right limits by

$$f^{(k)}(a+) := \lim_{t \to a+} f^{(k)}(t), \quad f^{(k)}(b-) := \lim_{t \to b-} f^{(\kappa+1)}(t),$$

where the use of the notation implies the existence of the limits. For a function g from a set X to \mathbb{R} , let supp g be the support of g, the closure of the set of points where g is non-zero:

$$\operatorname{supp} g := \overline{\{x \in X : g(x) \neq 0\}}$$

Let a(T), b(T) be two sequences (when $T \in \mathbb{Z}_+$) or functions (when $T \in \mathbb{R}_+$) of T. We denote by $a(T) \asymp_{\alpha} b(T)$ if there is a real constant $c_{\alpha} > 0$ depending only on α such that $c_{\alpha}^{-1} b(T) \leq a(T) \leq c_{\alpha} b(T)$ and by $a(T) \asymp b(T)$ if no confusion arises. We denote by $a(T) \sim b(T)$ if $\lim_{T \to +\infty} a(T)/b(T) = 1$. The big \mathcal{O} notation $a(T) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha} (b(T))$ means there exists a constant $c_{\alpha} > 0$ and $T_0 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ depending only on α such that $|a(T)| \leq c_{\alpha}|b(T)|$ for all $T \geq T_0$. The little-*o* notation a(T) = o(b(T))means that $\lim_{T \to +\infty} a(T)/b(T) = 0$.

The finite forward differences of a sequence u_{ℓ} are defined recursively by

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1} u_{\ell} := u_{\ell} - u_{\ell+1}, \quad \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} (\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k-1} u_{\ell}), \quad k = 2, 3, \dots$$

We will use the asymptotic expansion of the Gamma function, as follows. Given $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, see [54, Eq. 5.11.13, Eq. 5.11.15],

$$\frac{\Gamma(L+a)}{\Gamma(L+b)} = L^{a-b} + \mathcal{O}_{a,b}\left(L^{a-b-1}\right).$$
(1.2.1)

Chapter 1 Introduction

The ceiling function $\lceil x \rceil$ is the smallest integer at least x and the floor function $\lfloor x \rfloor$ is the largest integer at most x. For integer $k \ge 0$ and real $a \ge k$, let

$$\binom{a}{k} := \frac{a(a-1)\cdots(a-k+1)}{k!} = \frac{\Gamma(a+1)}{\Gamma(a-k)\Gamma(k+1)}$$

be the extended binomial coefficient. We use "L" as a non-negative integer and "T" as a positive real number. We define $\hat{\ell} := \hat{\ell}(\alpha, \beta) := \ell + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}$ as the shift of ℓ , and $\hat{L} := L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}$ and $\tilde{L} := L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 2}{2}$ as the shifts of L.

Chapter 2

Function spaces and filtered operators

In this chapter we give the definitions of function spaces on spheres and for Jacobi weights, and give the definitions of Fourier and filtered approximations on these spaces and study the basic properties of these approximations and of their convolution kernels.

2.1 Spherical harmonics and zonal functions

For $d \geq 1$, let \mathbb{R}^{d+1} be the real (d + 1)-dimensional Euclidean space with inner product $\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}$ for $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ and Euclidean norm $|\mathbf{x}| := \sqrt{\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}}$. Let $\mathbb{S}^d := {\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^{d+1} : |\mathbf{x}| = 1}$ denote the unit sphere of \mathbb{R}^{d+1} . The sphere \mathbb{S}^d forms a compact metric space, with the metric being the geodesic distance

$$\operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) := \operatorname{arccos}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \quad \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$

The area of \mathbb{S}^d is

$$|\mathbb{S}^d| = \frac{2\pi^{\frac{d+1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})}.$$
(2.1.1)

Let σ_d be the normalised Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{S}^d so that

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) = 1.$$

Let $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, \theta) := {\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^d : \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} \ge \cos \theta}$ denote a spherical cap with centre \mathbf{x} and radius $\theta \in (0, \pi]$. The area of the cap is

$$|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\theta)| := |\mathbb{S}^d| \int_{\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\theta)} \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) = |\mathbb{S}^{d-1}| \int_0^\theta (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \mathrm{d}\theta \asymp_d \theta^d.$$
(2.1.2)
11

A real-valued spherical harmonic of degree ℓ on \mathbb{S}^d is the restriction to \mathbb{S}^d of a real-valued homogeneous and harmonic polynomial of total degree ℓ defined on \mathbb{R}^{d+1} . Let $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ denote the set of all spherical harmonics of exact degree ℓ on \mathbb{S}^d . The dimension of the linear space $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is

$$Z(d,\ell) := (2\ell + d - 1) \frac{\Gamma(\ell + d - 1)}{\Gamma(d)\Gamma(\ell + 1)} \asymp (\ell + 1)^{d-1}, \qquad (2.1.3)$$

where the asymptotic estimate uses [54, Eq. 5.11.12]. Let Δ^* be the Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{S}^d . Each member of $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is an eigenfunction of the negative Laplace-Beltrami operator $-\Delta^*$ on the sphere \mathbb{S}^d , with eigenvalue

$$\lambda_{\ell} = \lambda_{\ell}^{(d)} := \ell(\ell + d - 1).$$
(2.1.4)

A zonal function is a function $K : \mathbb{S}^d \times \mathbb{S}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ that depends only on the inner product of the arguments, i.e. $K(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y}) = g(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \ \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^d$, for some function $g : [-1, 1] \to \mathbb{R}$. Let $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha, \beta)}(t), -1 \leq t \leq 1$, be the Jacobi polynomial of degree ℓ for $\alpha, \beta > -1$. We will use the value of $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha, \beta)}(1)$, see [70, Eq. 4.1.1, p. 58]: given $\alpha, \beta > -1$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) = \binom{\ell+\alpha}{\ell}.$$
(2.1.5)

Given $d \geq 2$, we denote the normalised Legendre (or Gegenbauer) for $\mathbb{S}^d \subset \mathbb{R}^{d+1}$ polynomial by

$$P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(t) := P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{d-2}{2})}(t) / P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{d-2}{2})}(1).$$
(2.1.6)

Note that $P_{\ell}^{(3)}(t)$ is the Legendre polynomial $P_{\ell}(t)$. Then $P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ for fixed $\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^d$ is a zonal spherical harmonic of degree ℓ . From [70, Theorem 7.32.1, p. 168],

$$\left|P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y})\right| \le 1. \tag{2.1.7}$$

Let $\{Y_{\ell,1}, \ldots, Y_{\ell,Z(d,\ell)}\}$ be an *orthonormal basis* for $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $\ell \geq 0$. It satisfies the *addition theorem*, see for example [50, p. 9–10],

$$\sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}) Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{y}) = Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$
(2.1.8)

2.2 \mathbb{L}_p spaces on the sphere

All functions considered in this thesis are real-valued. For $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ let $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d) = \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d, \sigma_d)$ be the real \mathbb{L}_p -function space on \mathbb{S}^d with respect to σ_d on \mathbb{S}^d , endowed

with the \mathbb{L}_p -norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} |f(\mathbf{x})|^p \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) \right\}^{1/p}, \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d), \quad 1 \le p < \infty;$$
$$\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_\infty(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \sup_{\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d} |f(\mathbf{x})|, \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_\infty(\mathbb{S}^d) \cap C(\mathbb{S}^d).$$

For p = 2, $\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$ forms a Hilbert space with inner product

$$(f,g)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x}) g(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}), \quad f,g \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d).$$

The linear span of $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $\ell = 0, 1, \ldots, \nu$ forms the space $\mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ of spherical polynomials of degree up to ν . Since each pair $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $\mathcal{H}_{\ell'}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for $\ell > \ell' \ge 0$ is \mathbb{L}_2 -orthogonal, it follows that $\mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is the direct sum of $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$, i.e. $\mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d) = \bigoplus_{\ell=0}^{\nu} \mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$. The direct sum $\bigoplus_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is then dense in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for $1 \le p \le \infty$, see e.g. [78, Ch.1].

By the addition theorem, see (2.1.8), and the orthogonality of $Y_{\ell,m}$, the zonal functions $P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}$ and $P_{\ell'}^{(d+1)}$ satisfy

$$\left(Z(d,\ell)P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot), Z(d,\ell')P_{\ell'}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{y}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = \begin{cases} Z(d,\ell)P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}), & \ell = \ell', \\ 0, & \ell \neq \ell'. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.2.1)$$

Let $v(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ and $g(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ be two zonal functions of the form

$$v(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} a_{\ell} Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \quad g(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} b_{\ell} Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$

Then (2.2.1) gives, for $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{S}^d$,

$$\left(v(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot), g(\mathbf{z}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}) g(\mathbf{z}\cdot\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^\infty a_\ell \, b_\ell \, Z(d,\ell) \, P_\ell^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{z}).$$
(2.2.2)

2.3 Sobolev spaces on the sphere

Let $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$. We define

$$b_{\ell}^{(s)} := (1 + \lambda_{\ell})^{s/2} \asymp (1 + \ell)^s, \qquad (2.3.1)$$

where λ_{ℓ} is given by (2.1.4). Note that $b_{\ell}^{(s)}b_{\ell}^{(s')} = b_{\ell}^{(s+s')}$. For $\ell \geq 0, m = 1, \ldots, Z(d, \ell)$, let

$$\widehat{f}_{\ell m} := (f, Y_{\ell, m})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x}) Y_{\ell, m}(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x})$$

be the Fourier coefficients of $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

The generalised Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s > 0 may be defined as the set of all functions $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ satisfying $\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} b_{\ell}^{(s)} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} \widehat{f}_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m} \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$. The Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is a Banach space with norm

$$\|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} := \left\|\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} b_{\ell}^{(s)} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} \widehat{f}_{\ell m} Y_{\ell,m}\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}.$$
(2.3.2)

Given s > 0, an equivalent definition of the Sobolev space is, see e.g. [78, Definition 4.3.3, p. 172],

$$\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d) := \left\{ g \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d) : (-\Delta^*)^{s/2} g \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d) \right\}$$
(2.3.3)

with norm $||f||_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} := ||f||_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + ||(-\Delta^{*})^{s/2}f||_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}.$

We have the following two embedding lemmas for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$, see [4, Section 2.7] and [37] and also [31, Eq. 14, p. 420]. Given $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0$, let $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ denote the set of all κ times continuously differentiable functions on \mathbb{S}^d .

Lemma 2.3.1 (Continuous embedding into $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{S}^d)$). Let $d \geq 2, 1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $\kappa \in \mathbb{N}_0$. The Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is continuously embedded into $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ if $s > \kappa + d/p$.

Lemma 2.3.2. Let $d \ge 2$. For $0 < s \le s' < \infty$ and $1 \le p \le p' < \infty$, $\mathbb{W}_{p'}^{s'}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is continuously embedded into $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

2.4 Reproducing kernel Hilbert spaces

When p = 2, the Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ becomes a reproducing kernel Hilbert space. For brevity, we write $\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d) := \mathbb{W}_2^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$. The inner product in $\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is defined by

$$(f,g)_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} b_{\ell}^{(2s)} \,\widehat{f}_{\ell m} \,\widehat{g}_{\ell m}.$$

By (2.3.2) and \mathbb{L}_2 -orthogonality of the $Y_{\ell,m}$, the Sobolev norm on $\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ can be written as

$$\|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = \left(\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} b_{\ell}^{(2s)} |\widehat{f}_{\ell m}|^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.4.1)

For s > d/2, each $\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ has associated with it a unique kernel $K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$ satisfying, see e.g. [12, Section 2.4], for $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^{d}$ and $f \in \mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$,

$$K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x},\cdot) \in \mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d}), \quad \left(f, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x},\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = f(\mathbf{x}).$$
(2.4.2)

Chapter 2 Function spaces and filtered operators

From (2.4.2), we have

$$\left(K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x},\cdot), K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y},\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x},\mathbf{y}), \ \mathbf{x},\mathbf{y} \in \mathbb{S}^{d}.$$
(2.4.3)

The kernel $K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{y})$ is said to be the *reproducing kernel*. It is moreover a zonal kernel, taking the explicit form

$$K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{Z(d,\ell)} b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}) Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{y}). \quad (2.4.4)$$

2.5 Jacobi weighted spaces and filtered Jacobi kernels

The Jacobi weight function $w_{\alpha,\beta}(t)$ for $\alpha, \beta > -1$ is

$$w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) := (1-t)^{\alpha} (1+t)^{\beta}, \quad -1 \le t \le 1.$$
(2.5.1)

Given $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, let $\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta}) = \mathbb{L}_p([-1,1], w_{\alpha,\beta})$ be the \mathbb{L}_p function space with respect to the positive measure $w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) dt$. It forms a Banach space with the \mathbb{L}_p -norm

$$||f||_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})} := \left(\int_{-1}^1 |f(t)|^p w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t\right)^{1/p}.$$

The space $\mathbb{L}_2(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ is a Hilbert space with inner product

$$(f,g)_{\alpha,\beta} = (f,g)_{\mathbb{L}_2(w_{\alpha,\beta})} := \int_{-1}^1 f(t)g(t) w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) dt, \quad f,g \in \mathbb{L}_2(w_{\alpha,\beta})$$

The Jacobi polynomials $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$, $\ell = 0, 1, ...$ form a complete orthogonal basis for the space $\mathbb{L}_2(w_{\alpha,\beta})$. We adopt the normalisation of [70, Eq. 4.3.3, p. 68]:

$$\left(P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}, P_{\ell'}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)_{\alpha,\beta} = \int_{-1}^{1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) P_{\ell'}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) \ w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \ \mathrm{d}t = \delta_{\ell,\ell'} \ M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}, \qquad (2.5.2)$$

where $\delta_{\ell,\ell'}$ is the Kronecker delta and

$$M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} := \frac{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}}{2\ell+\alpha+\beta+1} \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+1)\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\beta+1)}.$$
(2.5.3)

The *L*th partial sum of the Fourier series (or the *L*th Fourier(-Jacobi) partial sum) for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ is given by

$$\mathcal{V}_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{L} \widehat{f}(\ell) \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t),$$

where $\widehat{f}(\ell)$ is the ℓ th Fourier coefficient given by

$$\widehat{f}(\ell) := \left(f, \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)_{\alpha,\beta}$$

Thus the Fourier partial sum can be written as

$$\mathcal{V}_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) = \left(f(\cdot), v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,\cdot)\right)_{\alpha,\beta}, \qquad (2.5.4)$$

in which $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ is the *(generalised) Dirichlet kernel* (the "Fourier" kernel)

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) := \sum_{\ell=0}^L \left(M_\ell^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-1} P_\ell^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) P_\ell^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s).$$
(2.5.5)

Definition 2.5.1. A continuous compactly supported function $g : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is said to be a filter with truncation constant b for $b \in (0, +\infty)$ if b is the largest member of supp g.

Remark. In this thesis, we always let b = 2.

The filtered approximation with a filter g (with b = 2) for the Jacobi weight $w_{\alpha,\beta}$ is the polynomial of degree at most 2L - 1 defined by

$$V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \widehat{f}(\ell) \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{2L-1} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \widehat{f}(\ell) \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$$
$$= \left(f(\cdot), v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t, \cdot)\right)_{\alpha,\beta}, \qquad (2.5.6)$$

where the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ takes the form [57, (1.2), p. 558]

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2L-1} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right)^{-1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s).$$
(2.5.7)

2.6 Filtered approximations and kernels on the sphere

The projection onto $\mathcal{H}_{\ell}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is

$$Y_{\ell}(f; \mathbf{x}) := Y_{\ell}^{d}(f; \mathbf{x}) := \left(f(\cdot), Z(d, \ell) P_{\ell}^{(d)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d}} f(\mathbf{y}) Z(d, \ell) P_{\ell}^{(d)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d}(\mathbf{y}).$$
(2.6.1)

Chapter 2 Function spaces and filtered operators

The Fourier convolution of order L for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$, (or the Fourier-Laplace partial sum of order L for f) can be written as the sum of the first L+1 projections $Y_{\ell}(f)$

$$V_L^d(f; \mathbf{x}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^L Y_\ell(f; \mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(2.6.2)

By (2.6.1),

$$V_L^d(f;\mathbf{x}) = \left(f(\cdot), v_L^d(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v_L^d(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}),$$

where the *Fourier convolution kernel* (or generalised Dirichlet kernel) $v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ is a zonal kernel (i.e. it depends only on $\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}$) given by

$$v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^L Z(d,\ell) P_\ell^{(d)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$
(2.6.3)

The Fourier convolution kernel $v_L^d(t)$, $t \in [-1, 1]$, in (2.6.3) is a constant multiple of $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ with $\alpha = \beta = (d-2)/2$ in (2.5.5):

Lemma 2.6.1. Let $d \ge 2$ and $L \ge 0$. Then

$$v_L^d(t) = \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} v_L^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t) = \frac{|\mathbb{S}^d|}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} v_L^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t).$$
(2.6.4)

Proof. Using (2.6.3) and (2.1.6) with (2.1.3) and $P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{d-2}{2})}(1) = {\binom{\ell + \frac{d-2}{2}}{\ell}}$, see (2.1.5), gives

$$v_L^d(t) = \sum_{\ell=0}^L Z(d,\ell) P_\ell^{(d)}(t)$$

= $\frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(d)} \sum_{\ell=0}^L \frac{(2\ell+d-1)\Gamma(\ell+d-1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\frac{d}{2})} P_\ell^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(t)$

Using (2.5.3) with $P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1) = {\binom{\ell+\frac{d-2}{2}}{\ell}}$ and (2.5.5) then gives

$$\begin{split} v_L^d(t) &= \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \sum_{\ell=0}^L \left(M_\ell^{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2}} \right)^{-1} P_\ell^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1) P_\ell^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(t) \\ &= \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \, v_L^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t). \end{split}$$

This gives the first equality of (2.6.4). The second equality of (2.6.4) is by (2.1.1).

17

Definition 2.6.2. A filtered kernel on \mathbb{S}^d with filter g is, for $T \in \mathbb{R}_+$,

$$v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := v_{T,g}^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le T < 1, \\ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), & T \ge 1. \end{cases}$$
(2.6.5)

We may define a *filtered approximation* $V_{T,g}$ on $\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $T \ge 0$ as an integral operator with the filtered kernel $v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$.

Definition 2.6.3. A filtered (polynomial) approximation with filter g for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is

$$V_{T,g}(f;\mathbf{x}) := V_{T,g}^d(f;\mathbf{x}) := \left(f, v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{y}) \, v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}). \tag{2.6.6}$$

Note that for T < 1 this is just the integral of f.

Using projections, the filtered approximation can be written as, cf. (2.6.2),

$$V_{T,g}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Y_{\ell}(f;\mathbf{x}).$$

Using (2.6.5) and (2.1.6) with (2.1.5) gives

$$v_{T,g}(t) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d)}(t) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(d)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) \frac{(2\ell+d-1)\Gamma(\ell+d-1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\frac{d}{2})} P_{\ell}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(t).$$

It is a constant multiple of the filtered Jacobi kernel in (2.5.7), cf. Lemma 2.6.1.

Lemma 2.6.4. Let $d \geq 2$ and $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Then

$$v_{L,g}(t) = \sqrt{\pi} \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t) = \frac{|\mathbb{S}^d|}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t).$$
(2.6.7)

The proof of Lemma 2.6.4 is similar to that of Lemma 2.6.1.

For a filter g and s > 0, the *filtered Bessel kernel* [11, Eq. 5.1] is

$$v_{T,g}^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le T < 1, \\ \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} b_{\ell}^{(-s)} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), & T \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(2.6.8a)

where $b_{\ell}^{(-s)}$ is given by (2.3.1). And let

$$v_{T,g}^{(0)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$
(2.6.8b)

Let $K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ be the reproducing kernel for $\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ with s > 0, see (2.4.4). Applying (2.2.2) to $K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ and $v_{T,g}^{(s')}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$, $s' \geq 0$, gives the following lemma, which we will use in the proof of Lemma 5.5.4

Lemma 2.6.5. Let $d \ge 2$, s > 0, $s' \ge 0$ and g be a filter. Then for $T \in \mathbb{R}_+$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) v_{T,g}^{(s')}(\mathbf{z} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = v_{T,g}^{(2s+s')}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{z}), \quad \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
Chapter 3

Asymptotic and local properties of filtered Jacobi kernels

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter we study the "local decay" of filtered polynomial kernels, and in particular study the dependence of the local decay on the smoothness of the filter. Our results improve upon those of Petrushev and Xu [57], and are sharp in the sense that for one special choice of the free variable in the kernel the upper bounds are achieved by an exact asymptotic expression for the kernel.

We are interested in the "local" properties of this kernel, and of variants of the kernel obtained by "filtering". As in [57], by "local" behaviour we mean the behaviour of the kernel $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s,t)$ when $s \neq t$ and $L \to \infty$. The Dirichlet kernel (2.5.5) has poor local behaviour, in that, as we shall see in Lemma 3.7.1, for $s \neq t$ the kernel does not approach zero as $L \to \infty$. It has even worse global behaviour, in that

$$\left\|\mathcal{V}_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right\|_{C[-1,1]\to C[-1,1]} = \max_{-1\leq t\leq 1} \int_{-1}^{1} |v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s \to \infty \quad \text{as} \quad L \to \infty$$

(see Lemma 3.7.2). As is well known, this implies that the partial sum $\mathcal{V}_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f,\cdot)$ of the Fourier series is not uniformly convergent to f for all continuous functions f.

One way of improving both the local and global behaviour of the kernel is to modify the Fourier partial sum by the inclusion of an appropriate filter. We use a filter function g defined on $\mathbb{R}_+ = [0, +\infty)$ with the properties

$$g(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 0, & t \ge 2, \end{cases}$$
(3.1.1)

and with g not yet specified on the interval (1, 2).

The Fourier kernel is a special extreme case of the filtered kernel: if g(t) is the indicator function $\chi_{[0,1]}$ then the filtered kernel in (2.5.7) reduces to the *L*th Fourier kernel. Usually, however, we prefer filters that have some smoothness, in the sense of belonging to $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for some $\kappa > 0$.

The norm of the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t)$ as an integral operator on C[-1,1] is

$$\left\|V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}\right\|_{C[-1,1]\to C[-1,1]} = \max_{-1\leq t\leq 1} \int_{-1}^{1} \left|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)\right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Under appropriate conditions (a sufficient condition is that $\kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$, see Theorem 4.3) the operator norm of $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is uniformly bounded. Since $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ reproduces polynomials p(t) on [-1,1] with degree up to L, i.e. $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(p) = p$, deg $p \leq L$, we see that the uniform error satisfies

$$\begin{split} \left\| V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) - f \right\|_{C[-1,1]} &= \left\| V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f-P) - (f-P) \right\|_{C[-1,1]} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \left\| V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right\|_{C[-1,1] \to C[-1,1]} \right) \| f - P \|_{C[-1,1]}. \end{split}$$

From this it follows that the error in $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f)$ is within a constant factor of the *L*th best polynomial approximation.

In this thesis, however, our interest is not in the global approximation properties but rather in the local (or off-diagonal) behaviour of the kernel. We know from Lemma 3.7.1 that Fourier kernels $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ on $[-1,1] \times [-1,1]$ have poor localised performance and shall see in this chapter that the filtered kernel has a remarkable localisation property. It is then natural to ask what features of the filter function determine this local behaviour. The following result (a restatement of Theorems 3.2.7, 3.3.1 and 3.3.3) gives a localised upper bound for $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ which shows that the localisation improves when smoothness of the kernel increases.

Main theorem Given κ be a non-negative integer, let g be a filter function with the following properties:

(i)
$$g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_{+});$$

(ii) $g(t) = c \text{ for } t \in [0,1] \text{ with some } c \ge 0;$
(iii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+2}([1,2]);$
(iv) $g(t) = 0 \text{ for } t > 2.$

1) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$. For $0 \le \theta, \phi \le \pi$, see Theorem 3.3.3,

$$\left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta) \right| \le \frac{c \, L^{-(\kappa-\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\phi-\theta|)^{\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\phi-\theta}{2}\right)^{\min\{\beta,\alpha\}+\frac{1}{2}}};$$
(3.1.2)

2) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$. For the special case $\phi = 0$, see Theorem 3.3.1,

$$\left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| \le \frac{c \, L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1} + \sin\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1} + \cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}; \tag{3.1.3}$$

3) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$. If $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$, we obtain the following asymptotic expansion for $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$, see Theorem 3.2.7,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \left(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right),$$

where the constants in 1), 2) and in the error terms in 3) depend only on α, β and g, and $\phi_L(\theta), \overline{\phi}_L(\theta)$ and $u_{\kappa,i}(\theta)$ (i = 1, ..., 4) are known explicitly.

The case 3) of the main theorem provides an asymptotic estimate of the filtered kernel in the special case $\phi = 0$, which means the order $L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$ of the upper bound in (3.1.3) is sharp.

Petrushev and Xu proved an upper bound for $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ [57, Eq. 2.2, p. 569] and $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta)$ [57, Eq. 2.14, p. 565]. For positive integer κ , if $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$,

$$\left|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)\right| \le c_{\kappa} \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\alpha-\beta-2)}}{(L^{-1}+\theta)^{\alpha+\kappa-\beta}}, \quad 0 \le \theta \le \pi,$$

and for $0 \le \phi, \theta \le \pi$

$$\left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta) \right| \le \frac{c_{\kappa} L}{\sqrt{\widetilde{w}_{\alpha,\beta}(L;\cos\phi)}\sqrt{\widetilde{w}_{\alpha,\beta}(L;\cos\theta)}(L^{-1}+\theta)^{\kappa-2\alpha-2\beta-3}}, \quad (3.1.4)$$

where $\widetilde{w}_{\alpha,\beta}(L;t) := (1-t+L^{-2})^{\alpha+1/2}(1+t+L^{-2})^{\beta+1/2}.$

Mhaskar [46, Theorem 3.1, p. 249] provided a similar upper bound on $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$. Given a filter g that is a κ times iterated integral of a function of bounded variation, for every $t_0 \in [-1, 1]$ and $\eta > 0$, there exists a constant $c_{t_0,\eta}$ such that for $|t - t_0| < \eta/2$, $|s - t_0| > \eta$,

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)| \le c_{t_0,\eta} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha-\beta-2)}.$$
 (3.1.5)

For a simple comparison, we let $\alpha = \beta = 0$. For $0 < \epsilon < |\theta - \phi| < \pi - \epsilon$, (3.1.4) and (3.1.5) give $v_{L,g}^{(0,0)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi) = \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(L^{-(\kappa-4)}\right)$ and $v_{L,g}^{(0,0)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi) = \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(L^{-(\kappa-2)}\right)$ respectively, while 1) of the main theorem provides $v_{L,g}^{(0,0)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi) = \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(L^{-(\kappa+\frac{1}{2})}\right)$.

Let $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta}) = \mathbb{L}_1([-1,1], w_{\alpha,\beta})$ be the \mathbb{L}_1 space with respect to the measure $w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) dt$ with \mathbb{L}_1 -norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})}$. In Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2, we prove that for $-1 \leq a < b \leq 1$, $\|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot)\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})}$ is equivalent to a constant independent

of L when b = 1 and is equivalent to $L^{-(\kappa - \alpha - \frac{1}{2})}$ when b < 1. This in turn illustrates the upper bound of (3.1.3) is optimal.

The reason why the operator core $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ is of interest is two-fold. First, the upper bound for the filtered kernel is readily obtained from the integral representation of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s,t)$ by $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ (see Theorem 3.3.3). Second, $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ is a constant multiple of the convolution kernel of the filtered operator on a class of two-point homogeneous spaces, see [13, 77]. As is well known, the filtered operator with adequate smoothness has bounded uniform norm, see [64] for C^{∞} filters, [52, 67] for C^{κ} filters. Theorem 3.4.2 shows that a sufficient condition on filter smoothness is $\kappa > \alpha - 1/2$, weaker than the requirements in the previous papers. Work, such as [13, 20, 36, 48], dealing with approximation on the sphere, shed light on the localisation properties of filtered kernels, and showed interesting connections and applications of the localisation result to the approximation on two-point homogeneous spaces [13] and the decomposition of Triebel-Lizorkin spaces on the sphere [51]. These papers proved the localised upper bounds for filtered kernels with the underlying assumption that the filter is C^{∞} . A more recent paper by Sloan and Womersley [68] constructed a discrete filtered convolution on the sphere, which was proved the uniform boundedness, and by numerical experiments illustrated localised approximation features of the discrete filtered operator. Different from the technical methods in [13, 57, 56], in this thesis, we make extensive use of the asymptotic properties of filtered kernels, which were essential in achieving the sharp bounds on the filtered kernel.

The chapter is organised as follows. Our main theorem above is contained in Section 3.2 and Section 3.3. Section 3.2 gives asymptotic expansions of the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$. The asymptotic result implies the sharp localised upper bound on $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ given in Section 3.3.1. This upper bound will help to prove a localised upper bound of the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s,t)$ of Section 3.3.2. In Section 3.4.1, we apply the results of Section 3.2 to prove tight upper and lower bounds of the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})$ -norm of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)$. Section 3.4.2 explores under what conditions the filtered operator is bounded using the estimate of Section 3.4.1. In Section 3.5 filters with prescribed smoothness are constructed using polynomial interpolation. In Section 3.6 numerical examples for the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot)$ are shown to support the theory. Section 3.7 proves the estimate for the Fourier-Jacobi kernel $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ for $t, s \in [-1, 1]$.

3.2 Asymptotic expansions of filtered Jacobi kernels

In this section we derive an asymptotic expansion for the filtered Jacobi kernel. We need the following asymptotic expansion for Jacobi polynomials from [70, Eq. 8.21.18, p. 197–198].

Lemma 3.2.1. Given α, β such that $\alpha > -1, \beta > -1$, there exists a constant c > 0 such that for $c \ell^{-1} < \theta < \pi - c \ell^{-1}, \ell \ge 1$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) = \widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\ell^{-1}\right)\right), \qquad (3.2.1)$$

where

$$\widehat{\ell} := \widehat{\ell}(\alpha, \beta) := \ell + (\alpha + \beta + 1)/2, \qquad (3.2.2a)$$

$$m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) := \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}}, \qquad (3.2.2b)$$

$$\omega_{\alpha}(z) := z - \frac{\alpha \pi}{2} - \frac{\pi}{4}.$$
(3.2.2c)

For a sequence u_{ℓ} , let $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}(u_{\ell}) := u_{\ell} - u_{\ell+1}$ denote the first order forward difference of u_{ℓ} and for $i \geq 2$, the *i*th order forward difference is defined recursively by $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i}(u_{\ell}) := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}(\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i-1}(u_{\ell}))$. We also write

$$\left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{.}g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right)\right)(\ell) := g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) - g\left(\frac{\ell+1}{L}\right).$$

Let u_{ℓ}, ν_{ℓ} be two sequences. Then

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \left(u_{\ell} \, \nu_{\ell} \right) = \left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \, u_{\ell} \right) \, \nu_{\ell} + u_{\ell+1} \left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \, \nu_{\ell} \right). \tag{3.2.3}$$

Given a filter g and $\alpha, \beta > -1$, let $A_k(T, t)$ for $T, t \ge 0$ be defined recursively by

$$A_{k}(T,t) := \begin{cases} g\left(\frac{t}{T}\right) - g\left(\frac{t+1}{T}\right), & k = 1, \\ \frac{A_{k-1}(T,t)}{2t+\alpha+\beta+k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(T,t+1)}{2(t+1)+\alpha+\beta+k}, & k = 2, 3, \dots \end{cases}$$
(3.2.4)

Lemma 3.2.2. Given $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, for $L - k \leq \ell \leq 2L$,

$$A_{k}(L,\ell) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} R^{(k)}_{-(2k-1-i)}(\ell) \,\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{i}_{\ell} \, g\Big(\frac{\ell}{L}\Big), \qquad (3.2.5a)$$

where $R_{-j}^{(k)}(\ell)$, $k-1 \leq j \leq 2k-2$, is a rational function of ℓ with degree^{*} deg $R_{-j}^{(k)} \leq -j$ and

$$R_{-j}^{(k)}(\ell) = \mathcal{O}_k\left(\ell^{-j}\right), \quad R_{-(k-1)}^{(k)}(\ell) = 2^{-k}\ell^{-(k-1)} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,k}\left(\ell^{-k}\right).$$
(3.2.5b)

Proof. By definition (3.2.4),

$$A_{k}(L,\ell) = \left(\frac{A_{k-1}(L,\ell)}{2\ell + 2r + k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(L,\ell)}{2(\ell+1) + 2r + k}\right) \\ + \left(\frac{A_{k-1}(L,\ell)}{2(\ell+1) + 2r + k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(L,\ell+1)}{2(\ell+1) + 2r + k}\right) \\ = \frac{1}{2\ell + 2r + k + 2} \left(\frac{2}{2\ell + 2r + k} + \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}\right) A_{k-1}(L,\ell) \\ =: \delta_{k}(\ell) \left(A_{k-1}(L,\ell)\right), \quad k \ge 2.$$

In addition, let $\delta_1(\ell) := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^1$. Then for $k \ge 1$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = \boldsymbol{\delta}_k(\ell) \cdots \boldsymbol{\delta}_1(\ell) \left(g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \right).$$
(3.2.6)

Using induction with (3.2.6) and (3.2.3) gives (3.2.5a).

For a filter g satisfying (3.1.1), the asymptotic expansion of the filtered kernel $v_{L,q}$ depends on the following estimates of $A_k(L, \ell)$.

Lemma 3.2.3. Let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: for some $r \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^r(1,2);$ (ii) $g^{(r)}$ be bounded in (1,2). Then for $1 \leq k \leq r$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(2k-1)}\right), \quad L+1 \le \ell \le 2L-k-1,$$
 (3.2.7)

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} term depends only on k, g and r.

Proof. The proof is by combining Lemma 3.2.2 with the upper bound on $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)$. For $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$ and $0 \leq i \leq k \leq \kappa$, we have by induction the following integral representation of the finite difference

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{L}} \mathrm{d}u_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{L}} g^{(i)} \left(\frac{\ell}{L} + u_{1} + \dots + u_{i}\right) \mathrm{d}u_{i}.$$

Since $g^{(i)}$ is bounded in (1,2), for $L+1 \le \ell \le 2L-k-1$,

$$\left|\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)\right| \leq c_{i,g} L^{-i}.$$

This with (3.2.5) together gives (3.2.7).

*Let R(t) be a rational polynomial taking the form R(t) = p(t)/q(t), where p(t) and q(t) are polynomials with $q \neq 0$. The *degree* of R(t) is $\deg(R) := \deg(p) - \deg(q)$.

For ℓ near L or 2L, $A_k(L, \ell)$ has the following asymptotic expansions.

Lemma 3.2.4. Let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0,1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0,2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$;

(*ii*) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+1}(1,2).$ Then for $L - k \le \ell \le L$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa+k)} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^k(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{L-\ell,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right), \qquad (3.2.8a)$$

and for $2L - k \le \ell \le 2L - 1$,

$$A_{k}(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa+k)} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{2k-1}(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right), \quad (3.2.8b)$$

where the constants in the big O terms depend only on k, κ and g, and

$$\lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} := \sum_{j=\nu+1}^{s} {\binom{s}{j}} (-1)^{j} (j-\nu)^{\kappa+1}, \quad \overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} := \sum_{j=0}^{\nu} {\binom{s}{j}} (-1)^{j} (j-\nu-1)^{\kappa+1}. \quad (3.2.9)$$

Proof. We apply the asymptotic estimates of $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i}g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)$ at t = 1 and t = 2 to (3.2.5a) of Lemma 3.2.2, as follows.

Since $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and supp $g^{(k)} = [1,2], g^{(k)}(1) = g^{(k)}(2) = 0$ for $1 \le k \le \kappa$. Then Taylor's formula gives the following expansion, see e.g. [63, Eq. 5.15, p. 110]. For positive integer k and $\ell = L + 1, \ldots, L + k$, letting $r_{\ell} := \ell - L$, there exists $0 < \theta_{\ell} < \frac{r_{\ell}}{L} \le \frac{k}{L}$ such that

$$g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = g\left(1 + \frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)$$

= $g(1) + g^{(1)}(1) \frac{r_{\ell}}{L} + \dots + \frac{g^{(\kappa)}(1)}{\kappa!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa} + \frac{g^{(1+\kappa)}(1+\theta_{\ell})}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa+1}$
= $g(1) + \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+\theta_{\ell})}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa+1}$. (3.2.10)

This gives that for $\ell \leq L + k$,

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) - g\left(\frac{\ell+1}{L}\right) =: H_{\ell,\kappa} L^{-(\kappa+1)}, \qquad (3.2.11a)$$

where

$$H_{\ell,\kappa} := \begin{cases} 0, & \ell \leq L-1, \\ -\frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+\theta_{L+1})}{(\kappa+1)!}, & \ell = L, \\ \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+\theta_{\ell}) (r_{\ell})^{\kappa+1} - g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+\theta_{\ell+1}) (r_{\ell+1})^{\kappa+1}}{(\kappa+1)!}, & \ell = L+1, \dots, L+k. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.11b)

For $q \ge 2$, $\ell + q - 1 \le L + k$,

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{q}g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{q-1}\left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)\right) = \sum_{i=0}^{q-1} \binom{q-1}{i} (-1)^{i} \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}g\left(\frac{\ell+i}{L}\right)$$
$$= \sum_{i=\nu}^{q-1} \binom{q-1}{i} (-1)^{i} H_{\ell+i,\kappa} L^{-(\kappa+1)}, \qquad (3.2.11c)$$

where we used $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} g\left(\frac{\ell+i}{L}\right) = 0$ for $\ell + i \leq L - 1$.

For $s \ge 1$, $0 \le \nu \le s - 1$, by (3.2.11), letting $\binom{s}{j} := 0$ for s < j,

$$\begin{aligned} \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) \left(L-\nu\right) &= \sum_{j=\nu}^{s-1} {\binom{s-1}{j}} (-1)^{j} H_{L-\nu+j} L^{-(\kappa+1)} \\ &= L^{-(\kappa+1)} \sum_{j=1}^{s-\nu-1} {\binom{s-1}{j+\nu}} (-1)^{j+\nu} \\ &\times \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)} (1+\theta_{L+j}) \left(r_{L+j}\right)^{\kappa+1} - g^{(\kappa+1)} (1+\theta_{L+j+1}) \left(r_{L+j+1}\right)^{\kappa+1}}{(\kappa+1)!} \\ &+ L^{-(\kappa+1)} {\binom{s-1}{\nu}} (-1)^{\nu} \frac{-g^{(\kappa+1)} (1+\theta_{L+1})}{(\kappa+1)!} \\ &= \frac{L^{-(\kappa+1)}}{(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{j=1}^{s-\nu} \left[{\binom{s-1}{j+\nu}} + {\binom{s-1}{j+\nu-1}} \right] (-1)^{j+\nu} g^{(\kappa+1)} (1+\theta_{L+j}) \left(r_{L+j}\right)^{\kappa+1} \\ &= \frac{L^{-(\kappa+1)}}{(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{j=\nu+1}^{s} {\binom{s}{j}} (-1)^{j} (j-\nu)^{\kappa+1} g^{(\kappa+1)} (1+\theta_{L+j-\nu}), \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.12)

where $0 < \theta_{L+j-\nu} < \frac{s-\nu}{L}$ and the second and last equations used the transform $j' = j + \nu$. This with the assumption (ii) about g gives

$$\vec{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (L-\nu) = L^{-(\kappa+1)} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}, \quad s \ge 1, \ 0 \le \nu \le s-1,$$
(3.2.13)

where $\lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} := \sum_{j=\nu+1}^{s} {s \choose j} (-1)^j (j-\nu)^{\kappa+1}$.

For $\ell \leq 2L - 1$, let $r'_{\ell} := \ell - 2L$. Similar to the derivation of (3.2.10), there exists some $\theta'_{\ell} \in \left(\frac{r'_{\ell}}{L}, 0\right)$ such that

$$g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2+\theta'_{\ell})}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r'_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa+1}.$$

Then

$$\vec{\Delta}_{\ell}g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = L^{-(\kappa+1)} \times \begin{cases} (-1)^{\kappa+1} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2+\theta'_{2L-1})}{(\kappa+1)!}, & \ell = 2L-1, \\ \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2+\theta'_{\ell})(r'_{\ell})^{\kappa+1} - g^{(\kappa+1)}(2+\theta'_{\ell+1})(r'_{\ell+1})^{\kappa+1}}{(\kappa+1)!}, & \ell < 2L-1. \end{cases}$$

Thus for
$$s \ge 1, \ 0 \le \nu \le s$$
, noting that $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (2L - 1 - \nu) = 0$ for $j \ge \nu + 1$,
 $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (2L - 1 - \nu) = \sum_{i=0}^{s-1} {\binom{s-1}{j}} (-1)^{j} \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (2L - 1 - \nu)$

$$= L^{-(\kappa+1)} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{\nu-1} {\binom{s-1}{j}} \times \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2 + \theta'_{2L-1-\nu+j})(r'_{2L-1-\nu+j})^{(\kappa+1)} - g^{(\kappa+1)}(2 + \theta'_{2L-\nu+j})(r'_{2L-\nu+j})^{(\kappa+1)}}{(\kappa+1)!} + {\binom{s-1}{\nu}} (-1)^{\nu} (-1)^{\kappa+1} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2 + \theta'_{2L-1})}{(\kappa+1)!} \right)$$

$$= \frac{L^{-(\kappa+1)}}{(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{j=0}^{\nu} \left[{\binom{s-1}{j}} + {\binom{s-1}{j-1}} \right] (-1)^{j} g^{(\kappa+1)} (2 + \theta'_{2L-1-\nu+j}) (r'_{2L-1-\nu+j})^{\kappa+1}$$

$$= \frac{L^{-(\kappa+1)}}{(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{i=0}^{\nu} {\binom{s}{j}} (-1)^{j} (j - \nu - 1)^{\kappa+1} g^{(\kappa+1)} (2 + \theta'_{2L-1-\nu+j}), \quad (3.2.14)$$

where $-\frac{\nu+1}{L} < \theta'_{2L-\nu-1+j} < 0$. We thus get the asymptotic estimate of $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{s} g(\frac{\ell}{L})$ for ℓ near 2L, cf. (3.2.13):

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) \left(2L - 1 - \nu\right) = L^{-(\kappa+1)} \left(1 + o(1)\right) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}, \quad s \ge 1, \ 0 \le \nu \le s,$$
(3.2.15)

where $\overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} := \sum_{j=0}^{\nu} {s \choose j} (-1)^j (j-\nu-1)^{\kappa+1}.$

For $L - k + 1 \leq \ell \leq L - 1$, by (3.2.13), the summand $R^{(k)}_{-(2k-1-i)}(\ell) \overrightarrow{\Delta}^i_{\ell} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)$ when i = k in (3.2.5a) has a lower order than other terms. We thus split the sum in (3.2.5a) into two parts: the summand with i = k and the sum of the remaining terms (with $1 \leq i \leq k - 1$) and apply (3.2.11)–(3.2.13) to Lemma 3.2.2 to get

$$A_{k}(L,\ell) = R_{-(k-1)}^{(k)}(\ell) \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} R_{-(2k-1-i)}^{(k)}(\ell) \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)$$
$$= L^{-(\kappa+k)} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^{k}(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{L-\ell,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}_{k,\kappa,g} \left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right)$$

Similarly, for $2L - k + 1 \le \ell \le 2L - 1$, applying (3.2.15) to Lemma 3.2.2 gives

$$A_{k}(L,\ell) = R_{-(k-1)}^{(k)}(\ell) \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{k} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) + \sum_{i=1}^{k-1} R_{-(2k-1-i)}^{(k)}(\ell) \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)$$
$$= L^{-(\kappa+k)} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{2k-1}(\kappa+1)!} \overrightarrow{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}_{k,\kappa,g} \left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right),$$

thus completing the proof.

If $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ is bounded on (1,2) then $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (L-\nu)$ and $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) (2L-1-\nu)$ are both bounded by order $L^{-(\kappa+1)}$. This implies the following upper bound of $A_k(L,\ell)$ for ℓ near L or 2L.

Corollary 3.2.5. Let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0,1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0,2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+1}(1,2)$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ is bounded on (1,2). Then given $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ for $\ell \in [L-k, L] \cup [2L-k, 2L-1]$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa+k)}\right),\,$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} term depends only on k, κ and g.

When the filter g is smoother on [1, 2], the little "o"'s in the expansions of Lemma 3.2.4 become big \mathcal{O} 's.

Lemma 3.2.6. Let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0,1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0,2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+1}([1,2])$; (iii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ is bounded on (1,2). Then given $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ for $L - k \le \ell \le L$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa+k)} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^k(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{L-\ell,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right),$$

and for $2L - k \leq \ell \leq 2L - 1$,

$$A_k(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa+k)} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{2k-1}(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,k}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa+k+1)}\right),$$

where $\lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}$, $\overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}$ are given by (3.2.9) and the constants in the big \mathcal{O} terms depend only on k, κ and g.

Proof. Since $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{(\kappa+1)}([1,2])$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ is bounded in (1,2), letting $r_{\ell} := \ell - L$,

$$g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) = g\left(1 + \frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)$$

= $g(1) + \dots + \frac{g^{(\kappa)}(1)}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa} + \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa+1} + \mathcal{O}_{g,\kappa,r_{\ell}} \left(L^{-(\kappa+2)}\right)$
= $g(1) + \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{(\kappa+1)!} \left(\frac{r_{\ell}}{L}\right)^{\kappa+1} + \mathcal{O}_{g,\kappa,r_{\ell}} \left(L^{-(\kappa+2)}\right).$

Chapter 3 Asymptotic and local properties of filtered Jacobi kernels

Let $s \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. Similar to the derivation of (3.2.13), the asymptotic expansion of $\overrightarrow{\Delta}^s_{\ell} g(\frac{\ell}{L})$ for ℓ near L is

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) \left(L-\nu\right) = L^{-(\kappa+1)} \left(\frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}_{g,\kappa,\nu}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right), \quad 0 \le \nu \le s-1,$$
(3.2.17a)

where $\lambda_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}$ is given by (3.2.9). And for ℓ near 2L, cf. (3.2.15),

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\cdot}^{s} g\left(\frac{\cdot}{L}\right) \left(2L - 1 - \nu\right) = L^{-(\kappa+1)} \left(\frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}_{g,\kappa,s}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right), \quad 0 \le \nu \le s,$$
(3.2.17b)

where $\overline{\lambda}_{\nu,s}^{\kappa}$ is given by (3.2.9). The rest of the proof is similar to that of Lemma 3.2.4.

Theorem 3.2.7. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+3}(1,2)$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+3)}|_{(1,2)}$ is bounded on (1,2). Then for $c L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi - c L^{-1}$ with some c > 0,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} (L^{-1})),$$

where

$$C_{\alpha,\beta,k}^{(1)}(\theta) = \frac{\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-k-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\alpha+1)}$$

$$u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) = g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \sum_{\substack{i=1\\\kappa+2}}^{\kappa+2} \lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos(i\theta)$$

$$u_{\kappa,2}(\theta) = g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa+2} \lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \sin(i\theta)$$

$$u_{\kappa,3}(\theta) = 2^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-) \sum_{\substack{i=0\\\kappa+2}}^{\kappa+2} \overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos(i\theta)$$

$$u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) = 2^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-) \sum_{\substack{i=0\\\kappa+2}}^{\kappa+2} \overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \sin(i\theta),$$
(3.2.18)

where $\lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa}$ and $\overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa}$ are given by (3.2.9), and $u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)$ can be written as an algebraic polynomial of $\cos \theta$ of precise degree $\kappa + 1$ and its initial coefficient is $(-1)^{\kappa}g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)$, and

$$\phi_L(\theta) := \left(\widetilde{L} + \frac{\kappa+2}{2}\right)\theta - \xi_1, \quad \overline{\phi}_L(\theta) := \left(\widetilde{2L} - 1 + \frac{\kappa+2}{2}\right)\theta - \xi_1,$$

where $\widetilde{L} := L + \frac{\alpha+\beta+2}{2}$ and $\widetilde{2L} := 2L + \frac{\alpha+\beta+2}{2}$ and $\xi_1 := \frac{\alpha+\kappa+3}{2}\pi + \frac{\pi}{4}.$

Proof. From [70, Eq. 4.5.3, p. 71],

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\ell} \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{\ell} \frac{2j + \alpha + \beta + 1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \frac{\Gamma(j + \alpha + \beta + 1)}{\Gamma(j + \beta + 1)\Gamma(\alpha + 1)} P_{j}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \frac{\Gamma(\ell + \alpha + \beta + 2)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(\ell + \beta + 1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(t). \qquad (3.2.19)$$

This and repeated use of summation by parts in (2.5.5) give

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t) = \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \frac{(2\ell+\alpha+\beta+1)\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_k(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+k+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+k,\beta)}(t),$$
(3.2.20)

where $A_k(L, \ell)$ is defined recursively by [36, (4.11)–(4.12), p. 372–373],

$$A_{k}(L,t) := \begin{cases} g\left(\frac{t}{L}\right) - g\left(\frac{t+1}{L}\right), & k = 1, \\ \frac{A_{k-1}(L,t)}{2t + \alpha + k + \beta} - \frac{A_{k-1}(L,t+1)}{2(t+1) + \alpha + k + \beta}, & k = 2, 3, \dots, \end{cases}$$

and since g(t) = 1 for $t \in [0, 1]$ and supp g = [0, 2], the support of $A_k(L, t)$ is [L - k + 1, 2L - 1]. By Lemma 3.2.1 and adopting its notation,

$$\begin{aligned} v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) &= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_k(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+k+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+k,\beta)}(\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_k(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+k+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} \\ &\times \hat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-(\alpha+k)-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha+k}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}(\ell^{-1})\right) \\ &= \frac{\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-k-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \\ &\times \left(\sum_{\ell=L-k+1}^{2L-1} a_k(L,\ell)\cos\omega_{\alpha+k}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\sum_{\ell=L-k+1}^{2L-1} |a_k(L,\ell)|\,\hat{\ell}^{-1}\right)\right) \\ &=: C_{\alpha,\beta,k}^{(1)}(\theta) \left(I_{k,1} + (\sin\theta)^{-1}I_{k,2}\right), \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.21)

where

$$\widehat{\ell} := \widehat{\ell}(\alpha + k, \beta) := \ell + \frac{\alpha + k + \beta + 1}{2}, \qquad (3.2.22a)$$

and

$$a_k(L,\ell) := A_k(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+k+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} \,\widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}},\tag{3.2.22b}$$

$$C_{\alpha,\beta,k}^{(1)}(\theta) := \frac{\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-k-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\alpha+1)}.$$
(3.2.22c)

To estimate $I_{k,1}$ in (3.2.21), we apply Lemmas 3.2.3 and 3.2.4 with $k = r = \kappa + 3$. The asymptotic expansion of $A_k(L, \ell)$ in Lemma 3.2.4 with (1.2.1) together gives the estimate of $a_{\kappa+3}(L, \ell)$ for ℓ near L and 2L, as follows. For $L - (\kappa + 3) \leq \ell \leq L$,

$$a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{L-\ell,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right).$$
(3.2.23a)

For $2L - (\kappa + 3) \le \ell \le 2L - 1$,

$$a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} (1+o(1)) \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{\kappa-\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right).$$
(3.2.23b)

For $L \le \ell \le 2L - 1 - (\kappa + 3)$, by (3.2.7) of Lemma 3.2.3 with (1.2.1),

$$a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) = \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{5}{2})}\right), \qquad (3.2.23c)$$

where the constants in the big \mathcal{O} 's in (3.2.23) depend only on α , β , g and κ .

With $k = \kappa + 3$, (3.2.21)–(3.2.23) together give

$$I_{\kappa+3,1} = \left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+2)}^{L-1} + \sum_{\ell=L}^{2L-1-(\kappa+3)} + \sum_{\ell=2L-1-(\kappa+2)}^{2L-1}\right) a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3}(\widehat{\ell}\theta)$$
$$= \left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+2)}^{L-1} + \sum_{\ell=2L-1-(\kappa+2)}^{2L-1}\right) a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right).$$
(3.2.24a)

Similarly, for $I_{\kappa+3,2}$ in (3.2.21), using Lemma 3.2.3 and (1.2.1) again,

$$I_{\kappa+3,2} = \mathcal{O}\left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+2)}^{2L-1} |a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) \ \widehat{\ell}^{-1}|\right) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right).$$
(3.2.24b)

Applying (3.2.24) and (3.2.23) to (3.2.21), where $k := \kappa + 3$, gives

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}(1+o(1)) C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta) \left(b_{\kappa} + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right),$$
(3.2.25)

where $C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)$ is given by (3.2.22c) and

$$b_{\kappa} := \left(\frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+2)}^{L-1} \lambda_{L-\ell,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} + \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{\kappa-\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{\ell=2L-1-(\kappa+2)}^{2L-1} \overline{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,\kappa+3}^{\kappa}\right) \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3}(\widehat{\ell}\theta)$$

$$= \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa+2} \lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3}\left((\widetilde{L}+\frac{\kappa+2}{2}-i)\theta\right)$$

$$+ \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{\kappa-\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}(\kappa+1)!} \sum_{i=0}^{\kappa+2} \overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3}\left((\widetilde{2L}-1+\frac{\kappa+2}{2}-i)\theta\right), \quad (3.2.26)$$

where the second equality uses the substitution $\ell = L - i$ and $(\widehat{L - i})(\alpha + \kappa + 3, \beta) = \widetilde{L} + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2} - i$ for the first sum where we used (3.2.22a) and uses the substitution $\ell = 2L - 1 - i$ and $(2\widehat{L - 1} - i)(\alpha + \kappa + 3, \beta) = 2\widetilde{L} - 1 + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2} - i$ for the second sum, where $\widetilde{L} := L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 2}{2}$ and $2\widetilde{L} := 2L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 2}{2}$.

Let $\xi_1 := \frac{\alpha + \kappa + 3}{2}\pi + \frac{\pi}{4}$ and let $\phi_L(\theta) := \omega_{\alpha + \kappa + 3}((\widetilde{L} + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2})\theta) = (\widetilde{L} + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2})\theta - \xi_1$ and $\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) := \omega_{\alpha + \kappa + 3}((\widetilde{2L} - 1 + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2})\theta) = (\widetilde{2L} - 1 + \frac{\kappa + 2}{2})\theta - \xi_1$, where we used (3.2.2c). Then

$$\cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3} \left((\widetilde{L} + \frac{\kappa+2}{2} - i)\theta \right) = \cos(i\theta) \cos \phi_L(\theta) + \sin(i\theta) \sin \phi_L(\theta)$$
$$\cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+3} \left((\widetilde{2L} - 1 + \frac{\kappa+2}{2} - i)\theta \right) = \cos(i\theta) \cos \overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + \sin(i\theta) \sin \overline{\phi}_L(\theta),$$

where we used (3.2.2c) again. Using this with (3.2.26), we may rewrite (3.2.25) as

$$\begin{aligned} v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \\ &= L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \Big(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) \\ &+ u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-1}\right) \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) := g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa+2} \lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos(i\theta)$$
$$u_{\kappa,2}(\theta) := g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa+2} \lambda_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \sin(i\theta)$$
$$u_{\kappa,3}(\theta) := 2^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-) \sum_{i=0}^{\kappa+2} \overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \cos(i\theta)$$
$$u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) := 2^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-) \sum_{i=0}^{\kappa+2} \overline{\lambda}_{i,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} \sin(i\theta).$$

By the property of Chebyshev polynomial, i.e. $\cos(\ell\theta) = \mathcal{T}_{\ell}(\cos\theta), u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) = \widetilde{u}_{\kappa,1}(\cos\theta)$ is an algebraic polynomial of $\cos\theta$ of degree $\kappa + 1$. The degree $\kappa + 1$ of $u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)$ is precise as the initial coefficient of $\widetilde{u}_{\kappa,1}(\cdot)$ is

$$g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)\lambda_{1,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} = -g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)\lambda_{\kappa+2,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} = (-1)^{\kappa+4}g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+),$$

where we used (3.2.9) and the relationship $\lambda_{\nu,s}^k + \lambda_{s-\nu,s}^k = \sum_{j=0}^s {s \choose j} (-1)^j (j-\nu)^k = 0$ for integers s, ν, k satisfying $0 \le \nu \le s-1$, $0 \le k+1 \le s-1$ and s+k is odd, thus completing the proof of the theorem.

We need the following lemma from [70, Eq. 4.1.3, p. 59].

Lemma 3.2.8. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$. For $\ell \ge 0$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = (-1)^{\ell} P_{\ell}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(-t), \quad -1 \le t \le 1.$$

The symmetric formula for Jacobi polynomials in Lemma 3.2.8 implies the following symmetric formulas for filtered kernels and filtered operators.

Lemma 3.2.9. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$. For $-1 \leq t, s \leq 1$ and $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = v_L^{(\beta,\alpha)}(-t,-s).$$
 (3.2.27a)

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = v_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(-t,-s).$$
 (3.2.27b)

$$V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) = V_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(f(-\cdot);-t).$$
 (3.2.27c)

Proof. The formulas (3.2.27a) and (3.2.27b) for the Fourier and filtered kernels come from their definitions (2.5.5) and (2.5.7) with Lemma 3.2.8 and $M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} = M_{\ell}^{(\beta,\alpha)}$.

For (3.2.27c), the definition (2.5.6) and (3.2.27b) give

$$\begin{aligned} V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) &= \int_{-1}^{1} f(s) v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-1}^{1} f(s) v_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(-t,-s) w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-1}^{1} f(-s) v_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(-t,s) w_{\beta,\alpha}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s = V_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(f(-\cdot);-t), \end{aligned}$$

where the third equality used integration by substitution and $w_{\alpha,\beta}(-s) = w_{\beta,\alpha}(s)$.

Lemma 3.2.9 with Theorem 3.2.7 gives the following asymptotic expansion of $v_{L,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1,\cos\theta)$.

Corollary 3.2.10. With the assumptions and notation of Theorem 3.2.7, for $cL^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi - c L^{-1}$ with some c > 0,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\beta-\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\beta,\alpha,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)),$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} depends only on α , β , g and κ .

We note that the little "o" in Theorem 3.2.7 can be replaced by $\mathcal{O}(L^{-1})$ if, further, $g^{(\kappa+3)}(t)$ is right and left continuous at t = 1 and t = 2 respectively. We state this case in the following theorem.

Theorem 3.2.11. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$. Then for $c L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi - c L^{-1}$ with some c > 0,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}(L^{-1})),$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} term depends only on α, β, g and κ .

Remark. The condition (ii) can be replaced by a weaker one: (ii)' $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+1}([1,2])$ and $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+3}(1,2)$, and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+3)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1,2).

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 3.2.7. The difference lies in that we use Lemma 3.2.6 instead of Lemma 3.2.4 to get, cf. (3.2.23): For $L - (\kappa + 3) \leq \ell \leq L$,

$$a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \lambda_{L-\ell,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right)$$

and for $2L - (\kappa + 3) \le \ell \le 2L - 1$,

$$a_{\kappa+3}(L,\ell) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{g^{(\kappa+1)}(2-)}{2^{\kappa-\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}(\kappa+1)!} \overline{\lambda}_{2L-\ell-1,\kappa+3}^{\kappa} + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})}\right),$$

where the constants in the big \mathcal{O} terms depend only on α, β, k, g and κ .

3.3 Localised upper bounds

This section estimates a sharp upper bound of filtered Jacobi kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$. This then implies a localised upper bound of the kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta)$.

3.3.1 Sharp upper bounds – special case

The following theorem shows a localised upper bound of the filtered kernel $v_{L,q}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$.

Theorem 3.3.1. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1,2). Let c be the constant in Lemma 3.2.1. Then, for $c L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi - c L^{-1}$,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \le c \,\theta^{-\alpha-(\kappa+2)-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \left(1+(\sin\theta)^{-1}L^{-1}\right). \quad (3.3.1)$$

And the following localised inequality holds for $0 \le \theta \le \pi$,

$$\left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| \le \frac{c^{(2)} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1} + \sin\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1} + \cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
 (3.3.2)

Here the constants c in (3.3.1) and $c^{(2)}$ in (3.3.2) depend only on α, β, g and κ .

Remark. The upper bound of the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ proved by Petrushev and Xu [57, Eq. 2.2, p. 560] may be written as

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}\left(L^{2\alpha+2}\right), & 0 \le \theta \le L^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha-\beta-2)}\right), & 0 < \epsilon \le \theta \le \pi, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.3)

where $\alpha \geq \beta > -1/2$. Theorem 3.3.1 shows that for $\alpha > -1$, $\beta > -1/2$,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}\left(L^{2\alpha+2}\right), & 0 \le \theta \le L^{-1}, \\ \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha-\frac{1}{2})}\right), & 0 < \epsilon \le \theta \le \pi - \epsilon, \\ \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha-\beta)}\right), & \pi - \epsilon \le \theta \le \pi, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.4)

where the constants in the big \mathcal{O} terms in (3.3.3) and (3.3.4) depend only on ϵ , α , β , g and κ .

This shows that the order of our upper bound for $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ with $\theta > 0$ is strictly lower than (3.3.3). The asymptotic expansion in Theorem 3.2.7 implies that the order of L in (3.3.2) is optimal. Proof of Theorem 3.3.1. We adopt the notation of (3.2.18). Using (3.2.21) with $k := \kappa + 2$ gives

$$\begin{aligned} v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-(\kappa+2)-\frac{1}{2}}\left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\pi^{\frac{1}{2}}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \times \\ &\left[\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell)\cos\omega_{\alpha+\kappa+2}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} |a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell)|\,\widehat{\ell}^{-1}\right)\right] \\ &=: C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+2}^{(1)}(\theta)\left(I_{\kappa+2,1} + (\sin\theta)^{-1}I_{\kappa+2,2}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where $C_{\alpha,\beta,k}^{(1)}(\theta)$ and $a_k(L,\ell)$ are given by (3.2.22). Applying Lemma 3.2.3 and Corollary 3.2.5 to $a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell)$ with (1.2.1) gives

$$a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \right), & L-(\kappa+1) \leq \ell \leq L-1, \\ 2L-1-(\kappa+1) \leq \ell \leq 2L-1; \\ \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})} \right), & L \leq \ell \leq 2L-1-(\kappa+2). \end{cases}$$

This gives

$$I_{\kappa+2,1} = \sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) \cos \omega_{\alpha+\kappa+2}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}\left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}\right)$$

and

$$I_{\kappa+2,2} = \sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} |a_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) \,\widehat{\ell}^{-1}| = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{3}{2})} \right).$$

Then (3.3.1) follows by

$$C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+2}^{(1)}(\theta) \le \frac{\pi^{\alpha+\kappa+2}}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \,\theta^{-\alpha-(\kappa+2)-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}}$$

For (3.3.2), when $cL^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi - cL^{-1}$ (3.3.2) follows from (3.3.1). We now need to prove the upper bound of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ for $0 \leq \theta \leq cL^{-1}$ and $\pi - cL^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi$. For the first case $0 \leq \theta \leq cL^{-1}$, from (3.2.20) with $k = \kappa + 2$,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t) = \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\kappa+2+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+\kappa+2,\beta)}(t).$$
(3.3.5)

Lemma 3.2.3 and Corollary 3.2.5 (with $k = \kappa + 2$) give

$$A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) = \begin{cases} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-(2\kappa+2)} \right), & L - (\kappa+1) \le \ell \le L - 1, \\ 2L - 1 - (\kappa+1) \le \ell \le 2L - 1; \\ \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-(2\kappa+3)} \right), & L \le \ell \le 2L - 1 - (\kappa+2). \end{cases}$$
(3.3.6)

Also, by [70, Eq. 7.32.5, p. 169], for $r, \beta > -1$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(r,\beta)}(\cos\theta) = \mathcal{O}_{r,\beta}\left(\ell^{r}\right), \quad 0 \le \theta \le c L^{-1}.$$

We then have for $0 \le \theta \le c L^{-1}$,

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} |A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell)| \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\kappa+2+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} |P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+\kappa+2,\beta)}(\cos\theta)| \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left[\left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{L-1} + \sum_{\ell=2L-1-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} \right) L^{-(2\kappa+2)} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} + \sum_{\ell=L}^{2L-1-(\kappa+2)} L^{-(2\kappa+3)} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} \right] \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} L^{2\alpha+2}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.3.7)$$

For $\pi - c L^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi$, applying Lemma 3.2.8 to $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+\kappa+2,\beta)}(t)$ in (3.3.5) gives $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ $= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\kappa+2+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+\kappa+2,\beta)}(\cos\theta)$ $= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\kappa+2+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_{\ell}^{(\beta,\alpha+\kappa+2)}(\cos(\pi-\theta)).$ (3.3.8)

Then (3.3.6) and (3.3.8) with (1.2.1) give for $0 \le \pi - \theta \le c L^{-1}$,

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| \\ &\leq \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} |A_{\kappa+2}(L,\ell)| \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\kappa+2+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} |P_{\ell}^{(\beta,\alpha+\kappa+2)}(\cos(\pi-\theta))| \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \left[\left(\sum_{\ell=L-(\kappa+1)}^{L-1} + \sum_{\ell=2L-1-(\kappa+1)}^{2L-1} \right) L^{-(2\kappa+2)} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} \ell^{\beta} + \sum_{\ell=L}^{2L-1-(\kappa+2)} L^{-(2\kappa+3)} \ell^{\alpha+\kappa+2} \ell^{\beta} \right] \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} L^{\alpha+\beta-\kappa}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.9)

Using

$$L^{-1} + \sin \frac{\theta}{2} \asymp_{\alpha,\beta} \begin{cases} L^{-1}, & 0 \le \theta \le c L^{-1}, \\ \sin \frac{\theta}{2}, & c L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi, \end{cases}$$

3.3 Localised upper bounds

and (3.3.1), (3.3.7) and (3.3.9), we have for given $0 < \epsilon < \pi$,

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| \le \frac{c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}}}, \quad 0 \le \theta \le \pi-\epsilon,$$

and

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| \le \frac{c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}, \quad \epsilon \le \theta \le \pi,$$

where the constants of the error terms depend only on $\epsilon, \alpha, \beta, g$ and κ . Let $\epsilon := \pi/2$, then

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| \le \frac{c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}, \quad 0 \le \theta \le \pi,$$

thus completing the proof.

Theorem 3.3.1 implies the following upper bound for $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta)$ with $\alpha > -1/2$.

Corollary 3.3.2. Let $\alpha > -1/2$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1, 2). Then for $\theta \in [0, \pi]$,

$$\left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| \le \frac{c \, L^{2\alpha+2}}{(1+L\theta)^{\kappa+2}},$$
(3.3.10)

where the constant depends only on α , g and κ .

Proof. By Theorem 3.3.1,

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta)| \leq \frac{c_{\alpha,g} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\kappa+\alpha+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} \leq \frac{c_{\alpha,g} L^{2\alpha+2}}{\left(1+L\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\kappa+2} \left(1+L\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}}.$$
 (3.3.11)

Using $\sin \frac{\theta}{2} + \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \ge \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ for $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ gives

$$\left(1 + L\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} + \cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}$$
$$= \left[L^{-1} + \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2} + \cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right) + L\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right]^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}} \ge \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\right)^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}}.$$

This with (3.3.11) together gives (3.3.10).

40

3.3.2 Sharp upper bounds – general case

Theorem 3.3.1 with Koornwinder's formula [39] gives the following upper bound for the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)$.

Theorem 3.3.3. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1, 2). Then for $0 \le \theta, \phi \le \pi$,

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)| \le \frac{c \, L^{-(\kappa-\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|\right)^{\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\min\{\alpha,\beta\}+\frac{1}{2}}},$$
(3.3.12)

where the constant c depending on α, β, g and κ .

Remark. Let $c^{(2)}$ be the constant in (3.3.2). We may take the constant in (3.3.12) as $c := c^{(3)}_{\max\{\alpha,\beta\},\min\{\alpha,\beta\}}$, where

$$c_{u,v}^{(3)} := \frac{2 c^{(2)} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(u+1)}{\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}v + \frac{3}{4}) \Gamma(u - \frac{1}{2}v + \frac{3}{4})}, \quad u \ge v > -1/2.$$

The inequality (3.3.12) implies that for $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$,

$$|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)| \le c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} L^{2\max\{\alpha,\beta\}+2}, \quad 0 \le \theta, \phi \le \pi.$$
(3.3.13)

Proof of Theorem 3.3.3. (i) We first consider the case when $\alpha > \beta > -1/2$. From [39, Eq. 3.1, Eq. 3.2, Eq. 3.7, p. 129–130]

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) = c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(Z(t,s;r,\psi)) \,\mathrm{d}m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi), \quad (3.3.14)$$

where

$$Z(t,s;r,\psi) := \frac{1}{2}(1+t)(1+s) + \frac{1}{2}(1-t)(1-s)r^2 + r\sqrt{1-t^2}\sqrt{1-s^2}\cos\psi - 1,$$
(3.3.15a)

$$dm^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi) := (1-r^2)^{\alpha-\beta-1} r^{2\beta+1} (\sin\psi)^{2\beta} dr d\psi, \qquad (3.3.15b)$$

and

$$c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} := \frac{2\,\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\alpha-\beta)\Gamma(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} \tag{3.3.16}$$

3.3 Localised upper bounds

is the constant normalising the measure $m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi)$, i.e.

$$c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_0^{\pi} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi) = 1.$$

By the definition of (2.5.7), we thus have

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_0^\pi \int_0^1 v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1, Z(t,s;r,\psi)) \,\mathrm{d}m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi).$$
(3.3.17)

Let $\cos u := Z(\cos \theta, \cos \phi; r, \psi)$ for $0 \le \theta, \phi \le \pi$ and $0 \le r \le 1, 0 \le \psi \le \pi$. By (3.3.15a),

$$1 - \cos u = 1 - \left[\frac{1}{2}(1 + \cos\theta)(1 + \cos\phi) + \frac{1}{2}(1 - \cos\theta)(1 - \cos\phi)r^2 + r\sqrt{1 - \cos^2\theta}\sqrt{1 - \cos^2\phi}\cos\psi - 1\right]$$
$$= 2\left(\sin\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^2 + 2\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^2\left(\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^2\left(1 - r^2\right) + \sin\theta\sin\phi\left(1 - r\cos\psi\right)$$
$$\ge 2\left(\sin\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^2,$$

therefore

$$u \ge |\theta - \phi|. \tag{3.3.18}$$

On the other hand,

$$\left(\cos\frac{u}{2}\right)^2 = \frac{1+\cos u}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\frac{1}{2} (1+\cos\theta)(1+\cos\phi) + \frac{1}{2} (1-\cos\theta)(1-\cos\phi)r^2 + r\sqrt{1-\cos^2\theta}\sqrt{1-\cos^2\phi}\cos\psi \right]$$

= $\left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^2 + r^2 \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^2 + 2(r\cos\psi)\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\left(\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right).$

Using this and

$$\left|2(r\cos\psi)\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\left(\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)\right| \le \left(r\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\sqrt{|\cos\psi|}\right)^2 + \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\sqrt{|\cos\psi|}\right)^2,$$

gives

$$\left(\cos\frac{u}{2}\right)^{2} \ge (1 - |\cos\psi|) \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^{2} + r^{2}(1 - |\cos\psi|) \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^{2}$$
$$\ge \frac{1}{2}r^{2}\left(1 - |\cos\psi|\right) \left(\cos\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^{2} \ge \frac{1}{4}\left(r\sin\psi\cos\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^{2}.$$
(3.3.19)

Chapter 3 Asymptotic and local properties of filtered Jacobi kernels

By (3.3.18), (3.3.19) and (3.3.2) of Theorem 3.3.1 with (3.3.15b) and (3.3.16),

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)| \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{1} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos u)| \, \mathrm{d}m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi) \\ &\leq c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{c^{(2)}L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+\sin\frac{u}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{u}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}} \, \mathrm{d}m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(r,\psi) \\ &\leq \frac{2^{(\beta+\frac{1}{2})}c^{(2)}c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \, L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|\right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-r^{2})^{\alpha-\beta-1} r^{2\beta+1}(\sin\psi)^{2\beta} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}\psi}{(r\sin\psi)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}} \\ &= \frac{c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)} \, L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{\left(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|\right)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.20)

where the constant $c^{(3)}_{\alpha,\beta}$ is

$$\begin{split} c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)} &= 2^{(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} c^{(2)} c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_{0}^{\pi} \int_{0}^{1} \frac{(1-r^{2})^{\alpha-\beta-1} r^{2\beta+1} (\sin\psi)^{2\beta} \, \mathrm{d}r \, \mathrm{d}\psi}{(r\sin\psi)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}} \\ &= 2^{(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} c^{(2)} c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)} \int_{0}^{1} \left(1-r^{2}\right)^{\alpha-\beta-1} r^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}r \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin\psi)^{\beta-\frac{1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\psi \\ &= 2^{(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} c^{(2)} \frac{2 \, \Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\sqrt{\pi} \, \Gamma(\alpha-\beta) \Gamma(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} \times \frac{1}{2} \, \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\alpha-\beta\right)}{\Gamma\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right)} \frac{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right)} \\ &= \frac{2 \, c^{(2)} \sqrt{\pi} \, \Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right) \Gamma\left(\alpha-\frac{1}{2}\beta+\frac{3}{4}\right)}, \end{split}$$

where $c_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)}$ is given by (3.3.16) and B(\cdot, \cdot) is the Beta function.

(ii) For $-1/2 < \alpha < \beta$, applying (3.2.27b) of Lemma 3.2.9 to (3.3.20) of case (i) gives

$$\begin{aligned} \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi) \right| &= \left| v_{L,g}^{(\beta,\alpha)}(\cos(\pi-\theta),\cos(\pi-\phi)) \right| \\ &\leq \frac{c_{\beta,\alpha}^{(3)} L^{-(\kappa-\beta+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|)^{\beta+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}}. \end{aligned}$$

(iii) For
$$-1/2 < \alpha = \beta$$
. By [54, Eq.18.7.1, Eq.18.17.5],

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\phi)$$

= $c_{\alpha}^{(7)}\int_{0}^{\pi}\int_{0}^{1}P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta\cos\phi+\sin\theta\sin\phi\cos\psi)(\sin\psi)^{2\alpha}\,\mathrm{d}\psi,$

where $c_{\alpha}^{(7)} := \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$. This with (2.5.7) gives

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi) = c_{\alpha}^{(7)} \int_0^{\pi} \int_0^1 v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta\cos\phi + \sin\theta\sin\phi\cos\psi)(\sin\psi)^{2\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}\psi.$$

Let $\cos u := \cos \theta \cos \phi + \sin \theta \sin \phi \cos \psi$. Similar to (3.3.18) and (3.3.19) we can prove $u \ge |\theta - \phi|$, and

$$\left(\cos\frac{u}{2}\right)^2 = \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^2 + \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)^2 + 2\cos\psi\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)\left(\cos\frac{\phi}{2}\sin\frac{\phi}{2}\right)$$
$$\geq \frac{1}{2}\left(1 - |\cos\psi|\right)\left(\cos\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^2 \geq \frac{1}{4}\left(\sin\psi\cos\frac{\theta - \phi}{2}\right)^2.$$

Then, using (3.3.2) again,

$$\begin{aligned} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(\cos\theta,\cos\phi)| &\leq c_{\alpha}^{(7)} \int_{0}^{\pi} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta\cos\phi+\sin\theta\sin\phi\cos\psi)| (\sin\psi)^{2\alpha} d\psi \\ &\leq \frac{c_{\alpha}^{(7)} c^{(2)} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\pi} \frac{(\sin\psi)^{2\alpha}}{\left(L^{-1}+\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}\sin\psi\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} d\psi \\ &\leq \frac{2^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} c_{\alpha}^{(7)} c^{(2)} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} \int_{0}^{\pi} (\sin\psi)^{\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} d\psi \\ &\leq \frac{c_{\alpha}^{(5)} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}}{(L^{-1}+|\theta-\phi|)^{\alpha+\kappa+\frac{5}{2}} \left(L^{-1}+\cos\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\right)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}} \end{aligned}$$

where

$$c_{\alpha}^{(5)} := \frac{2 c^{(2)} \sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\alpha + 1)}{\left(\Gamma\left(\frac{1}{2}\alpha + \frac{3}{4}\right)\right)^2} = c_{\alpha,\alpha}^{(3)},$$

thus completing the proof.

3.4 Norms of filtered kernels and operators

This section estimates the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norms of the filtered kernel and the filtered operator using the localised upper bounds obtained in Sections 3.2 and 3.3.

We will prove the following estimates for the filtered kernel in Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2 below. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \ne 0$. Then

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \asymp \begin{cases} 1, & -1 \le a < b = 1, \ \kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}, \\ L^{-(\kappa - \alpha + \frac{1}{2})}, & -1 \le a < b < 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.4.1)

Substituting the condition (ii) by (ii'): $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+2}([1,2])$, we will still have for $-1 \leq a < b = 1$ and $\kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$, $\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \approx 1$.

Under the condition of (ii') in place of (ii), the asymptotical equivalence of (3.4.1) for b < 1 however is not proved. The conditions (i) and (iii) guarantee that the filter g has up to κ th derivative on \mathbb{R}_+ while the condition (ii) ensures that the (κ + 3)th difference of $g(\ell/L)$ with respect to ℓ is bounded by $c/L^{\kappa+3}$.

The estimate (3.4.1) for b = 1 implies the boundedness of the corresponding filtered operator:

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right\|_{L_p \to L_p} \le c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa},$$

which is stated and proved in Theorem 3.4.3.

3.4.1 Weighted \mathbb{L}_1 -norms of filtered kernels

Theorem 3.4.1. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$; (iii) $g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \ne 0$. Then for $-1 \le a < b < 1$,

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \asymp L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})},\tag{3.4.2}$$

where the constants depend only on a, b, α, β , g and κ .

Proof. Let $\phi_1 := \arccos(b)$ and $\phi_2 := \arccos(a)$. We use Theorem 3.3.1 to estimate the upper bound of (3.4.2). Let c be the constant given in Lemma 3.2.1. Then there exists a positive integer L_1 such that $0 < c L^{-1} < \phi_1 < \theta < \pi - c L^{-1}$ for all $L \ge L_1$. By (3.3.1) of Theorem 3.3.1, adopting its notation,

$$\int_{\phi_{1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(1,\cos\theta) \sin\theta \,d\theta
\leq c \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \theta^{-\alpha-(\kappa+2)-\frac{1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} (1+(\sin\theta)^{-1}L^{-1})
\times 2^{\alpha+\beta+1} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{2\alpha+1} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{2\beta+1} \,d\theta
\leq c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \left[\int_{\phi_{1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \theta^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{3}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} \,d\theta
+ L^{-1} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \theta^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{5}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\beta-\frac{1}{2}} \,d\theta \right]
\leq c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}, \qquad (3.4.3)$$

where the constant c depends only on α, β, g, κ and b, and when $-1 < \beta < -1/2$ the third inequality uses

$$\int_{\phi_1}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\beta-\frac{1}{2}} d\theta \leq \int_{cL^{-1}}^{\pi-\phi_1} \left(\frac{\theta}{\pi}\right)^{\beta-\frac{1}{2}} d\theta \leq c \ L^{-(\beta+\frac{1}{2})} \leq c \ L^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$

For $\pi - c \ L^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi$, by (3.3.2),
$$\int_{\pi-cL^{-1}}^{\pi} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta) \sin\theta \ d\theta \leq c \ L^{\alpha-\kappa+\beta} \int_{0}^{cL^{-1}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2\beta+1} d\theta$$
$$\leq c \ L^{\alpha-\kappa-(\beta+2)} \leq c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa} \ L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}.$$
(3.4.4)

This and (3.4.3) proves the upper bound in (3.4.2).

We use Theorem 3.2.7 to prove the lower bound. Let $\phi_0 := (\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2$, then there exists a positive integer L_2 such that for $L \ge L_2$, $cL^{-1} < \phi_1 < \phi_0 < \pi - cL^{-1}$, where c is the same constant of Lemma 3.2.1. By Theorem 3.2.7 for $cL^{-1} < \phi_1 \le \theta \le \phi_0 < \pi - cL^{-1}$,

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \left(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right) \right).$$

Then,

$$\begin{split} \left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} &\geq \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{0}} \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta\,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{0}} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \frac{C_{\alpha,\beta,\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \left| u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_{L}(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_{L}(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) \right. \\ &\quad + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right) \left| 2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2\alpha+1}\left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2\beta+1}\,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{L^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\kappa+3}\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\alpha+1)(\kappa+1)!} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{0}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{5}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} \left| u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_{L}(\theta) \right. \\ &\quad + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_{L}(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + o(1) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right) \right| \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &=: \frac{L^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{1}{2}}}{2^{\kappa+3}\sqrt{\pi}\,\Gamma(\alpha+1)(\kappa+1)!} \left(I + o(1) + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right), \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.5)

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} depends only on a, b, α, β, g and κ , and $u_{\kappa,i}(\theta)$ are given by (3.2.18).

In the following, we prove I is not less than a positive constant independent of L. There exists some positive constant c_1 depending only on a, b, α, β, g and κ such

that

$$I \ge c_1 \int_{\phi_1}^{\phi_0} \left| u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) \cos \phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta) \sin \phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta) \cos \overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) \sin \overline{\phi}_L(\theta) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$
(3.4.6)

Since $u_{\kappa,i}(\theta)$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4 are bounded, there exists a constant c_2 depending only on g and κ such that for $\phi_1 \leq \theta \leq \phi_2$,

$$\left|u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)\cos\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)\sin\phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_L(\theta)\right| \le c_2,$$

This with (3.4.6) gives

$$I \ge \frac{c_1}{c_2} \int_{\phi_1}^{\phi_0} \left| u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) \cos \phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta) \sin \phi_L(\theta) + u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) \sin \overline{\phi}_L(\theta) \right|^2 d\theta$$
$$=: \frac{c_1}{c_2} (I_1 + I_2), \qquad (3.4.7)$$

where

$$I_{1} := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{4} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{0}} \left(u_{\kappa,i}(\theta) \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}\theta \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{0}} \left(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta) \right)^{2} \mathrm{d}\theta > 0, \qquad (3.4.8)$$

where the last inequality in (3.4.8) is due to that $u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)$ is an algebraic polynomial of $\cos \theta$ with non-zero initial coefficient $(-1)^{\kappa}g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+)$, and

$$\begin{split} I_2 &:= \int_{\phi_1}^{\phi_0} \left[\frac{(u_{\kappa,1}(\theta))^2 - (u_{\kappa,2}(\theta))^2}{2} \cos\left(2\phi_L(\theta)\right) + \frac{(u_{\kappa,3}(\theta))^2 - (u_{\kappa,4}(\theta))^2}{2} \cos\left(2\overline{\phi}_L(\theta)\right) \right. \\ &+ u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)u_{\kappa,2}(\theta) \sin\left(2\phi_L(\theta)\right) + u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) \sin\left(2\overline{\phi}_L(\theta)\right) \\ &+ (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)u_{\kappa,3}(\theta) + u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)u_{\kappa,4}(\theta)) \cos\left(\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) - \phi_L(\theta)\right) \\ &+ (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)u_{\kappa,3}(\theta) - u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)) \sin\left(\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) + \phi_L(\theta)\right) \\ &+ (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) - u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)) \sin\left(\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) - \phi_L(\theta)\right) \\ &+ (u_{\kappa,1}(\theta)u_{\kappa,4}(\theta) - u_{\kappa,2}(\theta)u_{\kappa,3}(\theta)) \sin\left(\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) - \phi_L(\theta)\right) \\ \end{split}$$

By Riemann-Lesbegue lemma and taking accounting of $\overline{\phi}_L(\theta) \pm \phi_L(\theta) \approx L\theta$ and $2\overline{\phi}_L(\theta), 2\phi_L(\theta) \approx L\theta$, we have $I_2 \to 0$ as $L \to +\infty$. This with (3.4.8), (3.4.7) and (3.4.5) together gives

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,b]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \ge c \, L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})},$$

where the constant c depends only on a, b, α, β, g and κ , thus completing the proof.

47

Remark. From the proof, we see that $g^{(\kappa+1)}(1+) \neq 0$ is an indispensable condition for the lower bound in Theorem 3.4.1. We also require $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$ in the theorem to achieve the lower bound. This condition may be weakened to $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+2}([1,2])$ as we will see in Theorem 3.4.2 below.

Theorem 3.4.2. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0, 1]$ with $c \ge 0$, supp $g \subset [0, 2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+2}([1,2])$; (iii) $\kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$. Then for $-1 \le a < 1$, $\|v_{L,a}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1, \cdot)\chi_{[a,1]}(\cdot)\|_{\mathbb{T}_+(m-\alpha)} \approx 1$, (3.4.9)

$$\|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,1]}(\cdot)\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \asymp 1,$$
 (3.4.9)

where the constants in the equalities depend only on a, α, β, g and κ .

Remark. The condition (ii) can be substituted by an alternative one: (ii') $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$ and $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1,2).

Proof. We only prove the upper bound for a = -1. We split the integral into three parts, as follows.

$$\begin{split} \|v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \\ &= \left(\int_{0}^{cL^{-1}} + \int_{cL^{-1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} + \int_{\pi-cL^{-1}}^{\pi}\right) |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &=: I_{1} + I_{2} + I_{3} \end{split}$$

For the first term I_1 , (3.3.2) in Theorem 3.3.1 gives

$$I_1 = \int_0^{cL^{-1}} \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta) \sin\theta d\theta \le cL^{2\alpha+2} \int_0^{cL^{-1}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{2\alpha+1} d\theta \le c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa}.$$

We use (3.3.1) in Theorem 3.3.1 to prove the upper bound of I_2 .

$$I_{2} = \int_{cL^{-1}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} |v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$\leq c \left(\int_{cL^{-1}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} + \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}}\right) \theta^{-\alpha-(\kappa+2)-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \times (1+(\sin\theta)^{-1}L^{-1}) w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta,$$

where the first integral is bounded by

$$c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \left(\int_{cL^{-1}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \theta^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{3}{2}} d\theta + L^{-1} \int_{cL^{-1}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \theta^{\alpha-\kappa-\frac{5}{2}} d\theta \right) \le c_{\alpha,\beta,g,\kappa},$$

and the second integral is bounded by

$$c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})} \left(\int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}} d\theta + L^{-1} \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\beta-\frac{1}{2}} d\theta \right)$$

$$\leq c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}. \tag{3.4.10}$$

Then $I_2 \leq c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$, where the constant c depends only on α, β, g and κ .

By (3.4.4), $I_3 \leq c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$. This with estimates of I_1 and I_2 and $\kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$ gives the upper bound in (3.4.9).

The lower bound of (3.4.9) when a = -1 follows from the orthogonality of Jacobi polynomials: By the definition of (2.5.7) and (2.5.2),

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \ge \left| \int_{-1}^{1} v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t) w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \right| = 1.$$
(3.4.11)

This implies the lower bound of (3.4.9) when -1 < a < 1, as follows. Let $\phi_2 := \arccos(a)$.

$$\begin{split} \left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,1]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} &= \int_{0}^{\phi_{2}} \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \left| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta \right. \\ &= \left(\int_{0}^{\pi} - \left(\int_{\phi_{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} + \int_{\pi-cL^{-1}}^{\pi} \right) \right) \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(\cos\theta)\sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &=: I_{3} + I_{4} + I_{5}. \end{split}$$

By (3.4.11), $I_3 \ge 1$. Similar to the derivation of the upper bound of the second integral of I_2 , see (3.4.10), $I_4 \le c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})}$, and by (3.3.2), $I_5 \le c L^{-(\kappa-\alpha+\frac{1}{2})-(\beta+\frac{3}{2})}$, where the constants c depend only on a, b, α, β, g and κ . Both of I_4 and I_5 tend to zero as $L \to +\infty$. Thus,

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[a,1]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \ge 1/2, \quad L \to +\infty.$$

3.4.2 \mathbb{L}_p -norms of filtered operators

In this section, we give a sufficient condition that guarantees the boundedness of the filtered operator $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ in (2.5.6), using the estimates of Theorem 3.4.2 in Section 3.4.1.

Let $\alpha, \beta > -1$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$. We denote by $\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta}) = \mathbb{L}_p([-1,1], w_{\alpha,\beta})$ the \mathbb{L}_p space with respect to positive measure $w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, dt$. It forms a Banach space with the \mathbb{L}_p -norm $\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})} := \left(\int_{-1}^1 |f(t)|^p w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, dt\right)^{1/p}$.

The following theorem shows that $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is a strong (p,p)-type operator when the filter g is sufficiently smooth.

Theorem 3.4.3. Let $\alpha \geq \beta > -1/2$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties: g(t) = c for $t \in [0,1]$ with $c \geq 0$, supp $g \subset [0,2]$ and for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+2}([1,2])$; (iii) $\kappa > \alpha - \frac{1}{2}$. Then for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$,

$$\left\|V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \le c \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})},\tag{3.4.12}$$

where the constant c depends only on α, β , filter g and κ .

Remark. The condition (ii) can be substituted by an alternative one: (ii') $g|_{(1,2)} \in C^{\kappa+2}(1,2)$ and $g^{(\kappa+1)}|_{(1,2)}$ and $g^{(\kappa+2)}|_{(1,2)}$ are bounded on (1,2).

To prove the boundedness of $V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}$, we need the representation for its filtered kernel using the *translation operator*. Gasper [29, 28] shows that for $\alpha \geq \beta > -1$ and $\alpha + \beta \geq -1$, there exists a unique Borel measure $\mu_{t,s}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(z)$ on [-1,1] such that for $\ell \geq 0$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) = \int_{-1}^{1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1)P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{t,s}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(z).$$
(3.4.13)

Let $1 \leq p \leq \infty$. Gasper [28] defined the translation operator by

$$T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) := \int_{-1}^1 f(z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{t,s}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(z), \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta}).$$

It satisfies the following properties, see [28, 21]:

• Commutativity.

$$\left(T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f),g\right)_{\alpha,\beta} = \left(f,T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}(g)\right)_{\alpha,\beta}.$$
(3.4.14)

• Strong (p, p)-type. For $-1 \le s \le 1$ and $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$, $\left\| T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \le c_{\alpha,\beta} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})}.$

The *convolution* is defined by, see [28],

$$(f * g)(s) := (f *_{\alpha,\beta} g)(s) := (T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f), g)_{\alpha,\beta}, \quad f, g \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta}).$$
(3.4.15)

It satisfies the Young's inequality for $\alpha \ge \beta \ge -1/2$:

$$\|f * g\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \le \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \|g\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})}.$$
(3.4.16)

Lemma 3.4.4. Let $\alpha \geq \beta > -1$ and $\alpha + \beta \geq -1$ and let g be a filter. Then for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ and $s \in [-1,1]$,

$$V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;s) = \left(f * v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\right)(s).$$
(3.4.17)

Proof. By (3.4.13) and (2.5.5),

$$v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = \int_{-1}^{1} v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,z) \,\mathrm{d}\mu_{t,s}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(z) = T_s^{(\alpha,\beta)}\left(v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot);t\right).$$
(3.4.18)

Then the corresponding filtered operator has the following convolution representation. For $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$,

$$\begin{aligned} V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;s) &= \int_{-1}^{1} f(t) \, v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) \, w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{-1}^{1} f(t) \, T_{s}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \left(v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot);t \right) w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_{-1}^{1} T_{s}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f;t) \, v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t) \, w_{\alpha,\beta}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \left(f * v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot) \right) (s), \end{aligned}$$

where the second equality uses (3.4.18), the third equality uses (3.4.14) and the last equality uses (3.4.15).

Theorem 3.4.5. Let $\alpha \geq \beta > -1$ and $\alpha + \beta \geq -1$, and let g be a filter. Then for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(w_{\alpha,\beta})$,

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \le \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} \| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot) \|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})}.$$
 (3.4.19)

Proof. Applying Young's inequality (3.4.16) to (3.4.17) in Lemma 3.4.4 gives (3.4.19).

Proof of Theorem 3.4.3. For $\alpha \ge \beta \ge -1/2$, the inequality (3.4.12) follows by Theorems 3.4.5 and 3.4.2.

3.5 Construction of filters

In this section, we construct filters with given smoothness using piecewise polynomials.

Suppose we want to construct a filter g satisfying $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for some $\kappa \geq 0$ and $\chi_{[0,1]} \leq g \leq \chi_{[0,2]}$. Let p(t) be a polynomial of t. We define g(t) as

$$g(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ p(t), & 1 < t < 2, \\ 0, & t \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(3.5.1)

To guarantee the smoothness of g, we only need to make sure that g is κ times continuously differentiable at the transition points t = 1 and t = 2. Taking account of the smoothness constraint of p(t) at t = 1, we can write

$$p(t) = 1 + \sum_{i=\kappa+1}^{2\kappa+1} a_i (t-1)^i, \qquad (3.5.2)$$

where the coefficients a_i , $i = \kappa + 1, \ldots, 2\kappa + 1$ are determined by the smoothness constraint at t = 2, i.e. $g^{(i)}(2) = 0$ for $i = 0, 1, \ldots, \kappa$. This gives the linear system of a_i :

$$M\mathbf{a} = \mathbf{b},\tag{3.5.3}$$

where

$$M = M_{(\kappa+1)\times(\kappa+1)} = (m_{ij}), \quad m_{ij} = \binom{\kappa+j}{\kappa+j-(i-1)},$$
$$\mathbf{a} = (a_{\kappa+1}, \dots, a_{2\kappa+1})^T, \quad \mathbf{b} = (-1, 0, \dots, 0)^T.$$

The coefficient matrix M is

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & \cdots & 1 \\ \binom{\kappa+1}{\kappa} & \binom{\kappa+2}{\kappa+1} & \cdots & \binom{2\kappa+1}{2\kappa} \\ \binom{\kappa+1}{\kappa-1} & \binom{\kappa+2}{\kappa} & \cdots & \binom{2\kappa+1}{2\kappa} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \binom{\kappa+1}{1} & \binom{\kappa+1}{2} & \cdots & \binom{2\kappa+1}{\kappa+1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $\{q_i(j): i, j = 1, 2, \dots, \kappa + 1\}$ be a set of $(\kappa + 1)^2$ integers defined by

$$\begin{cases} q_1(j) = 1, & j = 1, \dots, \kappa + 1, \\ q_i(j) = \sum_{k=1}^j q_{i-1}(k), & i = 2, \dots, \kappa + 1, \quad j = 1, \dots, \kappa + 1. \end{cases}$$

Solving the linear system (3.5.3) we obtain the coefficients a_i for (3.5.2) given recursively by

$$\begin{cases} a_{2\kappa+1} = (-1)^{\kappa+1} q_{\kappa+1}(\kappa+1), \\ a_{\kappa+i} = (-1)^{i} q_{i}(\kappa+1), \quad i = \kappa, \kappa - 1, \dots, 1. \end{cases}$$

We list in Table 3.1 and show in Figure 3.1 the explicit formula and pictures for piecewise polynomial filters $g_{2\kappa+1} \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ satisfying (3.5.1) with smoothness $\kappa = 1, \ldots, 6$. The cubic filter g_3 was constructed earlier in [24]. There exist other constructions of filters, such as piecewise quadratic polynomial filter $g_2 \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ [67, Section 5.2, p. 550], sine filter $g_{\sin} \in C^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ [1, Eq. 2.21, p. 1519] and C^{∞} exponential filter [20, p. 269]. The first two which will be used in numerical tests

κ	degree	$ g _{\left[1,2 ight] }(t)$
1	3	$1 + [-3 + 2(t - 1)](t - 1)^2$
2	5	$1 + \left[-10 + 15(t-1) - 6(t-1)^2\right](t-1)^3$
3	7	$1 + \left[-35 + 84(t-1) - 70(t-1)^2 + 20(t-1)^3\right](t-1)^4$
4	9	$1 + \left[-126 + 420(t-1) - 540(t-1)^2 + 315(t-1)^3 - 70(t-1)^4\right](t-1)^5$
5	11	$1 + \left[-462 + 1980(t-1) - 3465(t-1)^2 + 3080(t-1)^3 - 1386(t-1)^4 + 252(t-1)^5\right](t-1)^6$
6	13	$ 1 + [-1716 + 9009(t-1) - 20020(t-1)^2 + 24024(t-1)^3 - 16380(t-1)^4 + 6006(t-1)^5 - 924(t-1)^6 + 3432(t-1)^7](t-1)^7 $

Table 3.1: Piecewise polynomial filters $g_{2\kappa+1}$, $\kappa = 1, \ldots, 6$

below are given by

$$g_2(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ 1 - 2(t-1)^2, & 1 < t \le 3/2, \\ 2(2-t)^2, & 3/2 < t < 2, \\ 0, & t \ge 2 \end{cases}$$
$$g_{\sin}(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t \le 1, \\ \left(\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{2}t\right)\right)^2, & 1 < t < 2, \\ 0, & t \ge 2. \end{cases}$$

3.6 Numerical examples

This section gives the numerical results for the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm of the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)\chi_{[-1,a]}(t)$ for three pairs of α,β : $\alpha = \beta = 0$; $\alpha = 1, \beta = 0$; $\alpha = 3, \beta = 0$



Figure 3.1: Filters $g_{2\kappa+1}$, $\kappa = 1, \ldots, 6$, using piecewise polynomials

 $\beta = 1$. For each pair, the corresponding kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,t)$ is equivalent to a filtered convolution kernel for a two-point homogeneous space, see [13] for details:

Example (i) $\alpha = \beta = \frac{d-2}{2}$, corresponding to the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^d in \mathbb{R}^{d+1} , $d \geq 2$; Example (ii) $\alpha = 1, \beta = 0$, corresponding to the complex projective space $P^4(\mathbb{C})$;

Example (iii) $\alpha = 3, \beta = 1$, corresponding to the quaternion projective space $P^{8}(\mathbb{H})$.

We choose the following filters for the above examples.

Example (i): Piecewise polynomial filters g_3 , g_5 , g_7 with $\kappa = 1, 2, 3$ and sine filter g_{sin} with $\kappa = 1$;

Example (ii): Piecewise polynomial filters g_2 , g_3 , g_5 , g_7 with $\kappa = 1, 1, 2, 3$ respectively, de la Vallée Poussin filter g_0 with $\kappa = 0$ and sine filter g_{sin} with $\kappa = 1$;

Example (iii): Piecewise polynomial filters g_5 , g_7 , g_9 , g_{11} , g_{13} with $\kappa = 2, 3, 4, 5, 6$.

Chapter 3 Asymptotic and local properties of filtered Jacobi kernels

We use the trapezoidal rule with 10^6 nodes to approximate the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm of the filtered kernel:

$$\left\| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[-1,a]}(\cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\beta})} = \int_{-1}^{a} \left| v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.6.1)

Figure 3.2 shows the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm of $v_{L,g}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cdot)\chi_{[-1,a]}(\cdot)$ with a = 1 and a = 0.8 for examples (i)–(iii), where the degree of the filtered kernel is taken as high as 100. We fit the second half of data for each filtered kernel to illustrate the convergence order.

The first column of Figure 3.2 shows that the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm with a = 1 is equivalent to a constant when $\kappa \geq \alpha - 1/2$ and diverges when $\kappa < \alpha - 1/2$. The second column of Figure 3.2 shows that the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norm with a = 0.8 increases or decreases at order close to $\kappa - \alpha + 1/2$, which is consistent with Theorems 3.4.1 and 3.4.2. It thus illustrates that $\kappa \geq \alpha - 1/2$ may be an optimal condition for Theorem 3.4.2.

3.7 Fourier-Jacobi kernels and operators

Lemma 3.7.1 below shows how the filtered kernel $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s)$ behaves as $L \to \infty$ for a given pair of $t, s \in [-1, 1]$.

Lemma 3.7.1. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$ and $\widetilde{L} := L + \frac{\alpha+\beta+2}{2}$. Using $m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta)$ and $\omega_{\alpha}(z)$ as defined in (3.2.2b) and (3.2.2c) respectively, the following estimates for $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta)$ hold:

(i) For
$$\phi = 0$$
,

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \times \begin{cases} L^{2\alpha+2} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\alpha+2)} (1+\mathcal{O}(L^{-1})), & \theta = 0, \\ L^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}(L^{-1})\right), & cL^{-1} < \theta < \pi - cL^{-1}, \\ L^{\alpha+\beta+1} \frac{1}{\Gamma(\beta+1)} (-1)^{L} (1+\mathcal{O}(L^{-1})), & \theta = \pi. \end{cases}$$
(3.7.1)

(ii) For $cL^{-1} < \theta \neq \phi < \pi - cL^{-1}$, letting $\xi := \alpha \pi + \pi/2$,

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\phi,\cos\theta) = \frac{m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta)m_{\alpha,\beta}(\phi)}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}(\cos\phi-\cos\theta)} \left(\sin\frac{\theta+\phi}{2}\sin(\widetilde{L}(\theta-\phi)) + \sin\frac{\theta-\phi}{2}\sin(\widetilde{L}(\theta+\phi)-\xi) + \left((\sin\theta)^{-1} + (\sin\phi)^{-1}\right)\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right).$$
(3.7.2)


Figure 3.2: $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\beta})$ -norms of filtered kernels in (3.6.1) for Examples (i), (ii), (iii)

(iii) For $cL^{-1} < \theta = \phi < \pi - cL^{-1}$, $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\theta) = L \frac{m_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(\theta)m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta)}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \left(\sin\theta + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right).$

(iv) For $\theta = \phi = \pi$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1,-1) = L^{2\beta+2} \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\beta+1)\Gamma(\beta+2)} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right)$$

Here the constants in the big \mathcal{O} 's depend only on α , β .

Proof. For $\theta, \phi \in [0, \pi]$, let $s := \cos \theta$ and $t := \cos \phi$. (i) By (3.2.19),

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{L} \left(M_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \frac{\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} P_{L}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(s).$$
(3.7.3)

For s = -1, i.e. $\theta = \pi$, by Lemma 3.2.8 and [70, Eq. 4.1.1, p. 58], $P_L^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(-1) = (-1)^L P_L^{(\beta,\alpha+1)}(1) = (-1)^L {L+\beta \choose L}$. This with (1.2.1) and (3.7.3) gives

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,-1) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(\beta+1)} (-1)^L L^{\alpha+\beta+1} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right)$$

For $cL^{-1} < \theta < \pi - cL^{-1}$ ($s = \cos \theta$), applying Lemma 3.2.1 (adopting its notation) to $P_L^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(s)$ in (3.7.3) gives, letting $\widetilde{L} := L + \frac{\alpha+\beta+2}{2}$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} L^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \big(\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\big),$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} term depends only on α and β .

(ii) From [70, Eq. 4.5.2, p. 71],

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta)}}{2L+\alpha+\beta+2} \frac{\Gamma(L+2)\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(L+\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} \\ \times \frac{P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) - P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t)P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s)}{t-s} \\ := \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta)}}{2L+\alpha+\beta+2} \frac{\Gamma(L+2)\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(L+\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} \frac{I_{1}}{t-s}.$$
 (3.7.4)

Applying Lemma 3.2.1 to the Jacobi polynomials of I in (3.7.4) gives, letting

$$\widehat{L} := L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 1}{2}, \qquad (3.7.5)$$

$$I_{1} = \left(\widehat{L}(\widehat{L}+1)\right)^{-1/2} m_{\alpha,\beta}(\phi) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \\ \times \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha}\left((\widehat{L}+1)\phi\right)\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta) - \cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\phi)\cos\omega_{\alpha}\left((\widehat{L}+1)\theta\right) \\ + \left((\sin\phi)^{-1} + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\right)\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \\ =: \left(\widehat{L}(\widehat{L}+1)\right)^{-1/2} m_{\alpha,\beta}(\phi) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \left(I_{1,1} + \left((\sin\phi)^{-1} + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\right)\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right), \quad (3.7.6)$$

where we used $(\sin \theta)^{-1} L^{-1} \leq c_{\alpha,\beta}$.

We use trigonometric identities to rewrite $I_{1,1}$ in (3.7.6) as

$$I_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2} \Big[\cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi + \phi) - \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta) \big) + \cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi + \phi) + \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta) \big) \Big] \\ - \frac{1}{2} \Big[\cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi) - \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta + \theta) \big) + \cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi) + \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta + \theta) \big) \Big].$$

Rearranging this equation and using trigonometric identities again gives

$$I_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2} \Big[\cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi + \phi) - \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta) \big) - \cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi) - \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta + \theta) \big) \Big] \\ + \frac{1}{2} \Big[\cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi + \phi) + \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta) \big) - \cos \big(\omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\phi) + \omega_{\alpha} (\widehat{L}\theta + \theta) \big) \Big] . \\ = \sin \frac{\theta + \phi}{2} \sin \big((\widehat{L} + \frac{1}{2})(\theta - \phi) \big) + \sin \frac{\theta - \phi}{2} \sin \big((\widehat{L} + \frac{1}{2})(\theta + \phi) - \xi \big) ,$$

where $\xi := \alpha \pi + \pi/2$ and we used (3.2.2). This with (3.7.6) and (3.7.4) together gives (3.7.2), on noting $\widetilde{L} = \widehat{L} + 1/2$.

(iii) For $cL^{-1} < \theta \neq \phi < \pi - cL^{-1}$ $(t = \cos \phi, s = \cos \theta)$, we rewrite (3.7.4) as

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta)}}{2L+\alpha+\beta+2} \frac{\Gamma(L+2)\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(L+\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} \\ \times \left(\frac{P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) - P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s)}{t-s} P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) - P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) \frac{P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) - P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s)}{t-s}\right).$$

Taking its limit as $t \to s$ and using [70, Eq. 4.21.7, p. 63] give

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s,s) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta)}}{2L+\alpha+\beta+2} \frac{\Gamma(L+2)\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(L+\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} \times \Big[\frac{1}{2}(L+\alpha+\beta+2)P_{L}^{(\alpha+1,\beta+1)}(s)P_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) - \frac{1}{2}(L+\alpha+\beta+1)P_{L+1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s)P_{L-1}^{(\alpha+1,\beta+1)}(s)\Big].$$
(3.7.7)

We denote the terms in the square brackets in (3.7.7) by I_2 . Applying Lemma 3.2.1

to I_2 gives, cf. (3.7.6),

$$\begin{split} I_2 &= \frac{1}{2}L\left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \left(\widehat{L}(\widehat{L}+1)\right)^{-1/2} m_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(\theta) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \\ &\times \left(\left(\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta+\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \right) \\ &- \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta+\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \left(\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} m_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(\theta) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \\ &\times \left(\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta+\theta)\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta) - \cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta+\theta)\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{L}\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{1}{2} m_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(\theta) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \left(\sin\theta + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right), \end{split}$$

where \hat{L} is given by (3.7.5) and we used (3.2.2c). This with (3.7.7) and (1.2.1) gives

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta,\cos\theta) = \frac{L}{2^{\alpha+\beta+2}} m_{\alpha+1,\beta+1}(\theta) m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta) \left(\sin\theta + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right).$$

(iv) Using (3.2.27a) and (3.7.1) when $\theta = 0$ gives

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(-1,-1) = v_L^{(\beta,\alpha)}(1,1) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\beta+1)\Gamma(\beta+2)} L^{2\beta+2} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right),$$

thus completing the proof.

The following lemma shows the unboundedness of the Fourier convolution $\mathcal{V}_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ for the space of continuous functions on [-1,1].

Lemma 3.7.2. Given $\alpha > -1/2$ and $\beta > -1$, $\mathcal{V}_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}$ is unbounded on C[-1,1]. Proof. By (3.7.3),

$$\begin{split} \left\| \mathcal{V}_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right\|_{C[-1,1] \to C[-1,1]} &= \max_{-1 \le t \le 1} \int_{-1}^{1} \left| v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t,s) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\geq \int_{-1}^{1} \left| v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s) \right| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} |P_{L}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(s)| w_{\alpha,\beta}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\geq c_{\alpha,\beta} \ L^{\alpha+1} \int_{-1}^{1} |P_{L}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(s)| (1-s)^{\alpha} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\geq c_{\alpha,\beta} \ L^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} \to +\infty, \end{split}$$

where the penultimate inequality uses [70, Eq. 7.34.1, p. 172–173].

Chapter 4

Riemann localisation on the sphere

4.1 Introduction

This chapter studies Riemann localisation for Fourier-Laplace partial sums and filtered approximations on \mathbb{S}^d . We define the Fourier local convolution on \mathbb{S}^d and obtain tight upper and lower bounds for the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of the Fourier local convolution for functions in Sobolev spaces. This shows that Riemann localisation holds for the Fourier-Laplace partial sum for sufficiently smooth functions on \mathbb{S}^2 , but does not hold for spheres \mathbb{S}^d with d > 2. We then define the local convolution for a filtered approximation on \mathbb{S}^d and obtain an upper bound for the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of the filtered local convolution for functions in Sobolev spaces. This implies that the filtered approximation with a sufficiently smooth filter removes the restriction on dimensions.

In more detail, for the circle \mathbb{S}^1 , the partial sum of the Fourier series (or the Fourier partial sum) of order $L \ge 1$ for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)$ may be written as

$$V_L(f;\theta) := V_L^1(f;\theta) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} v_L(\theta - \phi) f(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} v_L(\phi) f(\theta - \phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi,$$

where

$$v_L(\phi) := v_L^1(\phi) := \frac{\sin((L+1/2)\phi)}{\sin(\phi/2)}$$

is the Dirichlet kernel of order L, and $\theta \in (-\pi, \pi]$.

For $0 < \delta < \pi$, let $U(\theta; \delta) := \{\phi \in (-\pi, \pi] : \cos(\phi - \theta) > \cos \delta\}$ be a neighbourhood of θ with angular radius $\delta > 0$. Let

$$v_L^{\delta}(\phi) := v_L^{1,\delta}(\phi) := v_L(\phi) \left(1 - \chi_{U(0;\delta)}(\phi) \right),$$

61

where χ_A is the indicator function for the set A. The Lth local convolution of $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)$ is

$$V_L^{\delta}(f;\theta) := V_L^{1,\delta}(f;\theta) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{[-\pi,\pi] \setminus U(\theta;\delta)} v_L(\theta - \phi) f(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi$$
$$= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} v_L^{\delta}(\phi) f(\theta - \phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi. \tag{4.1.1}$$

Thus the *L*th local convolution of f at θ is precisely the partial sum at θ of the Fourier series of the modified function obtained by replacing the value of f by zero in the open set $U(\theta; \delta)$. The Riemann localisation principle on the circle can then be restated as an assertion that the local convolution of an integrable function decays to zero as $L \to \infty$,

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} V_L^{\delta}(f;\theta) = 0 \quad \forall \theta \in (-\pi,\pi].$$
(4.1.2)

The convergence to zero of (4.1.2) is a simple consequence of the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma. This can be seen by writing

$$V_L^{\delta}(f;\theta) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} \left(A_{\delta,\theta}(\phi) \cos(L\phi) + B_{\delta,\theta}(\phi) \sin(L\phi) \right) \, \mathrm{d}\phi, \tag{4.1.3}$$

where

$$A_{\delta,\theta}(\phi) := f(\theta - \phi)\chi_{[-\pi,\pi]\setminus U(0;\delta)}(\phi),$$

$$B_{\delta,\theta}(\phi) := f(\theta - \phi)\cot(\phi/2)\chi_{[-\pi,\pi]\setminus U(0;\delta)}(\phi).$$

Both terms in (4.1.3) approach zero as $L \to \infty$ since $A_{\delta,\theta}, B_{\delta,\theta}$ are in $\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

A more precise estimate than (4.1.2) was proved by Telyakovskiĭ [74, Theorem 1, p. 184], as follows.

Lemma 4.1.1. For $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)$, let $a_0 := \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} f(\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\phi$. Then, for $0 < \delta < \pi$,

$$|V_L^{\delta}(f;\theta)| \le \frac{c}{\delta} \left(\frac{|a_0|}{L} + \omega \left(f, L^{-1} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)} \right), \quad \text{for all } \theta \in (-\pi, \pi], \tag{4.1.4}$$

where c is an absolute constant and

$$\omega(f,\eta)_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)} := \sup_{|\phi| \le \eta} \int_{-\pi}^{\pi} |f(z+\phi) - f(z)| \, \mathrm{d}z$$

is the \mathbb{L}_1 modulus of continuity of f.

For $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^1)$ with $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, this gives

$$\left\|V_{L}^{\delta}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{1})} \leq \frac{c}{\delta} \left(\frac{\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{1})}}{L} + \omega\left(f, L^{-1}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{1})}\right).$$
(4.1.5)

Since the modulus of continuity $\omega(f, L^{-1})_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)}$ converges to zero as $L \to \infty$, the right-hand side of (4.1.5) converges to zero. As $\lim_{L\to\infty} \|V_L^{\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^1)} = 0$ holds for

each $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^1)$, we say that the Fourier convolution (Fourier partial sum) V_L^{δ} has the *Riemann localisation property* for $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^1)$.

Lemma 4.1.1 was stated earlier by Hille and Klein [34], but with a proof that was unfortunately incorrect.

4.1.1 Fourier case

By analogy to the case of the circle, we define the *Fourier local convolution* of order L for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ by

$$V_L^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(4.1.6)

In particular, when $\delta = 0$, $V_L^{d,\delta}$ reduces to the Fourier convolution V_L^d , discussed in Section 2.6.

For $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, we say the Fourier convolution V_L^d has the *Riemann localisation* property for a subset X of \mathbb{L}_p if there exists a $\delta_0 > 0$ such that for each $0 < \delta < \delta_0$ the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of its local convolution $V_L^{d,\delta}(f)$ decays to zero for all $f \in X$, i.e. if

$$\lim_{L \to \infty} \|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} = 0, \quad f \in X.$$

The approximation behaviour of the Fourier local convolution is characterised by the following theorems, which are proved as Theorem 4.3.3, Corollary 4.3.4 and Theorem 4.3.6 respectively.

Theorem (\mathbb{L}_p upper bound for \mathbb{S}^d). Let d be an integer and p, δ be real numbers satisfying $d \geq 2$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi$. For* $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and positive integer L, there exists a constant c depending only on d, p and δ such that

$$\left\| V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \, \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right), \tag{4.1.7}$$

where $\omega(f, \cdot)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$ is the $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ -modulus of continuity of f, see (4.3.3) below.

We have the following upper bound for a sufficiently smooth function f.

Corollary (Upper bound for sufficiently smooth f). Let $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$, $0 < \delta < \pi$ and $s \ge 2$. Then, for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$
(4.1.8)

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s and δ .

*For $p = \infty$, $f \in \mathbb{L}_{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^d) \cap C(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

For d = 2, the upper bound (4.1.8) implies that the Fourier convolution V_L^2 has the Riemann localisation property for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^2)$ with $s \ge 2$. However, (4.1.8) gives no such assurance for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for $d \ge 3$. The following lower bound tells us that in general the Riemann localisation property does not hold for the Fourier convolution when $d \ge 3$. Let **1** be the constant function on \mathbb{S}^d satisfying $\mathbf{1}(\mathbf{x}) = 1$, $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$.

Theorem (A lower bound for \mathbb{S}^d). Let $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi/2$. Then there exists a subsequence $V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}$ such that for $\ell \ge 1$,

$$\left\| V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1}) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \ge c L_{\ell}^{\frac{d-3}{2}}, \tag{4.1.9}$$

where the constant c depends only on d and δ .

Since the constant function **1** is in any $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and s > 0, the lower bound in (4.1.9) shows that the Fourier convolution does not have the Riemann localisation property for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ when $d \ge 3$. Moreover, this lower bound implies that the upper bound of (4.1.8) cannot be improved for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $s \ge 2$.

We also give the following upper bound on the Sobolev norm of the Fourier local convolution, see Theorem 4.3.5.

Theorem (Upper bounds for Sobolev norm). Let $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi$. Then, for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \, \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right),$$

and for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^{s+2}(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\left\| V_L^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \|\Delta^* f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right),$$

where the constants c depend only on d, p, s and δ .

The upper bound (4.1.8) with d = 2 and $p = \infty$ shows that for $f \in \mathbb{W}_{\infty}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ with $s \geq 2$, the Fourier partial sum $V_{L}^{2}(f)$ converges pointwise to zero almost everywhere in any open subset on which f vanishes. Many authors have studied the localisation principle in a pointwise sense. For Euclidean spaces and other manifolds, including spheres, hyperbolic spaces and flat tori, see [9, 14, 15, 16, 59, 60, 61, 72, 71, 73]. In this thesis, we provide precise estimates for the Fourier local convolution on \mathbb{S}^{d} . This implies that the localisation principle for Fourier partial sums holds for \mathbb{S}^{2} but not for higher dimensional spheres, as pointed out by Brandolini and Colzani, see [9, p. 441–442].

Localisation properties are critical in multiresolution analysis on the sphere. Many authors have investigated localisation from a variety of aspects, see e.g. [2, 5, 23, 25, 52, 65]. The Riemann localisation property of the Fourier-Laplace partial sum for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^2)$ implies that the multiscale approximation converges to the solution of the local downward continuation problem, see [23, 30]. The estimation of the Fourier local convolution also plays a role in the "missing observation" problem, see [44, Section 10.5] and [6].

An easier question, which we discuss in Section 4.6, is estimating the operator norm of the Fourier local convolution. Let $w_{\alpha,\alpha}(t) := (1 - t^2)^{\alpha}$ with $\alpha := (d - 2)/2$. We denote by $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})$ the \mathbb{L}_1 space of all integrable functions with respect to the measure $w_{\alpha,\alpha}(t) dt$ on [-1, 1]. As an operator on $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$, the Fourier local convolution has its operator norm upper bounded by the $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})$ -norm of its Dirichlet kernel, and so does not rely on any cancellation effect. Given $d \ge 2$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$, we show in Lemma 4.6.1 that the operator norm of $V_L^{d,\delta}$ on $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is

$$\|V_{L}^{d,\delta}\|_{L_{p}\to L_{p}} \le c_{d} \|v_{L}^{d} \chi_{[-1,\cos\delta]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(w_{\alpha,\alpha})}, \qquad (4.1.10)$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})}$ is the norm of $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})$. The $\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})$ -norm of the kernel has the following exact order, see Lemma 4.6.2,

$$\|v_L^d \chi_{[a,b]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})} \asymp L^{\frac{d-1}{2}}, \quad -1 \le a < b \le 1.$$
 (4.1.11)

This contrasts with the result on the circle, for which, see e.g. [82, Eq. 12.3, p. 67],

$$\|v_L \chi_{[\theta,\theta']}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^1)} \asymp \begin{cases} \log(L), & 0 = \theta < \theta' \le \pi, \\ 1, & 0 < \theta < \theta' \le \pi. \end{cases}$$

Note that the operator norm result in (4.1.10) and (4.1.11) gives merely

$$\left\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_d \ L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \ \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

which is larger than the right hand side of (4.1.8) by a factor of L. This difference comes from the fact that the operator norm does not benefit from a cancellation effect. This effect, established in Lemma 4.2.5, is one of the vital factors in the proof of the Riemann localisation property. It is interesting to note that the result for the operator norm is not strong enough for application to the local downward continuation problem [30] with d = 2.

The proof of the Riemann localisation property for the Fourier convolution in Section 4.3 relies on two key elements. One is an asymptotic estimate of the Dirichlet kernel $v_L^d(t)$ in Section 4.2.2. The other is the effect of cancellation in the Fourier local convolution, discussed in Section 4.2.3.

4.1.2 Filtered case

Let g be a filter function satisfying that g(t) is a constant for $t \in [0, 1]$ and $\operatorname{supp} g \subset [0, 2]$ and let $V_{L,g}$ be the filtered approximation defined by Definition 2.6.3. The filtered local convolution $V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}$ for the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$ is given by

$$V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$

Theorem (\mathbb{L}_p upper bound for \mathbb{S}^d). Let $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi$, and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$. Then, for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and positive integer L,

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{3}{2})} \left(L^{-1} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \, \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right),$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, δ and g.

We have a better upper bound for smoother functions.

Corollary (Upper bound for sufficiently smooth f). Let $d \ge 2, 1 \le p \le \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi$, and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2])$.

Then, for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $s \ge 2$,

$$\|V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{5}{2})} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, δ and g.

We see from this corollary that for an arbitrary dimensional sphere, the filtered local convolution would converge to zero if its filter function is sufficiently smooth. This improves the upper bound of the Fourier local convolution and thus improves the Riemann localisation of the Fourier convolution (the Fourier-Laplace partial sum).

This chapter is organised as follows. Section 4.2 contains the estimates of the generalised Dirichlet kernels for Jacobi weights, and the cancellation lemma. In Section 4.3 we use the results of Section 4.2 to prove the upper and lower bounds for the Fourier local convolution for functions in \mathbb{L}_p spaces and Sobolev spaces on \mathbb{S}^d . In Section 4.4 we prove an upper bound of the filtered local convolution for functions in \mathbb{L}_p spaces the proofs of the results in Section 4.2. An estimate of the operator norm of the Fourier local convolution for convolution is given in Section 4.6.

4.2 Dirichlet kernels for Jacobi weights

The characterisation of the Riemann localisation property on the sphere relies on two key elements. One is the asymptotic estimates of the Dirichlet kernel $v_L^d(t)$ and of the filtered kernel $v_{L,g}(t)$. The other is the effect of cancellation on the local convolution, discussed in Section 4.2.3.

4.2.1 Asymptotic expansions for Jacobi polynomials

We shall need the estimates of the (generalised) Dirichlet kernel expanded in terms of Jacobi polynomials.

Our estimate is based on the following asymptotic expansion for Jacobi polynomials.

Lemma 4.2.1. Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$, $\alpha - \beta > -4$ and $c \ell^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi - \epsilon$ with $\epsilon > 0$ and some constant c > 0 and let $\hat{\ell}$, $m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta)$ and $\omega_{\alpha}(z)$ be given by (3.2.2). Then for $\ell \geq 1$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) = \hat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha,\beta}(\theta)$$

$$\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + \hat{\ell}^{-1} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\hat{\ell},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{\,\hat{u}(\alpha)}\theta^{\hat{\nu}(\alpha)} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{-2}\theta^{-2} \right) \right],$$
(4.2.1)

where

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\hat{\ell},\theta) := F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) \cos \omega_{\alpha+1}(\hat{\ell}\theta) - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2} \cos \omega_{\alpha}(\hat{\ell}\theta), \qquad (4.2.2a)$$

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) := \frac{\beta^2 - \alpha^2}{4} \tan \frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{4\alpha^2 - 1}{8} \cot \theta, \qquad (4.2.2b)$$

$$\widehat{u}(\alpha) := -2 + \left\langle \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \right\rangle, \quad \widehat{\nu}(\alpha) := \begin{cases} \alpha + \frac{5}{2}, & \alpha < \frac{1}{2}, \\ \alpha + \frac{1}{2}, & \alpha \ge \frac{1}{2}, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.2c)

where $\langle x \rangle := x - \lfloor x \rfloor$ denotes the fractional part of a real number x.

Remark. For $\alpha \ge 1/2$, the condition " $\alpha - \beta > -4$ " may be weakened to " $\alpha - \beta > -4 - 2 \lfloor \frac{1}{2} + \alpha \rfloor$ ", see the proof of Lemma 4.2.1. Also, we observe that $\hat{u}(\alpha) < -1$ and $\hat{\nu}(\alpha) \ge 1$.

Lemma 4.2.1 is a corollary of Frenzen and Wong's expansion of the Jacobi polynomial in terms of the Bessel functions, see [27, Main Theorem, p. 980]. The jump of $\hat{\nu}(\alpha)$ at $\alpha = 1/2$ in (4.2.2c) is due to the jump of the power of θ in the remainder of the expansion. See the proof of Lemma 4.2.1 in Section 4.5.1 for details.

4.2.2 Asymptotic expansions for Dirichlet kernels

With the help of Lemma 4.2.1, we may prove Lemmas 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 below, which show how the generalised Dirichlet kernel $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s)$ behaves as $L \to +\infty$. We prove both one-term and two-term asymptotic expansions of the generalised Dirichlet kernel $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s)$. The one-term expansions are utilised to prove the upper bounds on the Fourier local convolution, while the two-term expansion plays an important role in the estimate of the lower bound. Adopting the notation of (3.2.2) and (4.2.2), we have

Lemma 4.2.2. Let $\alpha > -1/2$, $\beta > -1/2$ and $0 < \theta < \pi$. For $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, we denote by

$$\widetilde{L} := L + (\alpha + \beta + 2)/2.$$
 (4.2.3)

Then there exists a constant $c^{(1)}$ depending only on α, β such that: i) For $c^{(1)}L^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi/2$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \left(\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\,\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right).$$
(4.2.4a)

ii) For
$$\pi/2 < \theta \le \pi - c^{(1)}L^{-1}$$
, letting $\theta' := \pi - \theta$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}(-1)^L m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta') \left(\cos\omega_\beta(\widetilde{L}\,\theta') + (\sin\theta')^{-1}\mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{-1}\right)\right),$$
(4.2.4b)

where the constants in the error terms of (4.2.4a) and (4.2.4b) depend only on α, β .

Lemma 4.2.3. i) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$ satisfying $\alpha - \beta > -5$, and $0 < \epsilon < \pi/2$. Then, for $c^{(1)}L^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi - \epsilon$,

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \\ \times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\,\theta) + \widetilde{L}^{-1}F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{\widehat{u}(\alpha+1)}\theta^{\widehat{\nu}(\alpha+1)}\right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{-2}\theta^{-2}\right)\right],$$

where

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) := F_{\alpha+1,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) \cos \omega_{\alpha+2}(\widetilde{L}\theta),$$

where $F_{\alpha+1,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta)$ is given by (4.2.2b).

ii) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$ satisfying $\beta - \alpha > -3$ and let $\epsilon \leq \theta < \pi - c^{(1)}L^{-1}$ with $0 < \epsilon < \pi/2$, and $\theta' := \pi - \theta$. Then

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{(-1)^{L}2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta')$$

$$\times \left[\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\,\theta') + \widetilde{L}^{-1}F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{\widehat{u}(\beta)}\theta'^{\widehat{\nu}(\beta)}\right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(L^{-2}\theta'^{-2}\right)\right],$$
(4.2.5)

Chapter 4 Riemann localisation on the sphere

where

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') := F_{\beta,\alpha+1}^{(2)}(\theta') \cos \omega_{\beta+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta').$$
(4.2.6)

The proofs of Lemmas 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 are given in Section 4.5.2.

Note that Lemmas 4.2.2 and 4.2.3 do not describe the approximation behaviour of $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ near the two ends of the interval $[0,\pi]$. This is given by the following lemma. The proof is again given in Section 4.5.2.

Lemma 4.2.4. For $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$, adopting the notation of Lemma 4.2.2, i) for $0 \le \theta \le c^{(1)}L^{-1}$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}(L^{2\alpha+2}), \qquad (4.2.7a)$$

ii) for $\pi - c^{(1)}L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi$,

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}(L^{\alpha+\beta+1}).$$
(4.2.7b)

Using Lemma 2.6.1, we can obtain the estimates for $v_L^d(t)$ corresponding to Lemmas 4.2.2–4.2.4.

4.2.3 Cancellation effect

Guided by the proof of the lemma in [34], we will obtain the following key lemma which leads to the cancellation effect of the local convolution. For a sequence $\{a_{\ell} : \ell = 0, 1, ...\}$, let $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} a_{\ell} := a_{\ell} - a_{\ell+1}$ be the forward difference of a_{ℓ} . We will frequently use the method of summation by parts: for sequences $a_{\ell}, b_{\ell}, \ell \geq 0$, let $B_{\ell} := \sum_{j=0}^{\ell} b_j$, then,

$$\sum_{\ell=0}^{L} a_{\ell} b_{\ell} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{L-1} (\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell} a_{\ell}) B_{\ell} + a_L B_L$$

We state the cancellation lemma as follows. A proof is given in Section 4.5.3.

Lemma 4.2.5. Let $f \in C[0,\pi]$ and m be a continuously differentiable function on $(0,\pi]$ and $A_L(\theta) := A(\theta; L, c_1, c_2, c_3) := (c_1L + c_2)\theta + c_3$, $c_1 > 0$. Assume that there exists a sequence of subintervals $[a_L, b] \subset [0,\pi]$, with $a_L \in (0,b)$ and $\sup_{L \in \mathbb{Z}_+} a_L < b$, such that for some $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$m(\theta) \ge 0 \text{ and } \left| \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\theta} m(\theta) \right| \le c \max \left\{ \theta^{\gamma}, 1 \right\} \text{ for all } \theta \in [a_L, b]$$

with c and γ independent of L. Then there exists a partition of $[a_L, b]$: $a_L < \phi'_0 < \phi'_1 < \cdots < \phi'_{L_1} < b$ where $L_1 \simeq L$ and $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_i \phi'_i \simeq L^{-1}$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, L_1$ such that

$$\left| \int_{a_{L}}^{b} f(\theta) m(\theta) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right|$$

$$\leq c' L^{-1} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} |\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}')| + |f(\phi_{0}')| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}')| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}}')| \right],$$
(4.2.8)

where c' is a constant independent of L.

4.3 Fourier local convolutions on the sphere

We focus in this section on the proofs of the main theorems for the Fourier case. The upper bound (4.1.7) and the lower bound (4.1.9) are proved in Theorem 4.3.3 and in Theorem 4.3.6 respectively. The upper bound of the theorem comes from the combined effects of the cancellation in the Fourier local convolution (Lemma 4.2.5) and the asymptotic behaviour of the generalised Dirichlet kernel (the one-term expansions, see Lemma 4.2.2).

We shall make repeated use of $T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x})$, the translation operator for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$, given by, see e.g. [78, Section 2.4, p. 57],

$$T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x}) := T_{\theta}^{(d)}(f; \mathbf{x}) := \frac{1}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}| (\sin \theta)^{d-1}} \int_{\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} = \cos \theta} f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{x}}(\mathbf{y}), \quad 0 < \theta \le \pi,$$

$$(4.3.1)$$

where the $\tilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{x}}$ is the measure on $\{\mathbf{y} : \mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y} = \cos \theta\}$. And we denote by $T_0(f; \mathbf{x}) := T_0^{(d)}(f; \mathbf{x}) := f(\mathbf{x})$. Thus the translation of \mathbf{x} is just the average of f over lines of constant latitude with respect to \mathbf{x} as a pole. Note that for any zonal kernel $v \in \mathbb{L}_1\left([-1, 1], w_{\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{d-2}{2}}\right)$ we can write

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_0^\pi v(\cos\theta) \, T_\theta(f;\mathbf{x}) \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta. \tag{4.3.2}$$

4.3.1 Preliminaries

Let B be a Banach space embedded in $\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$. The modulus of continuity of $f \in B$ is defined by

$$\omega(f; u)_B := \sup_{0 < \theta \le u} \left\| f - T_{\theta}(f) \right\|_B, \quad 0 < u \le \pi.$$
(4.3.3)

Since $\|f - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \to 0$ as $\theta \to 0^+$ for $1 \le p \le \infty$, see e.g. [8, p. 227, Lemma 4.2.2],

$$\omega\left(f;u\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}\to 0, \quad u\to 0^{+}.$$
(4.3.4)

Let Δ^* denote the Laplace-Beltrami operator on \mathbb{S}^d . The K-functional of order 2 on \mathbb{S}^d is defined by

$$K(f,t)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \inf \left\{ \|f - \varphi\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + t \|\Delta^* \varphi\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} : \varphi \in \mathbb{W}_p^2(\mathbb{S}^d) \right\}.$$
(4.3.5)

The K-functional and the modulus of continuity for $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ are equivalent, see e.g. [78, Theorem 5.1.2, p. 194], [7, Eq. 5.2, p. 95]:

$$K\left(f,\theta^{2}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \asymp \omega\left(f,\theta\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}, \quad 0 < \theta \leq \pi,$$

$$(4.3.6)$$

for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $1 \le p \le \infty$, where the constants in the inequalities depend only on d and p.

Another key factor in the proof is an estimate for the translation operator. The translation $T_{\theta}^{(d)}$ is a strong (p, p)-type operator with operator norm 1, see e.g. [78, Theorem 2.4.1, p. 57], [8, Eq. 2.4.11, p. 237], i.e. for $1 \le p \le \infty$,

$$\|T_{\theta}^{(d)}\|_{L_p \to L_p} = 1, \quad 0 < \theta < \pi.$$
 (4.3.7)

We need the following upper bound for the difference between two translation operators.

Lemma 4.3.1. Let $d \ge 2$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$. For any $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$, there exists a constant c such that for $\theta, \phi > 0$ and $\theta + \phi < \pi/2$,

$$\left\|T_{\theta+\phi}^{(d)}(f) - T_{\theta}^{(d)}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \; \omega \left(f, \sqrt{\phi(2\theta+\phi)}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

where the constant c depends only on d and p.

Remark. This upper bound is a generalisation of Theorem 5.1 of [7], where the result is proved for the case when $\theta = 0$.

Proof of Lemma 4.3.1. From (4.3.6), we only need to prove

$$\|T_{\theta+\phi}(f) - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p} K (f, \phi(2\theta+\phi))_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$

For a spherical cap $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, u) \subset \mathbb{S}^d$, let B_u be the spherical cap average

$$B_u(f;\mathbf{x}) := \frac{1}{|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},u)|} \int_{\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},u)} f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}),$$

where $|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, u)|$ is the measure of the cap $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, u)$.

By the relation between the spherical cap average and the translation operator on the sphere, see [8, Eq. 4.2.14, p. 238],

$$T_{\theta}(\varphi; \mathbf{x}) - \varphi(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} \int_{0}^{\theta} \frac{|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, u)|}{(\sin u)^{d-1}} B_{u}(\Delta^{*}\varphi; \mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}u, \quad \varphi \in \mathbb{W}_{1}^{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d}),$$

we have for each $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$ and $\varphi \in \mathbb{W}_1^2(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$T_{\theta+\phi}(\varphi;\mathbf{x}) - T_{\theta}(\varphi;\mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} \int_{\theta}^{\theta+\phi} \frac{|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},u)|}{(\sin u)^{d-1}} B_u\left(\Delta^*\varphi;\mathbf{x}\right) \, \mathrm{d}u.$$

From (2.1.2) and $||B_u||_{L_p \to L_p} = 1$, see e.g. [78, Theorem 2.4.2, p. 59], [8, Eq. 4.2.4, p. 236], for $1 \le p \le \infty$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\theta+\phi}(\varphi) - T_{\theta}(\varphi)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq \frac{1}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} \int_{\theta}^{\theta+\phi} \frac{|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, u)|}{(\sin u)^{d-1}} \|B_{u}(\Delta^{*}\varphi)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \,\mathrm{d}u \\ &\leq c_{d} \|\Delta^{*}\varphi\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \int_{\theta}^{\theta+\phi} u \,\mathrm{d}u \\ &\leq c_{d}' \left(2\theta+\phi\right)\phi \|\Delta^{*}\varphi\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.3.8)$$

By (4.3.7) we obtain for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and any $\varphi \in \mathbb{W}_p^2(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\theta+\phi}(f) - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &= \|T_{\theta+\phi}(f-\varphi) - T_{\theta}(f-\varphi) + T_{\theta+\phi}(\varphi) - T_{\theta}(\varphi)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq 2\|f-\varphi\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + c_{d}' \left(2\theta+\phi\right)\phi \left\|\Delta^{*}\varphi\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \end{aligned}$$

which with an optimal choice of φ gives, with new constants c_d and $c_{d,p}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \|T_{\theta+\phi}(f) - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq c_{d} K \left(f, \phi(2\theta+\phi)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq c_{d,p} \omega \left(f, \sqrt{\phi(2\theta+\phi)}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

From Lemma 4.3.1, we may prove that $T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x})$ is a continuous function of θ given $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$.

Lemma 4.3.2. Let $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$ with $d \ge 2$. Then $T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x})$ is a continuous function of θ on $[0, \pi]$.

Proof. Given $\theta \in [0, \pi]$, let $\phi \in [0, \pi]$ satisfying $\theta + \phi \in [0, \pi]$. Lemma 4.3.1 gives for $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$

$$\left\|T_{\theta+\phi}(f) - T_{\theta}(f)\right\|_{C(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \; \omega \left(f, \sqrt{\phi(2\theta+\phi)}\right)_{C(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

By (4.3.4), the right-hand side of the above inequality converges to zero as $\phi \to 0^+$. Thus, when $\phi \to 0^+$

$$\left|T_{\theta+\phi}(f;\mathbf{x}) - T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x})\right| \le \left\|T_{\theta+\phi}(f) - T_{\theta}(f)\right\|_{C(\mathbb{S}^d)} \to 0.$$

Hence $T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x})$ is continuous at θ .

4.3.2 Upper bounds

Theorem 4.3.3. Let d be an integer and p, δ be real numbers satisfying $d \geq 2$, $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi$. For $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\left\| V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \, \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right), \tag{4.3.9}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p and δ .

The proof of Theorem 4.3.3 is given later in this section.

Remark. From Theorem 4.3.3, if f is a Lipschitz function, then

$$\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p,\delta} L^{\frac{d-2}{2}} \left(L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + c_f \right), \quad d \ge 2.$$
(4.3.10)

If $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^2(\mathbb{S}^d)$, then

$$\omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \asymp K \left(f, L^{-1} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$
$$\simeq \| T_{1/\sqrt{L}}(f) - f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p} L^{-1} \| \Delta^* f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the first equivalence is from (4.3.6), the second is by [7, Theorem 5.1, p. 94] and the last inequality is by (4.3.8) with $\theta = 0$ and $\phi = L^{-\frac{1}{2}}$. Hence,

$$\left\| V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le c_{d,p,\delta} L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|\Delta^{*}f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right), \quad d \ge 2.$$
(4.3.11)

Since $\mathbb{W}_p^r(\mathbb{S}^d) \subset \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ for $0 \leq s \leq r < \infty$ and by (4.3.11), we have the following upper bound for the Fourier local convolutions with sufficiently smooth functions.

Corollary 4.3.4. Let $s \ge 2$. Under the same conditions as Theorem 4.3.3, for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\left\| V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \| f \|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}, \tag{4.3.12}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s and δ .

Remark. The corollary implies that the Fourier convolution has the Riemann localisation property for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^2)$ and $s \geq 2$. For higher dimensional spheres \mathbb{S}^d with $d \geq 3$, however, the Fourier convolution does not have the Riemann localisation property in general, as will be shown in Theorem 4.3.6.

That the translation operator commutes with the Laplace-Beltrami operator enables us to replace the \mathbb{L}_p -norms in inequalities (4.3.9) and (4.3.11) by Sobolev norms.

Theorem 4.3.5. Under the same conditions as Theorem 4.3.3, for $f \in W_n^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\left\| V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \leq c \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \, \omega\left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right)$$

For $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^{s+2}(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\left\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}}\left(\|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \|\Delta^* f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}\right).$$

Here, the constants c depend only on d, p, s and δ .

We only give the proof of Theorem 4.3.3. The proof of the first part of Theorem 4.3.5 is similar.

Proof of Theorem 4.3.3. Let $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$. Then by (4.3.2) we have

$$V_L^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$$
$$= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_{\delta}^{\pi} v_L^d(\cos\theta) \, T_{\theta}^{(d)}(f;\mathbf{x})(\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

Splitting the integral, we have

$$\frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d}|}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} V_{L}^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\delta}^{\pi} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L}^{d}(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$
$$= \left(\int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} + \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi}\right) T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L}^{d}(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$
$$=: I_{1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2}(f;\mathbf{x}).$$
(4.3.13)

For $I_1(f; \mathbf{x})$, applying (4.2.4a) of Lemma 4.2.2 with $\alpha = \beta = \frac{d-2}{2}$ and hence $\widetilde{L} = L + \frac{d}{2}$, and by Lemma 2.6.1, we have

$$I_{1}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \frac{2^{-(d-1)}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Big[\left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\frac{d+1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\frac{d-1}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta,L)) + \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta}(L^{-1}) \Big] \\ \times (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta \\ = \frac{\widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \left[\int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta,L)) d\theta + \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta}(L^{-1}) \right] \\ =: \frac{\widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \Big[I_{1,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta}(L^{-1}) \Big],$$
(4.3.14)

where

$$\widetilde{u}(\theta,L) := \widetilde{u}(\theta,L;d) := \left(L + \frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi$$
(4.3.15)

and we used

$$\left| \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f; \mathbf{x}) \, (\sin \theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right| \leq \int_{0}^{\pi} T_{\theta}(|f|; \mathbf{x}) \, (\sin \theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta = \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}. \tag{4.3.16}$$

Next, we make use of Lemma 4.2.5 to estimate the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of $I_{1,1}(f)$. Since Lemma 4.2.5 is valid only for a continuous function, we need to use the density of the continuous space in \mathbb{L}_p space. For $\epsilon > 0$, there exists $\tilde{f} \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ such that

$$\|\widetilde{f} - f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} < \epsilon.$$
(4.3.17)

By Lemma 4.3.2, $T_{\theta}(\tilde{f}; \mathbf{x})$ is a continuous function of θ on $[0, \pi]$ given $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$. Since $m_1(\theta) := \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}$ and its derivative are bounded over $[\delta, \pi/2]$, by Lemma 4.2.5 with $f(\theta) = T_{\theta}(\tilde{f}; \mathbf{x}), m(\theta) = m_1(\theta), A(\theta) = \tilde{u}(\theta, L), a_L = \delta$ and $b = \pi/2$, there exists a constant $c_{d,\delta}$ and a partition of $[\delta, \pi/2]$: $\delta < \phi'_0 < \phi'_1 < \cdots < \phi'_{L_1} < \pi/2$ where $L_1 \simeq L$ and $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_i \phi'_i \simeq L^{-1}$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, L_1 - 1$ such that

$$|I_{1,1}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x})| = \left| \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x}) m_{1}(\theta) \sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta,L)) d\theta \right|$$

$$\leq c_{d,\delta} L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} |\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} T_{\phi_{k}'}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\phi_{0}'}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\phi_{L_{1}-1}'}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\phi_{L_{1}}'}(\widetilde{f};\mathbf{x})| \right).$$
(4.3.18)

Since T_{θ} in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is bounded with norm 1, see (4.3.7),

$$\|T_{\theta}(\widetilde{f}) - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = \|T_{\theta}(\widetilde{f} - f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le \|\widetilde{f} - f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} < \epsilon$$
(4.3.19a)

and

$$\begin{split} \left\| \overrightarrow{\Delta}_k T_{\phi'_k}(\widetilde{f}) - \overrightarrow{\Delta}_k T_{\phi'_k}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} &= \| T_{\phi'_k}(\widetilde{f} - f) - T_{\phi'_{k+1}}(\widetilde{f} - f) \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \\ &\leq 2 \| \widetilde{f} - f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} < 2\epsilon. \end{split}$$
(4.3.19b)

Also, by (4.3.19a),

$$\|I_{1,1}(\widetilde{f}) - I_{1,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

$$\leq \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \|T_{\theta}(\widetilde{f}) - T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} |\sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta, L))| \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$

$$\leq c_d \, \epsilon. \tag{4.3.19c}$$

By (4.3.19) and (4.3.18), we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{1,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq \|I_{1,1}(\widetilde{f})\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + c_{d} \,\epsilon \\ &\leq c_{d,\delta} \, L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \|\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} T_{\phi_{k}'}(\widetilde{f})\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{0}'}(\widetilde{f})\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}-1}'}(\widetilde{f})\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}}'}(\widetilde{f})\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right) \\ &+ c_{d} \,\epsilon \\ &\leq c_{d,\delta} \, L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \|\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} T_{\phi_{k}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{0}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}-1}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right) \\ &+ c_{d,\delta} \, L^{-1}(2L_{1}-1) \,\epsilon + c_{d} \,\epsilon. \end{split}$$

Taking account of $L \simeq L_1$, $c_{d,\delta} L^{-1}(2L_1 - 1) \epsilon \leq c_{d,\delta} \epsilon$. We then force $\epsilon \to 0^+$ to obtain

$$\|I_{1,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}$$

$$\leq c_{d,\delta} L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \|\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} T_{\phi_{k}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{0}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}-1}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \|T_{\phi_{L_{1}}'}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right)$$

$$(4.3.20)$$

Applying Lemma 4.3.1 to $\|\overrightarrow{\Delta}_k T_{\phi'_k}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$ of the above and with $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_i \phi'_i \simeq L^{-1}$, $i = 0, 1, \ldots, L_1 - 1$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|I_{1,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq c_{d,\delta} \ L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \omega \left(f, \sqrt{(\phi_{k+1}' + \phi_{k}')(\phi_{k+1}' - \phi_{k}')} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + 3 \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right) \\ &\leq c_{d,p,\delta} \ \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right), \end{split}$$

which with (4.3.14) gives

$$\|I_1(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p,\delta} L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right).$$
(4.3.21)

This finishes the estimate of I_1 .

We have an analogous proof for I_2 . Let k_0 be a positive integer (independent of L) such that $\xi_0 := \xi_0(L) := (k_0\pi + \frac{d-1}{4}\pi)/(L + \frac{d}{2}) > c^{(1)}L^{-1}$ for all positive integers L, where $c^{(1)}$ is the constant in Lemmas 4.2.2 and 4.2.4 with $\alpha = \beta = \frac{d-2}{2}$. Then,

$$I_{2}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L}^{d}(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$

$$= \left(\int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-\xi_{0}} + \int_{\pi-\xi_{0}}^{\pi}\right) T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L}^{d}(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$

$$=: I_{2,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2,2}(f;\mathbf{x}).$$
(4.3.22)

For $I_{2,1}(f; \mathbf{x})$, applying (4.2.4b) of Lemma 4.2.2 with the substitution $\theta' = \pi - \theta$ and by Lemma 2.6.1, cf. (4.3.14),

$$\begin{split} I_{2,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) &= \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-\xi_0} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_L^d(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{(-1)^L \,\widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}{\Gamma(\frac{d+1}{2})} \left[\int_{\xi_0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f;-\mathbf{x}) \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}\,(\theta,L)+\frac{\pi}{2}) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &+ \mathcal{O}_d \left(L^{-1}\right) \int_{\xi_0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |T_{\theta}(f;-\mathbf{x})| \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \,\mathrm{d}\theta \right], \quad (4.3.23) \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{u}(\theta, L)$ is given by (4.3.15). The first integral in (4.3.23) may be estimated in a similar way to $I_{1,1}$, but with the difference that the end point ξ_0 depends on L, as follows. Let $m_2(\theta) := \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$ then

$$\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}\theta}m_2(\theta)\right| \le c \max\left\{\theta^{\frac{d-3}{2}}, 1\right\}, \quad 0 < \theta \le \pi/2.$$
(4.3.24)

Let $\tilde{f}(\mathbf{x})$ be given by (4.3.17). We may apply Lemma 4.2.5 with $f(\theta) = T_{\theta}(\tilde{f}; -\mathbf{x})$, $m(\theta) = m_2(\theta), \ A(\theta) = \tilde{u}(\theta, L) + \frac{\pi}{2}, \ [a_L, b] = [\xi_0, \pi/2] \text{ and } \gamma = \frac{d-3}{2}$, to the first integral of (4.3.23). Then there exists a constant c_d and a partition of $[\xi_0, \pi/2]$:

$$\begin{aligned} \xi_0 &< \xi'_0 < \xi'_1 < \dots < \xi'_{L_2} < \pi/2 \text{ where } L_2 \asymp L \text{ and } \overrightarrow{\Delta}_i \xi'_i \asymp L^{-1}, i = 0, 1, \dots, L_2 - 1 \\ \text{such that} \\ \left| \int_{\xi_0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(\widetilde{f}; -\mathbf{x}) \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}\left(\theta, L\right) + \frac{\pi}{2}) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right| \end{aligned}$$

$$J_{\xi_{0}} \leq c_{d} L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{2}-2} |\vec{\Delta}_{k} T_{\xi_{k}'}(\tilde{f}; -\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\xi_{0}'}(\tilde{f}; -\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\xi_{L_{2}-1}'}(\tilde{f}; -\mathbf{x})| + |T_{\xi_{L_{2}}'}(\tilde{f}; -\mathbf{x})| \right),$$

Using the argument of the estimate for $||I_{1,1}(f)||_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$, we can prove, cf. (4.3.20),

$$\begin{split} \left\| \int_{\xi_{0}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f; -\cdot) \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta, L) + \frac{\pi}{2}) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ & \leq c_{d} \, L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{2}-2} \| \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} T_{\xi_{k}'}(f) \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \| T_{\xi_{0}'}(f) \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \| T_{\xi_{L_{2}}'}(f) \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \| T_{\xi_{L_{2}}'}(f) \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right) \end{split}$$

which with Lemma 4.3.1 gives

$$\left\| \int_{\xi_{0}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f; -\cdot) \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\cos \frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \sin(\widetilde{u}(\theta, L) + \frac{\pi}{2}) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}$$

$$\leq c_{d} \, L^{-1} \left(\sum_{k=1}^{L_{2}-2} \omega \left(f, \sqrt{(\xi_{k+1}' + \xi_{k}')(\xi_{k+1}' - \xi_{k}')} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + 3 \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right)$$

$$\leq c_{d,p} \, \left(L^{-1} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right). \tag{4.3.25}$$

By (4.3.7), the second integral of (4.3.23) is bounded by

$$\left\|\int_{\xi_0}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} |T_{\theta}(f; -\cdot)| \left(\sin \frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \mathrm{d}\theta\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_d \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

This, (4.3.25) and (4.3.23) together give

$$\|I_{2,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p} L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right).$$
(4.3.26)

For $I_{2,2}(f)$, using (4.2.7b) of Lemma 4.2.4 with $\alpha = \beta = \frac{d-2}{2}$, we have

$$\|I_{2,2}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \leq c_{d,p} \int_{\pi-c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi} \|T_{\theta}(f;\cdot)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} L^{d-1}(\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$

$$\leq c_{d,p} L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}.$$
(4.3.27)

The synthesis of (4.3.27), (4.3.26), (4.3.22), (4.3.21) and (4.3.13) gives (4.3.9).

4.3.3 Lower bounds

In this section, we show a lower bound of the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of the Fourier local convolution for a constant function on the sphere \mathbb{S}^d , $d \geq 2$. This lower bound matches the upper bound of the Fourier local convolution for Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $s \geq 2$, see Corollary 4.3.4. It thus establishes that the upper bound for the Fourier local convolution for these Sobolev spaces is optimal. **Theorem 4.3.6.** Let $d \ge 2$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $0 < \delta < \pi/2$. Then there exists a subsequence $V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}$ such that for $\ell \ge 1$,

$$\left\| V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1}) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \ge c L_{\ell}^{\frac{d-3}{2}}, \qquad (4.3.28)$$

where the constant c depends only on d and δ .

Proof. Let $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$. Then

$$\begin{split} V_L^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1};\mathbf{x}) &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} \mathbf{1}(\mathbf{y}) v_L^d(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) \\ &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_{\delta}^{\pi} v_L^d(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \left(\int_{\delta}^{\pi-c^{(1)}L^{-1}} + \int_{\pi-c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi} \right) v_L^d(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_{\delta}^{\pi-c^{(1)}L^{-1}} v_L^d(\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta + \mathcal{O}_d\left(L^{-1}\right), \end{split}$$

where $c^{(1)}$ is the constant from Lemmas 4.2.3 and 4.2.4, and the last line uses Lemma 2.6.1 and (4.2.7b) of Lemma 4.2.4. Using Lemma 2.6.1 again gives

$$V_L^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1};\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\delta}^{\pi - c^{(1)}L^{-1}} v_L^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta + \mathcal{O}_d(L^{-1})$$

We now apply (4.2.5) of Lemma 4.2.3 ii) with $\alpha = \beta = \frac{d-2}{2}$ and hence $\tilde{L} = L + \frac{d}{2}$ and then take the substitution $\theta' = \pi - \theta$. Then

$$V_{L}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1};\mathbf{x}) = \frac{(-1)^{L}}{2^{d-1}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})} \widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} m_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d}{2}}(\theta) \Big[\cos\omega_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(\widetilde{L}\theta) \\ + \widetilde{L}^{-1}F_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2}}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\frac{d-2}{2})}\theta^{\widehat{\nu}(\frac{d-2}{2})} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-2}\theta^{-2} \right) \Big] (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-1} \right) \\ = \frac{(-1)^{L}}{\sqrt{\pi}\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})} \widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Big[\int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \cos\left((L+\frac{d}{2})\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi \right) d\theta \\ + \widetilde{L}^{-1} \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} F_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2}}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) d\theta + \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\frac{d-2}{2})} \right) \\ + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-2} \right) \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} \theta^{-2} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} d\theta \Big] + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-1} \right),$$

$$(4.3.29)$$

where $\widehat{u}(\frac{d-2}{2}) < -1$.

Since $\int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} \theta^{-2} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} d\theta = \mathcal{O}_d \left(\sqrt{L}\right)$ for $d \ge 2$, (4.3.29) becomes

$$V_{L}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1};\mathbf{x}) = \frac{(-1)^{L}}{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{d}{2})} \widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Big[I_{1} + \widetilde{L}^{-1} I_{2} + \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\frac{d-2}{2})} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-\frac{3}{2}} \right) \Big] + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-1} \right) \\ = \frac{(-1)^{L}}{\sqrt{\pi} \Gamma(\frac{d}{2})} \widetilde{L}^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \Big[I_{1} + \widetilde{L}^{-1} I_{2} + \mathcal{O}_{d,\delta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\frac{d-2}{2})} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-\frac{3}{2}} \right) \Big], \quad (4.3.30)$$

where

$$I_{1} := \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \cos\left((L+\frac{d}{2})\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) d\theta,$$
$$I_{2} := \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} F_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2}}^{(4)} (\widetilde{L},\theta) d\theta.$$

We will prove in the remaining part that $|I_1|$ is lower bounded by $c_{d,\delta} L_{\ell}^{-1}$ for a subsequence L_{ℓ} of L and that $I_2 = o(1)$ (so $\tilde{L}^{-1}I_2$ is a higher order term than I_1), while the two big \mathcal{O} terms have smaller asymptotic orders. Thus, I_1 is the dominant term. By (4.2.6) of Lemma 4.2.3,

$$I_2 = \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} (\sin\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos\frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} F_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d}{2}}^{(2)}(\theta) \sin\left((L+\frac{d}{2})\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) d\theta$$

Since the function $(\sin \frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos \frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} F_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d}{2}}^{(2)}(\theta)$ is in $\mathbb{L}_1(0, \pi - \delta)$ for $d \ge 2$, we may apply the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma to I_2 . Thus

$$I_2 \to 0 \text{ as } L \to \infty.$$
 (4.3.31)

For I_1 of (4.3.30), let $B_1(\theta) := (\sin \frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} (\cos \frac{\theta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}}$. Using integration by parts,

$$I_{1} = \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} B_{1}(\theta) \cos\left(\left(L + \frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) d\theta$$

$$= \frac{1}{L + \frac{d}{2}} \left[B_{1}(\pi - \delta) \sin\left(\left(L + \frac{d}{2}\right)(\pi - \delta) - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) - B_{1}(c^{(1)}L^{-1}) \sin\left(\left(L + \frac{d}{2}\right)c^{(1)}L^{-1} - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) + \int_{c^{(1)}L^{-1}}^{\pi-\delta} B_{1}'(\theta) \sin\left(\left(L + \frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right) d\theta \right]$$

$$=: \frac{1}{L + \frac{d}{2}} \left[I_{1,1} - \mathcal{O}_{d} \left(L^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right) - I_{1,2} \right].$$
(4.3.32)

Since $B'_1(\theta)$ is in $\mathbb{L}_1(0, \pi - \delta)$, the Riemann-Lebesgue lemma gives

$$I_{1,2} \to 0 \text{ as } L \to \infty.$$
 (4.3.33)

For $I_{1,1}$ of (4.3.32),

$$I_{1,1} = B_1(\pi - \delta) \sin\left((L + \frac{d}{2})(\pi - \delta) - \frac{d-1}{4}\pi\right)$$

= $(-1)^{L+1} (\sin\frac{\delta}{2})^{\frac{d-3}{2}} (\cos\frac{\delta}{2})^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \sin\left((L + \frac{d}{2})\delta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right).$

Hence,

$$|I_{1,1}| = \left(\sin\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left|\sin\left((L+\frac{d}{2})\delta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right|.$$
 (4.3.34)

4.4 Filtered local convolutions on the sphere

Let ξ be a positive real number in $(0, \pi/4)$ and let $c_{\xi} := \sin \xi > 0$. We want

$$\left|\sin\left((L+\frac{d}{2})\delta-\frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right|>c_{\xi}.$$

This is equivalent to that $(L + \frac{d}{2})\delta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi$ must be in the interval $(k\pi + \xi, k\pi + \pi - \xi)$ for some integer k. That is, L must fall into the interval $\mathcal{I}_k := (a_k + \frac{\xi}{\delta}, a_k + \frac{\pi - \xi}{\delta})$ with $a_k := \frac{k\pi + \frac{d+1}{4}\pi}{\delta} - \frac{d}{2}$. Since the length of \mathcal{I}_k is $\frac{\pi - 2\xi}{\delta} > 1$, there exists at least one positive integer in \mathcal{I}_k for k being sufficiently large. Taking account of (4.3.34), we have that there exists a subsequence L_ℓ of \mathbb{Z}_+ such that

$$|I_{1,1}| = \left(\sin\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\delta}{2}\right)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left|\sin\left((L_{\ell} + \frac{d}{2})\delta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right| > c_{d,\delta,\xi} > 0, \quad \ell \ge 1.$$

This together with (4.3.33), (4.3.32), (4.3.31) and (4.3.30) gives

$$\left| V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1};\mathbf{x}) \right| \geq c_{d,\delta} L_{\ell}^{\frac{d-3}{2}}.$$

That is, for $\ell \geq 1$,

$$\left\|V_{L_{\ell}}^{d,\delta}(\mathbf{1})\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \geq c_{d,\delta} L_{\ell}^{\frac{d-3}{2}}.$$

_		

4.4 Filtered local convolutions on the sphere

This section proves the upper bound of the filtered local convolution on the sphere. The proof relies on the cancellation lemma and the asymptotic expansion of the filtered kernel of Section 4.2. Recall that the filtered approximation $V_{L,g}$ on \mathbb{S}^d is a convolution with a filtered kernel $v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$, see Definitions 2.6.2 and 2.6.3,

$$V_{L,g}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}), \quad f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d), \ \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$

Since the filtered convolution kernel $v_{L,g}(t)$, $-1 \leq t \leq 1$, is a constant multiple of the filtered Jacobi kernel $v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,t)$, see Lemma 2.6.4, we are able to use the asymptotic expansion of the latter to prove the upper bound of $V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f)$.

Theorem 4.4.1. Let $d \ge 2$, $0 < \delta < \pi$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$.

(i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_{+});$ (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2]).$ Then, for $f \in \mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d}),$ $\|V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \leq c L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})} \left(L^{-1}\|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \omega(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}})_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}\right),$ (4.4.1)

where the constant c depends only on d, g, κ , δ and p.

Using similar argument to the remark of Theorem 4.3.3 and Corollary 4.3.4 gives the following upper bound of $V_{L,q}^{d,\delta}(f)$ for a smoother function f on \mathbb{S}^d .

Corollary 4.4.2. Let $d \ge 2$, $0 < \delta < \pi$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $s \ge 2$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. (i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$;

(ii) $g\big|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2]).$ Then $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d),$

$$\|V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{5}{2})} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, g, κ , δ , p and s.

Remark. Compared to Theorem 4.3.3 and Corollary 4.3.4, Theorem 4.4.1 and Corollary 4.4.2 show that the (Riemann) localisation of the Fourier convolution is improved by filtering the Fourier coefficients and that the convergence rate of the filtered local convolution depends on the smoothness of the filter function.

The commutativity between the translation and Laplace-Beltrami operator implies the upper bound of the Sobolev norm of the filtered local convolution, as follows.

Theorem 4.4.3. Let $d \ge 2$, $0 < \delta < \pi$, $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $s \ge 0$ and let g be a filter satisfying the following properties for some $\kappa \in \mathbb{Z}_+$.

(i) $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+);$ (ii) $g|_{[1,2]} \in C^{\kappa+3}([1,2]).$ Then for $f \in \mathbb{W}_n^s(\mathbb{S}^d),$

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \leq c \, L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{3}{2})} \left(L^{-1} \| f \|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \, \omega \left(f, L^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right),$$

and for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^{s+2}(\mathbb{S}^d), s \ge 0$,

$$\left\| V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \leq c \, L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{5}{2})} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \, L^{-1} \|\Delta^{*}f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \right),$$

where the constants c depend only on d, g, κ , δ , p and s.

We only prove Theorem 4.4.1. The proof of Theorem 4.4.3 is similar to those of Theorem 4.4.1 and Corollary 4.4.2.

Proof of Theorem 4.4.1. For $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$, by (4.3.2),

$$V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d \setminus \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x},\delta)} v_{L,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) f(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$$
$$= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_{\delta}^{\pi} v_{L,g}(\cos\theta) \, T_{\theta}^{(d)}(f;\mathbf{x})(\sin\theta)^{d-1} \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

We split the integral, using Lemma 2.6.4,

$$V_{L,g}^{d,\delta}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \left(\int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} + \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi}\right) T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$

=: $(I_1(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_2(f;\mathbf{x})).$ (4.4.2)

We let

$$\widetilde{m}_{i}(\theta) := C^{(1)}_{\frac{d-2}{2}, \frac{d-2}{2}, \kappa+3}(\theta) \ u_{\kappa,i}(\theta) \ (\sin\theta)^{d-1}, \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4, \tag{4.4.3}$$

where $C_{\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2},\kappa+3}^{(1)}(\theta)$ and $u_{\kappa,i}(\theta)$ are given by (3.2.18). By Theorem 3.2.11 with $\alpha = \beta := (d-2)/2$ and adopting its notation, we have

$$\begin{split} I_{1}(f;\mathbf{x}) &= \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,g}^{\left(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2}\right)}(1,\cos\theta) \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})}}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \big(\widetilde{m}_{1}(\theta)\cos\phi_{L}(\theta) + \widetilde{m}_{2}(\theta)\sin\phi_{L}(\theta) + \widetilde{m}_{3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) \\ &\quad + \widetilde{m}_{4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + (\sin\theta)^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{d,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-1}\right) \big) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})}}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \bigg[\int_{\delta}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \Big(T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{1}(\theta)\cos\phi_{L}(\theta) + T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{2}(\theta)\sin\phi_{L}(\theta) \\ &\quad + T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{3}(\theta)\cos\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{4}(\theta)\sin\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) \Big) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\quad + \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \, \mathcal{O}_{d,g,\kappa,\delta} \left(L^{-1}\right) \bigg] \\ &=: \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})}}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \Big(I_{1,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{1,2}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{1,3}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{1,4}(f;\mathbf{x}) \\ &\quad + \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \, \mathcal{O}_{d,g,\kappa,\delta} \left(L^{-1}\right) \Big), \end{split}$$

$$(4.4.4)$$

where we used (4.3.16).

Similar to the proof of (4.3.21), using Lemma 4.2.5 and the density of the continuous space into \mathbb{L}_p space on the sphere would give for i = 1, 2, 3, 4,

$$\|I_{1,i}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,g,\kappa,\delta,p} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-1}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right).$$
(4.4.5)

This with (4.4.4) gives

$$\|I_1(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{3}{2})} \Big(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-1}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \Big), \tag{4.4.6}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, g, κ, δ and p.

Let c be the constant of Theorem 3.2.11 where $\alpha = \beta := (d-2)/2$. We split the integral of $I_2(f; \mathbf{x})$ into two parts, as follows.

$$I_{2}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \left(\int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} + \int_{\pi-cL^{-1}}^{\pi}\right) T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})} (1,\cos\theta) (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta$$

=: $I_{2,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2,2}(f;\mathbf{x}).$ (4.4.7)

Chapter 4 Riemann localisation on the sphere

For $I_{2,2}(f; \mathbf{x})$, using Corollary 3.3.2 with $\alpha := (d-2)/2$ gives

$$\|I_{2,2}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,p} \int_{\pi-cL^{-1}}^{\pi} \|T_{\theta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} L^{-\kappa+d-2} (\sin\theta)^{d-1} d\theta \le c_{d,p} L^{-(\kappa+2)} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$
(4.4.8)

For $I_{2,1}(f; \mathbf{x})$, using Theorem 3.2.11 again, cf. (4.4.4),

$$\begin{split} I_{2,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) &= \int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,g}^{(\frac{d-2}{2},\frac{d-2}{2})}(1,\cos\theta) \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})}}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \bigg[\int_{\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\pi-cL^{-1}} \Big(T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{1}(\theta) \cos\phi_{L}(\theta) + T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{2}(\theta) \sin\phi_{L}(\theta) \\ &+ T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{3}(\theta) \cos\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) + T_{\theta}(f;\mathbf{x}) \, \widetilde{m}_{4}(\theta) \sin\overline{\phi}_{L}(\theta) \Big) \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &+ \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \, \mathcal{O}_{d,g,\kappa} \, (L^{-1}) \bigg] \\ &=: \frac{L^{-(\kappa-\frac{d}{2}+\frac{3}{2})}}{2^{\kappa+3}(\kappa+1)!} \Big(I_{2,1,1}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2,1,2}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2,1,3}(f;\mathbf{x}) + I_{2,1,4}(f;\mathbf{x}) \\ &+ \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_{1}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \, \mathcal{O}_{d,g,\kappa} \, (L^{-1}) \Big), \end{split}$$
(4.4.9)

where $\tilde{m}_i(\theta)$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4, are given by (4.4.3) and we used (4.3.16).

Similar to the estimate for the integrals of (4.3.23),

$$\|I_{2,1,i}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \left(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-1}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \right), \quad i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$$

This with (4.4.9) gives

$$\|I_{2,1}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,g,\kappa,p} L^{-(\kappa - \frac{d}{2} + \frac{3}{2})} \Big(L^{-1} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} + \omega \left(f, L^{-1}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \Big),$$

thus completing the proof.

4.5 Proofs

This section proves the lemmas in Section 4.2.

4.5.1 Proofs for Section 4.2.1

Proof of Lemma 4.2.1. Recall $\hat{\ell} := \ell + (\alpha + \beta + 1)/2$. For the proof of (4.2.1), we make use of the expansion of the Jacobi polynomial in terms of Bessel functions,

see [27, Main Theorem, p. 980]: Given a positive integer n, and given $\alpha \ge -1/2$, $\alpha - \beta > -2n$ and $\alpha + \beta \ge -1$, for $0 < \theta \le \pi - \epsilon$,

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) = \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)} \left(\frac{\theta}{\sin\theta}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta} \\ \times \left(\sum_{k=0}^{n-1} A_k(\theta) \frac{J_{\alpha+k}(\widehat{\ell}\theta)}{\widehat{\ell}^{\alpha+k}} + \theta^{\alpha_1} \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}(\widehat{\ell}^{-n})\right), \quad (4.5.1)$$

with arbitrary given $0 < \epsilon < \pi$, where

$$\alpha_1 := \begin{cases} \alpha + 2, & n = 2, \\ \alpha, & n \neq 2, \end{cases}$$

and the coefficient $A_k(\theta)$ satisfies $A_k(\theta) \in C^{\infty}[0,\pi)$ for $1 \le k \le n-1$ and, see [27, Corollary 1, p. 980],

$$A_{0}(\theta) := 1, \ A_{1}(\theta) := \left(\alpha^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\right) \frac{1 - \theta \cot \theta}{2\theta} - \frac{\alpha^{2} - \beta^{2}}{4} \tan \frac{\theta}{2}.$$
 (4.5.2)

The following asymptotic expansion of the Bessel function with a fixed real ν holds as $z \to +\infty$, see [54, Eq. 10.17.1–10.17.3]:

$$J_{\nu}(z) \sim \left(\frac{2}{\pi z}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos \omega_{\nu}(z) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j} \frac{a_{2j}(\nu)}{z^{2j}} - \sin \omega_{\nu}(z) \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{j} \frac{a_{2j+1}(\nu)}{z^{2j+1}}\right),$$
(4.5.3)

where

$$a_0(\nu) := 1, \quad a_j(\nu) := \frac{(4\nu^2 - 1^2)(4\nu^2 - 3^2)\cdots(4\nu^2 - (2j-1)^2)}{j!\,8^j}, \quad j \ge 1.$$

Let $c_0 > 0$ be a fixed constant. Taking account of the upper bound of the Bessel functions [54, Eq. 10.41.1, Eq. 10.41.4], i.e.

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \mathcal{O}_{\nu}(1), \quad \nu \ge -1/2, \ z \ge c_0,$$
 (4.5.4)

we then have by (4.5.3) that for all $z \ge c_0$,

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \mathcal{O}\left(z^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right),\tag{4.5.5a}$$

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left(z^{-\frac{1}{2}} \cos \omega_{\nu}(z) + \mathcal{O}\left(z^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right) \right), \qquad (4.5.5b)$$

$$J_{\nu}(z) = \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}} \left(z^{-\frac{1}{2}} \cos \omega_{\nu}(z) - z^{-\frac{3}{2}} a_1(\nu) \sin \omega_{\nu}(z) + \mathcal{O}\left(z^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right) \right), \qquad (4.5.5c)$$

where the constants in the three big \mathcal{O} terms depend only on ν and c_0 .

$$\begin{aligned} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)} \left(\frac{\theta}{\sin\theta}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta} \\ &\times \left[A_{0}(\theta)\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{1}{\hat{\ell}^{\alpha}} \left((\hat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\hat{\ell}\theta) - (\hat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{3}{2}}a_{1}(\alpha)\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}\left((\hat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right)\right) \\ &+ A_{1}(\theta)\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{1}{\hat{\ell}^{\alpha+1}} \left((\hat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}\left((\hat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right)\right) + \theta^{\alpha+2}\mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(\hat{\ell}^{-2}\right)\right] \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)} \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}-\alpha} \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + \hat{\ell}^{-1}F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta)\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\hat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\hat{\ell}^{-2}\theta^{-2}\right) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(\hat{\ell}^{-2+(\frac{1}{2}+\alpha)}\theta^{\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}\right)\right], \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.6)

where by (4.5.2), $F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta)$ is given by

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta)\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) := -\frac{A_0(\theta)a_1(\alpha)}{\theta}\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + A_1(\theta)\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta)$$
$$= \left(\frac{\beta^2 - \alpha^2}{4}\tan\frac{\theta}{2} - \frac{4\alpha^2 - 1}{8}\cot\theta\right)\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta), \quad (4.5.7)$$

and (4.5.1) and (4.5.4) require $\alpha \ge -1/2$, $\alpha + \beta \ge -1$ and $\alpha - \beta > -4$. Using [54, Eq. 5.11.13, Eq. 5.11.15], i.e.

$$\frac{\Gamma(\ell+u+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+v+1)} = \ell^{u-v} \left[1 + \frac{(u-v)(u+v+1)}{2} \ell^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{u,v} \left(\ell^{-2}\right) \right], \quad (4.5.8)$$

we have

$$\frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+1)} = \frac{\Gamma(\widehat{\ell}+\frac{\alpha-\beta-1}{2}+1)}{\Gamma(\widehat{\ell}+\frac{-\alpha-\beta-1}{2}+1)} = \widehat{\ell}^{\alpha} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2}\widehat{\ell}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta}\left(\widehat{\ell}^{-2}\right)\right].$$
(4.5.9)

This with (4.5.6) gives

$$P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) = \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta-\frac{1}{2}} \widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

$$\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \widehat{\ell}^{-1} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\widehat{\ell},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{-2}\theta^{-2}\right) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{-2+(\frac{1}{2}+\alpha)}\theta^{\alpha+\frac{5}{2}}\right)\right],$$

$$(4.5.10)$$

where

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\widehat{\ell},\theta) := F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) \cos \omega_{\alpha+1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2} \cos \omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta).$$
(4.5.11)

When $\alpha \ge 1/2$, we take $n = n_{\alpha} := \lfloor \frac{1}{2} + \alpha \rfloor + 2 \ge 3$ in (4.5.1). For the Bessel functions $J_{\alpha+k}(\hat{\ell}\theta), \ 0 \le k \le n-1$, we apply (4.5.5c) when k = 0 and (4.5.5b)

when k = 1, and use the upper bound (4.5.5a) when $2 \le k \le n - 1$. Then for $c \ell^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi - \epsilon$,

$$\begin{split} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{\Gamma(\widehat{\ell} + \frac{\alpha-\beta-1}{2} + 1)}{\Gamma(\widehat{\ell} + \frac{-\alpha-\beta-1}{2} + 1)} \left(\frac{\theta}{\sin\theta}\right)^{1/2} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\alpha} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2}\right)^{-\beta} \\ &\times \left[A_0(\theta)\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{1}{\widehat{\ell}^{\alpha}} \left((\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) - (\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{3}{2}}a_1(\alpha)\sin\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}\left((\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{5}{2}}\right)\right) \\ &+ A_1(\theta)\sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi}}\frac{1}{\widehat{\ell}^{\alpha+1}} \left((\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha}\left((\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{3}{2}}\right)\right) \\ &+ \sum_{k=2}^{n-1}A_k(\theta)\frac{\mathcal{O}_{\alpha}\left((\widehat{\ell}\theta)^{-\frac{1}{2}}\right)}{\widehat{\ell}^{\alpha+k}} + \theta^{\alpha}\mathcal{O}_{\epsilon}\left(\widehat{\ell}^{-n}\right)\right]. \end{split}$$

Applying (4.5.9) and rearranging the terms in the square brackets give, cf. (4.5.6), (4.5.10),

$$\begin{split} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta) \\ &= \widehat{\ell}^{\alpha} \left[1 - \frac{\alpha\beta}{2} \widehat{\ell}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\widehat{\ell}^{-2} \right) \right] \times \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}} \theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left[\widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2} - \alpha} \theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{3}{2} - \alpha} \theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) \cos\omega_{\alpha + 1}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{5}{2} - \alpha} \theta^{-\frac{5}{2}} \right) \right. \\ &+ \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{5}{2} - \alpha} \theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right) + \theta^{\alpha} \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon} \left(\widehat{\ell}^{-n} \right) \right] \\ &= \pi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\sin\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\alpha - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\cos\frac{\theta}{2} \right)^{-\beta - \frac{1}{2}} \widehat{\ell}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha}(\widehat{\ell}\theta) + \widehat{\ell}^{-1} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\widehat{\ell},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{-2} \theta^{-2} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(\ell^{-2 + \langle \alpha + \frac{1}{2} \rangle} \theta^{\alpha + \frac{1}{2}} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where $F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta)$ and $F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(1)}(\hat{\ell},\theta)$ are given by (4.5.7) and (4.5.11) respectively, and in this case (4.5.1) and (4.5.4) require $\alpha \ge -1/2$, $\alpha + \beta \ge -1$ and $\alpha - \beta > -2\left\lfloor \frac{1}{2} + \alpha \right\rfloor - 4$. This completes the proof.

4.5.2 Proofs for Section 4.2.2

Proof of Lemma 4.2.2. By (2.5.5) and [70, Eq. 4.5.3, p. 71], for $-1 \le s \le 1$,

$$v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,s) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{L} \left(c_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)} \right)^{-1} P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(s) = \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \frac{\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} P_{L}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(s).$$
(4.5.12)

Then, the estimate in (4.2.4a) of $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$ for $c^{(1)}L^{-1} \le \theta \le \pi/2$ follows from Lemma 3.2.1. For $\pi/2 < \theta \le \pi - c^{(1)}L^{-1}$, using [70, Eq. 4.1.3, p. 59]

$$P_L^{(\gamma,\eta)}(-z) = (-1)^L P_L^{(\eta,\gamma)}(z), \quad -1 \le z \le 1, \ \gamma,\eta > -1$$
(4.5.13)

with (4.5.12) gives

$$v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) = \frac{1}{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}} \frac{\Gamma(L+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(L+\beta+1)} (-1)^L P_L^{(\beta,\alpha+1)}(\cos\theta'), \quad (4.5.14)$$

where $\theta' := \pi - \theta$. By (4.5.8) with $\ell = \widetilde{L} = L + \frac{\alpha + \beta + 2}{2}$, $u = \frac{\alpha + \beta}{2}$ and $v = \frac{-\alpha + \beta - 2}{2}$, $\frac{\Gamma(L + \alpha + \beta + 2)}{\Gamma(L + \beta + 1)} = \widetilde{L}^{\alpha + 1} \left[1 - \frac{(\alpha + 1)\beta}{2} \widetilde{L}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \right) \right] = \widetilde{L}^{\alpha + 1} \left[1 + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-1} \right) \right].$ (4.5.15)

Applying Lemma 3.2.1 to $P_L^{(\beta,\alpha+1)}(\cos\theta')$ of (4.5.14) and by (4.5.15), we have

$$\begin{aligned} v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \,\widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} \left(1 + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-1}\right)\right) m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta') \left(\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\theta') + (\sin\theta')^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-1}\right)\right) \\ &= \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \,\widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} \, m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta') \left(\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\theta') + (\sin\theta')^{-1} \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-1}\right)\right). \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

Proof of Lemma 4.2.3. i) Let $\alpha, \beta > -1/2$ and $\alpha - \beta > -5$, i.e. $(\alpha + 1) - \beta > -4$. To estimate $v_L^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta)$, we use (4.5.12) and then apply (4.2.1) of Lemma 4.2.1 to $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(\cos\theta)$. Then for $c^{(1)}\ell^{-1} \leq \theta \leq \pi - \epsilon$, also using (4.5.15),

$$\begin{split} v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) &= \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \, \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+1} \left[1 + \frac{(\alpha+1)\beta}{2} \, \widetilde{L}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(\widetilde{L}^{-2} \right) \right] \times \widetilde{L}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta) + \widetilde{L}^{-1} F_{\alpha+1,\beta}^{(1)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\alpha+1)} \theta^{\widehat{\nu}(\alpha+1)} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \theta^{-2} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} m_{\alpha+1,\beta}(\theta) \, \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta) + \widetilde{L}^{-1} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\alpha+1)} \theta^{\widehat{\nu}(\alpha+1)} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \theta^{-2} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where $\widehat{u}(\alpha+1) < -1$ and $\widehat{\nu}(\alpha+1) \ge 1$, and by (4.2.2),

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(3)}(\widetilde{L},\theta) = \frac{(\alpha+1)\beta}{2} \cos \omega_{\alpha+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta) + F_{\alpha+1,\beta}^{(1)}(\widetilde{L},\theta)$$
$$= F_{\alpha+1,\beta}^{(2)}(\theta) \cos \omega_{\alpha+2}(\widetilde{L}\theta).$$

ii) Let $\beta > -1/2$ and $\beta - (\alpha + 1) > -4$ (i.e. $\beta - \alpha > -3$) and $\theta' := \pi - \theta \in (c^{(1)}L^{-1}, \pi - \epsilon)$. In this case, we make use of (4.5.14) and then apply (4.2.1) of Lemma 4.2.1 to $P_L^{(\beta,\alpha+1)}(\cos \theta')$.

$$\square$$

Also by (4.5.15), we have

$$\begin{split} v_{L}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1,\cos\theta) \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{L}2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+1} \left[1 + \frac{(\alpha+1)\beta}{2} \widetilde{L}^{-1} + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \right) \right] \times \widetilde{L}^{-\frac{1}{2}} m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta') \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\theta') + \widetilde{L}^{-1} F_{\beta,\alpha+1}^{(1)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\beta)} \theta'^{\widehat{\nu}(\beta)} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \theta'^{-2} \right) \right] \\ &= \frac{(-1)^{L}2^{-(\alpha+\beta+1)}}{\Gamma(\alpha+1)} \widetilde{L}^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}} m_{\beta,\alpha+1}(\theta') \\ &\times \left[\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\theta') + \widetilde{L}^{-1} F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') + \mathcal{O}_{\epsilon,\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{\widehat{u}(\beta)} \theta'^{\widehat{\nu}(\beta)} \right) + \mathcal{O}_{\alpha,\beta} \left(L^{-2} \theta'^{-2} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where by (4.2.2),

$$F_{\alpha,\beta}^{(4)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') = F_{\beta,\alpha+1}^{(1)}(\widetilde{L},\theta') + \frac{(\alpha+1)\beta}{2}\cos\omega_{\beta}(\widetilde{L}\theta')$$
$$= F_{\beta,\alpha+1}^{(2)}(\theta')\cos\omega_{\beta+1}(\widetilde{L}\theta').$$

This completes the proof.

Proof of Lemma 4.2.4. For arbitrary real γ, η , Szegő [70, Theorem 7.32.2, p. 169] shows

$$P_L^{(\gamma,\eta)}(\cos\theta) = \mathcal{O}\left(L^\gamma\right), \quad 0 \le \theta \le cL^{-1}, \tag{4.5.16}$$

where the constant depends only on γ and η . The upper bound of (4.2.7a) follows from (4.5.12) and (4.5.16), and (4.2.7b) is proved by (4.5.14) and (4.5.16).

4.5.3 Proof for Section 4.2.3

Proof of Lemma 4.2.5. We may construct the partition as follows. Let

$$\phi_0 := a_L, \ \phi_1 := \frac{k_0 \pi - c_3}{c_1 L + c_2}, \ k_0 := \left\lfloor \frac{1}{\pi} \left(a_L (c_1 L + c_2) + c_3 \right) \right\rfloor + 1,$$

$$\phi_k := \phi_1 + (k - 1) t_L, \ k = 2, \dots, L_1, \ \phi_{L_1 + 1} := b,$$

$$t_L := \frac{\pi}{c_1 L + c_2}, \ L_1 := \left\lfloor \frac{b(c_1 L + c_2) + c_3}{\pi} - k_0 + 1 \right\rfloor.$$

Then $A_L(\phi_k) = (k + k_0 - 1)\pi$ for $1 \le k \le L_1 - 1$ and $A_L(\phi_1) - A_L(\phi_0) \in (0, \pi]$ and $A_L(\phi_{L_1+1}) - A_L(\phi_{L_1}) \in [0, \pi)$. Thus $a_L = \phi_0 < \phi_1 < \cdots < \phi_{L_1} < \phi_{L_1+1} = b$ is a partition of $[a_L, b]$ such that $\sin(A_L(\theta))$ in each subinterval $[\phi_k, \phi_{k+1}], k = 0, 1, \dots, L_1$ has the constant sign and has different signs in every pair of adjacent subintervals. The assumption that $\sup_{L \in \mathbb{Z}_+} a_L < b$ implies that $L_1 \asymp L$ and $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_k \phi_k \asymp L^{-1}$ for each $k = 0, 1, \dots, L_1$.

For each subinterval $[\phi_k, \phi_{k+1}], k = 0, 1, \dots, L_1$, applying the first integral mean value theorem, we have that there exists $\phi'_k \in (\phi_k, \phi_{k+1})$ such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{a_{L}}^{b} f(\theta)m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \sum_{k=0}^{L_{1}} \int_{\phi_{k}}^{\phi_{k+1}} f(\theta)m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta = \sum_{k=0}^{L_{1}} f(\phi_{k}') \int_{\phi_{k}}^{\phi_{k+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-1} f(\phi_{k}') \int_{\phi_{k}}^{\phi_{k+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &+ f(\phi_{0}') \int_{\phi_{0}}^{\phi_{1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta + f(\phi_{L_{1}}') \int_{\phi_{L_{1}}}^{\phi_{L_{1}+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}') \sum_{j=1}^{k} \int_{\phi_{j}}^{\phi_{j+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &+ f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}') \sum_{j=1}^{L_{1}-1} \int_{\phi_{j}}^{\phi_{j+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &+ f(\phi_{0}') \int_{\phi_{0}}^{\phi_{1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta + f(\phi_{L_{1}}') \int_{\phi_{L_{1}}}^{\phi_{L_{1}+1}} m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta , \quad (4.5.17) \end{split}$$

where the last equality used summation by parts. Let $\psi_k(\theta) := \theta + (k-1)t_L$, $1 \leq k \leq L_1$. Then $\psi_k(\phi_1) = \phi_k$. Grouping (4.5.17) by pairs, keeping in mind that $\sin(A_L(\theta))$ has the opposite sign in $[\phi_{2j-1}, \phi_{2j}]$ to in $[\phi_{2j}, \phi_{2j+1}]$ for $j = 1, \ldots, \lfloor \frac{k-1}{2} \rfloor$, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{a_{L}}^{b} f(\theta)m(\theta)\sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}') \bigg[\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{2}} \big(m(\psi_{2j-1}(\theta)) - m(\psi_{2j}(\theta)) \big) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\quad + \nu_{1}(k) \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{2}} m(\psi_{k}(\theta)) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \bigg] \\ &\quad + f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}') \bigg[\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{L_{1}-1}{2} \rfloor} \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{2}} \big(m(\psi_{2j-1}(\theta)) - m(\psi_{2j}(\theta)) \big) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\quad + \nu_{1}(L_{1}-1) \int_{\phi_{1}}^{\phi_{2}} m(\psi_{L_{1}-1}(\theta)) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta \bigg] \\ &\quad + f(\phi_{0}') \int_{\phi_{0}}^{\phi_{1}} m(\theta) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta + f(\phi_{L_{1}}') \int_{\phi_{L_{1}}}^{\phi_{L_{1}+1}} m(\theta) \sin(A_{L}(\theta)) \,\mathrm{d}\theta, \end{split}$$

where

$$\nu_1(k) := \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } k \text{ is odd,} \\ 0, & \text{if } k \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$

When
$$\phi_1 < \theta < \phi_2$$
, for $j = 1, ..., \left\lfloor \frac{L_1 - 1}{2} \right\rfloor$,
 $|m(\psi_{2j-1}(\theta)) - m(\psi_{2j}(\theta))|$
 $\leq \left[\max_{\phi_1 < \phi < \phi_2 + t_L} |m'(\phi + 2(j-1)t_L)| \right] |\psi_{2j}(\theta) - \psi_{2j-1}(\theta)|$
 $\leq c \max_{\phi_1 < \phi < \phi_2 + t_L} \left\{ \max \left\{ (\phi + 2(j-1)t_L)^{\gamma}, 1 \right\} \right\} t_L \leq c L^{-1} \max \left\{ \left(\frac{j}{L} \right)^{\gamma}, 1 \right\}.$

For $\gamma < 0$,

$$\left| \int_{a_{L}}^{b} f(\theta) \ m(\theta) \ \sin(A(\theta)) \ d\theta \right| \\
\leq c \left[\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} |\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}')| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor} L^{-1} \left(\frac{j}{L} \right)^{\gamma} t_{L} + t_{L} \right) + |f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}')| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{L_{1}-1}{2} \rfloor} L^{-1} \left(\frac{j}{L} \right)^{\gamma} t_{L} + t_{L} \right) + t_{L} |f(\phi_{0}')| + t_{L} |f(\phi_{L_{1}}')| \right] \\
\leq c \ L^{-1} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} |\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}')| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}')| + |f(\phi_{0}')| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}}')| \right]. \quad (4.5.18)$$

For $\gamma \geq 0$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{a_{L}}^{b} f(\theta) \ m(\theta) \ \sin(A(\theta)) \ d\theta \right| \\ &\leq c \left[\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \left| \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}') \right| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{k}{2} \rfloor} L^{-1} t_{L} + t_{L} \right) \right. \\ &+ \left| f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}') \right| \left(\sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor \frac{L_{1}-1}{2} \rfloor} L^{-1} t_{L} + t_{L} \right) + t_{L} |f(\phi_{0}')| + t_{L} |f(\phi_{L_{1}}')| \right] \\ &\leq c \ L^{-1} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{L_{1}-2} \left| \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{k} f(\phi_{k}') \right| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}-1}')| + |f(\phi_{0}')| + |f(\phi_{L_{1}}')| \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(4.5.19)

The constants c in (4.5.18) and (4.5.19) are independent of L, thus completing the proof of (4.2.8).

4.6 Norms of Fourier local convolutions and their kernels

This section establishes the estimate of the operator norm for the Fourier local convolution as noted in the introduction. As a convolution operator $V_L^{d,\delta}$, defined

by (4.1.6), has the following upper bound on its operator norm: Given $1 \le p \le \infty$ and $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\|V_L^{d,\delta}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_d L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \|f\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$
 (4.6.1)

The bound (4.6.1) is a consequence of the following lemmas.

Lemma 4.6.1. Let $d \ge 2$ be an integer, $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$, $0 < \delta < \pi/2$ and let $\alpha := (d-2)/2$. The operator norm of $V_L^{d,\delta}$ on $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is upper bounded by

$$\left\| V_L^{d,\delta} \right\|_{L_p \to L_p} \le c_d \left\| v_L^d \chi_{[-1,\cos\delta]} \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})}.$$
(4.6.2)

Proof. By (4.3.2) and (4.3.7),

$$\begin{split} \left\| V_L^{d,\delta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \left\| \int_{\delta}^{\pi} T_{\theta}(f; \cdot) v_L^d(\cos \theta) (\sin \theta)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \\ &\leq c_d \left\| T_{\theta}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \int_{\delta}^{\pi} |v_L^d(\cos \theta)| (\sin \theta)^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\leq c_d \left\| f \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \left\| v_L^d \, \chi_{[-1,\cos \delta]} \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})}. \end{split}$$

This completes the proof.

The essential order of the right-hand side of (4.6.2) is $L^{\frac{d-1}{2}}$, proved below.

Lemma 4.6.2. Let $d \ge 2$ and $\alpha := (d-2)/2$ and $-1 \le a < b \le 1$. Then,

$$\|v_L^d \chi_{[a,b]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})} \asymp L^{\frac{d-1}{2}},$$

where the constants in the inequalities depend only on a, b and d.

Proof. The proof of the upper bound comes from Lemmas 4.2.2 and 4.2.4. We give only the proof of the lower bound. Let $a := \cos \theta_2$, $b := \cos \theta_1$ with $0 \le \theta_1 < \theta_2 \le \pi$. For $0 \le \theta_1 < \theta_2 \le \pi/2$, $(\theta_1 + \theta_2)/2 > c^{(1)}L^{-1}$ when L is sufficiently large. Then by Lemma 2.6.1 and (4.2.4a),

91
$$\begin{aligned} \|v_L^d \chi_{[a,b]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})} &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^d|}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} \int_{\theta_1}^{\theta_2} |v_L^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta)| \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\geq c_1 \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \int_{(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\theta_2} \theta^{-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{d}{2}} \left|\cos\left(\left(L+\frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right| \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\quad - c_2 \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \int_{(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\theta_2} \theta^{-\frac{3}{2}-\frac{d}{2}} \, (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\geq c_3 \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \int_{(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\theta_2} \left|\cos\left(\left(L+\frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right| \, \mathrm{d}\theta - c_4 \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \\ &\geq c_3 \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \int_{(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\theta_2} \frac{1+\cos\left((2L+d)\theta - \frac{d+1}{2}\pi\right)}{2} \, \mathrm{d}\theta - c_4 \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \\ &\geq c_3 \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \left(\frac{\theta_2 - \theta_1}{4} - \frac{1}{2L+d}\right) - c_4 \, L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \\ &\geq c \, L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

for L large enough.

For $\pi/2 \leq \theta_1 < \theta_2 \leq \pi$, $\pi - (\theta_1 + \theta_2)/2 > c^{(1)}L^{-1}$ when L is sufficiently large. Then by (4.2.4b) as $L \to +\infty$, cf. (4.6.3),

$$\begin{split} \|v_L^d \,\chi_{[a,b]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})} &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^d|}{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|} \int_{\theta_1}^{\theta_2} |v_L^{(\alpha,\alpha)}(1,\cos\theta)| \,(\sin\theta)^{d-1} \,\,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\geq c_5 \,L^{\frac{d-1}{2}} \int_{\pi-(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\pi-\theta_1} \theta^{-\frac{1}{2}-\frac{d-2}{2}} \left|\cos\left(\left(L+\frac{d}{2}\right)\theta - \frac{d+1}{4}\pi\right)\right| \\ &\times (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \,\,\mathrm{d}\theta - c_6 \,L^{\frac{d-3}{2}} \int_{\pi-(\theta_1+\theta_2)/2}^{\pi-\theta_1} \theta^{-\frac{3}{2}-\frac{d-2}{2}} \,(\sin\theta)^{d-1} \,\,\mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\geq c \,L^{\frac{d-1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

For $0 \leq \theta_1 < \pi/2 < \theta_2 \leq \pi$, we can obtain the same lower bound by splitting the integral (over $[\theta_1, \theta_2]$) into two parts. Hence for $-1 \leq a < b \leq 1$,

$$\|v_L^d \chi_{[a,b]}\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(w_{\alpha,\alpha})} \ge c L^{\frac{d-1}{2}},$$

where c depends only on a, b and d. This completes the proof of the lower bound. \Box

Chapter 5

Fully discrete needlet approximations on the sphere

5.1Introduction

In this chapter, we introduce a *discrete* spherical needlet approximation scheme by using spherical quadrature rules to approximate the inner product integrals and establish its approximation error for functions in Sobolev spaces on the sphere. Numerical experiments are carried out for this fully discrete version of the spherical needlet approximation.

Given $N \ge 1$, for $k = 1, \ldots, N$, let \mathbf{x}_k be N nodes on \mathbb{S}^d and let $w_k > 0$ be corresponding weights. The set $\{(w_k, \mathbf{x}_k) : k = 1, \dots, N\}$ is a positive quadrature (numerical integration) rule exact for polynomials of degree up to ν for some $\nu \geq 0$ if

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} p(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{k=1}^N w_k \, p(\mathbf{x}_k), \quad \text{for all } p \in \mathbb{P}_{\nu}(\mathbb{S}^d).$$

Spherical needlets [51, 52] are a type of localised polynomial on the sphere associated with a quadrature rule and a filter. Let $\mathbb{R}_+ := [0, +\infty)$.

We now define a needlet, following [51] who used a $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ filter and [52]. Let the *needlet filter* h be a filter with truncation constant 2 and specified smoothness $\kappa \geq 1$ (see Figure 5.1 in Section 5.4 for an example with $\kappa = 5$) satisfying

$$h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+), \quad \text{supp } h = [1/2, 2];$$
 (5.1.1a)

$$h(t)^{2} + h(2t)^{2} = 1$$
 if $t \in [1/2, 1].$ (5.1.1b)

Condition (5.1.1b) is equivalent, given (5.1.1a), to the following partition of unity

property for h^2 ,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} h\left(\frac{t}{2^j}\right)^2 = 1, \quad t \ge 1.$$

For j = 0, 1, ..., we define the *(spherical) needlet quadrature*

$$\{(w_{jk}, \mathbf{x}_{jk}) : k = 1, \dots, N_j\}, \quad w_{jk} > 0, \ k = 1, \dots, N_j,$$
(5.1.2a)

exact for polynomials of degree up to
$$2^{j+1} - 1$$
. (5.1.2b)

A (spherical) needlet ψ_{jk} , $k = 1, ..., N_j$ of order j with needlet filter h and needlet quadrature (5.1.2) is then defined by

$$\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) := \sqrt{w_{jk}} \, v_{2^{j-1},h}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{jk}), \qquad (5.1.3a)$$

or equivalently, $\psi_{0k}(\mathbf{x}) := \sqrt{w_{0k}}$,

$$\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) := \sqrt{w_{jk}} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} h\left(\frac{\ell}{2^{j-1}}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{jk}), \text{ if } j \ge 1.$$
 (5.1.3b)

From (5.1.1a) we see that ψ_{jk} is a polynomial of degree $2^j - 1$. It is a band-limited polynomial, so that ψ_{jk} is \mathbb{L}_2 -orthogonal to all polynomials of degree $\leq 2^{j-2}$.

For $f \in \mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)$, the original *(spherical) needlet approximation* with filter h and needlet quadrature (5.1.2) is defined (see [51]) by

$$V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}) := \sum_{2^j \le L} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \left(f, \psi_{jk} \right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(5.1.4)

Note that $V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x})$ is a polynomial of degree at most L-1 since ψ_{jk} is a polynomial of degree $2^j - 1$, and that $V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x})$ is constant for L between consecutive powers of 2. We shall call $(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}$ the semidiscrete (spherical) needlet coefficient and $V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \cdot)$ the semidiscrete (spherical) needlet approximation to distinguish them from their fully discrete equivalents which we shall now introduce.

The discrete (spherical) needlet approximation is defined by discretising the inner-product integral

$$(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{y}) \, \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$$

with another quadrature rule. For $\nu \geq 0$ and $N \geq 1$, the discretisation quadrature rule is

$$\mathcal{Q}_N := \mathcal{Q}(\nu, N) := \{ (W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, \dots, N \}, \quad W_i > 0, \ i = 1, \dots, N, \quad (5.1.5a)$$

exact for polynomials of degree up to ν . (5.1.5b)

Let $C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ be the space of continuous functions on \mathbb{S}^d . For $f, g \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$, given \mathcal{Q}_N we define the *discrete inner product* by

$$(f,g)_{\mathcal{Q}_N} := \sum_{i=1}^N W_i f(\mathbf{y}_i) g(\mathbf{y}_i).$$

The discrete (spherical) needlet coefficient of f for \mathcal{Q}_N and ψ_{jk} is $(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N}$. We then define the discrete needlet approximation of degree L by

$$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{2^j \le L} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(5.1.6)

Let *h* be a needlet filter with $\kappa \geq d+1$ and let $\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d}) \subset \mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ with $s \geq 0$ be a Sobolev space on \mathbb{S}^{d} . In Theorem 5.3.5, we prove as a special case that for $\nu = 3L - 1$, i.e. $\mathcal{Q}_{N} = \mathcal{Q}(N, 3L - 1)$, the \mathbb{L}_{2} error using the approximation (5.1.6) for $f \in \mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ and s > d/2 has the convergence order $L^{-(s-\frac{d}{2}-\epsilon)}$ for any fixed $0 < \epsilon < s - d/2$, i.e.

$$\left\|f - V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(s - \frac{d}{2} - \epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \quad f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d),$$

where the constant c depends only on d, s, ϵ , h and κ . This contrasts with the corresponding result for semidiscrete needlet approximation, see [51] and Theorem 5.2.12:

$$\left\| f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \| f \|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

Thus discretisation of the needlet approximation causes a loss of order of approximation for f in a Sobolev space. The loss of order in the fully discrete case seems inevitable, given that the approximation (5.1.6) needs point values of f, and hence needs $f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s satisfying the embedding condition s > d/2 to ensure the continuity of f. The semidiscrete approximation, in contrast, does not require the continuity of f, and does not need s > d/2.

In Sections 5.2 and 5.3 we establish the connection to wavelets, and prove that the needlet approximation is equivalent to a filtered approximation and that the discrete needlet approximation is equivalent to filtered hyperinterpolation [68] — a fully discrete version of the filtered approximation. These connections draw attention to the fact that the discrete needlet approximation considered in the present thesis is not of itself new: what we have done is to express the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation in terms of a frame $\{\psi_{jk}\}$ of the polynomial space where the frame has strong localisation properties. The benefit will become apparent, however, if we take advantage of the local nature of the approximation to carry out local refinement. We make a preliminary study of local refinement of this kind in a numerical experiment in Section 5.4, though in this thesis we do not develop the local theory. Rather, our main emphasis in this chapter is on establishing the necessary theoretical tools for the discrete needlet approximation, on demonstrating the precise relationship between the various approximations, and on obtaining a global error analysis for f in Sobolev spaces.

We note that Mhaskar [45, 47] proposed a full-discrete filtered polynomial approximation which is equivalent to filtered hyperinterpolation. A central assumption in [45, 47], in addition to polynomial exactness, is that a Marcinkiewicz-Zygmund (M-Z) inequality is satisfied. Quadrature rules with positive weights and polynomial exactness automatically satisfy an M-Z inequality (see Dai [18, Theorem 2.1] and Mhaskar [47, Theorem 3.3]). However, neither decomposition of wavelets into needlets nor numerical implementation were studied in [45, 47].

The chapter is organised as follows. Section 5.2 studies the semidiscrete needlet approximation and its \mathbb{L}_p approximation errors for f in Sobolev spaces on \mathbb{S}^d , and its connection with the filtered approximation and continuous wavelets. In Section 5.3, we discuss the fully discrete needlet approximation and prove its approximation error for $f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and exploit its relation to the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation and discrete wavelets. In Section 5.4, we give numerical examples of needlets and then some numerical experiments. Sections 5.5.1 and 5.5.2 give the proofs for the results in Sections 5.2 and 5.3 respectively.

5.2 Filtered operators, needlets and wavelets

In this section, we study the properties of the filtered kernel, needlets and wavelets, and their relationships.

5.2.1 Semidiscrete needlets and continuous wavelets

We now point out the relation between spherical needlets and spherical wavelet decompositions. Let h be a needlet filter satisfying (5.1.1). Obviously the semidiscrete needlet approximation (5.1.4) can be written, for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$, as

$$V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}) = \sum_{2^j \le L} \mathcal{U}_j(f; \mathbf{x}),$$

where $\mathcal{U}_j(f)$ is the contribution to the semidiscrete needlet approximation for level j:

$$\mathcal{U}_{j}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} \left(f, \psi_{jk}\right)_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}).$$
(5.2.1)

In the language of wavelets, we may consider $\mathcal{U}_j(f; \mathbf{x})$ to be the level-*j* "detail" of the approximation $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$.

Needlets have a close relation to filtered polynomial approximations. At the heart of this relationship is the following expression, due to [51], and stated formally in Theorem 5.2.9 below: if ψ_{jk} denotes the needlets of order $j \ge 0$ with needlet filter h and needlet quadrature (5.1.2), then

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \ \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \tag{5.2.2}$$

in which the filter on the right-hand side, it should be noted, is h^2 , the square of the needlet filter. This means that the level-*j* contribution to the semidiscrete needlet approximation can be written, using (5.2.1), as

$$\mathcal{U}_{j}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d}} f(\mathbf{x}) v_{2^{j-1},h^{2}}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d}(\mathbf{y})$$

To obtain the full semidiscrete needlet approximation we need to sum over j. For this purpose we introduce a new filter H related to the needlet filter h:

$$H(t) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le t < 1, \\ h(t)^2, & t \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.2.3)

and use the property

$$H\left(\frac{t}{2^J}\right) = \sum_{j=0}^J h\left(\frac{t}{2^j}\right)^2, \quad t \ge 1, \ J \in \mathbb{Z}_+, \tag{5.2.4}$$

which is an easy consequence of (5.1.1). We note that this implies $H \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ given $h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$. It then follows that $\sum_{j=0}^{J} v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) = v_{2^{J-1},H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), J = 0, 1, \ldots$, and as a result the semidiscrete needlet approximation can be expressed as

$$V_L^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{x}) v_{2^{J-1}, H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$$

with $J := \lfloor \log_2(L) \rfloor$.

5.2.2 Filtered operators and their kernels

Recall the definition (2.6.5) of a filtered kernel. The convolution of two filtered kernels is also a filtered kernel. In particular, we have

Proposition 5.2.1. Let $d \ge 2$ and let g be a filter. Then for $T \ge 0$ and $\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{z} \in \mathbb{S}^d$,

$$\left(v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot), v_{T,g}(\mathbf{z}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}) v_{T,g}(\mathbf{z}\cdot\mathbf{y}) \,\mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = v_{T,g^2}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{z}).$$
(5.2.5)

Proof. For $0 \le T < 1$, by (2.6.5), both sides of (5.2.5) equal 1. We now prove (5.2.5) for $T \ge 1$. By (2.6.5) and (2.2.2),

$$\begin{split} \left(v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot), v_{T,g}(\mathbf{z} \cdot \cdot) \right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \\ &= \left(\sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot), \sum_{\ell'=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell'}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell') P_{\ell'}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{z} \cdot \cdot) \right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \\ &= \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right)^2 Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{z}) = v_{T,g^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{z}), \end{split}$$

thus completing the proof.

When the filter is sufficiently smooth, the filtered kernel is strongly localised. This is shown in the following theorem proved by Narcowich et al. [52, Theorem 3.5, p. 584]. For integer $\kappa \geq 0$, let $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ be the set of all κ times continuously differentiable functions on \mathbb{R}_+ .

Theorem 5.2.2 ([52]). Let g be a filter in $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $1 \leq \kappa < \infty$ such that g(t) is a constant in [0, a] for some a > 0. Then

$$\left| v_{T,g}(\cos \theta) \right| \le \frac{c \, T^d}{(1+T\theta)^{\kappa}}, \quad T \ge 1, \tag{5.2.6}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, g and κ .

We give an alternative proof of Theorem 5.2.2 in Section 5.5.1, using different techniques.

Remark. Dai and Xu [19, Lemma 2.6.7, p. 48] proved (5.2.6) for $g \in C^{3\kappa+1}(\mathbb{R}_+)$. Brown and Dai [13, Eq. 3.5, p. 409] and Narcowich et al. [51, Theorem 2.2, p. 533] proved that for $g \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$, (5.2.6) holds for all positive integers κ .

From Theorem 5.2.2, we may prove the boundedness of the \mathbb{L}_1 -norm of the filtered kernel, see [52, Corollary 3.6, p. 584]:

Theorem 5.2.3 ([52]). Let g be a filter in $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $\kappa \ge d+1$ such that g(t) is a constant in [0, a] for some a > 0. Then

$$\left\| v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,g,\kappa}, \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d, \ T \ge 0.$$

For completeness, we give the proof of Theorem 5.2.3 in Section 5.5.1.

Applying the convolution inequality of [8, Eq. 1.14, p. 207-208] to (2.6.6) gives

$$\left\| V_{T,g}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le \left\| v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)} \| f \|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$

Thus by Theorem 5.2.3, the operator norm of the filtered approximation $V_{T,g}$ on $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is bounded for g satisfying the condition of Theorem 5.2.2:

Corollary 5.2.4. Let g satisfy the condition of Theorem 5.2.2 and let $1 \le p \le \infty$. Then the filtered approximation $V_{T,g}$ on $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is an operator of strong type (p, p), *i.e.*

$$\left\| V_{T,g} \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p \to \mathbb{L}_p} \le c_{d,g,\kappa}, \quad T \ge 0.$$

For $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, the \mathbb{L}_p error of best approximation of order L for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is defined by $E_L(f)_p := E_L(f)_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} := \inf_{p \in \mathbb{P}_L(\mathbb{S}^d)} ||f - p||_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$

For given $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $p \in [1, \infty]$, $E_L(f)_p$ is a non-increasing sequence. Since $\bigcup_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{P}_\ell(\mathbb{S}^d)$ is dense in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$, the error of best approximation converges to zero as $L \to \infty$, i.e. $\lim_{L\to\infty} E_L(f)_p = 0$, for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

The error of best approximation for functions in a Sobolev space has the following upper bound, see [37] and also [49, p. 1662].

Lemma 5.2.5 ([37, 49]). Let $d \ge 2$, s > 0 and $1 \le p \le \infty$. For $L \ge 1$ and $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$E_L(f)_p \le c \ L^{-s} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}^s_p(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p and s.

The filtered approximation $V_{L,H}$ has a near-best approximation error for sufficiently smooth H in the sense of being within a constant factor of a best approximation error, as shown by the following lemma.

Theorem 5.2.6. Let $d \ge 2$ and $1 \le p \le \infty$ and let H be the filter given by (5.2.3) with $h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $\kappa \ge d+1$. Then for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$\|f - V_{L,H}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c E_L(f)_p,$$
 (5.2.7)

where the constant c depends only on d, H and κ .

The proof of Theorem 5.2.6 is given in Section 5.5.1.

Remark. The estimate (5.2.7) is a generalisation of the results of Rustamov [64, Lemma 3.1, p. 316] and Sloan [67]. Rustamov proved (5.2.7) for $H \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ while Sloan showed (5.2.7) for $p = \infty$, $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $H \in C^{d+1}(\mathbb{R}_+)$, and even for certain piecewise polynomial filters H belonging to $C^{d-1}(\mathbb{R}_+)$.

Lemma 5.2.5 and Theorem 5.2.6 give the error of the filtered approximation for Sobolev spaces:

Corollary 5.2.7. With the assumptions of Theorem 5.2.6, for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s > 0 and $L \ge 1$,

 $\left\|f - V_{L,H}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, H and κ .

5.2.3 Semidiscrete needlet approximations

The smoothness of the filter makes the needlet ψ_{jk} localised. This can be seen from the following corollary of Theorem 5.2.2, first proved by Narcowich et al. in [52, Corollary 5.3, p. 592].

Corollary 5.2.8 ([52]). Let h be a needlet filter, satisfying (5.1.1). If $h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $\kappa \geq 1$, then

$$|\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x})| \le \frac{c \, 2^{jd}}{\left(1 + 2^j \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}_{jk})\right)^{\kappa}}, \quad \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d, \ j \ge 0, \ k = 1, \dots, N_j,$$

where the constant c depends only on d, h and κ .

The following theorem shows, as foreshadowed in (5.2.2), that an appropriate sum of products of needlets is exactly a filtered kernel. It is implicit in [51].

Theorem 5.2.9 (Needlets and filtered kernel). Let h be a needlet filter, see (5.1.1), and let H be given by (5.2.3). For $j \ge 0$ and $1 \le k \le N_j$, let ψ_{jk} be needlets with filter h and needlet quadrature (5.1.2). Then,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \,\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \quad j \ge 0,$$
(5.2.8a)

$$\sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \,\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = v_{2^{J-1},H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}), \quad J \ge 0.$$
(5.2.8b)

For completeness we give a proof.

Proof. For j = 0, by (5.1.3a) and (2.6.5),

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_0} \psi_{0k}(\mathbf{x}) \ \psi_{0k}(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{k=1}^{N_0} w_{0k} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{z}) = 1 = v_{2^{-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$

For $j \ge 1$, using (5.1.3b) and the fact that the filter h has support [1/2, 2], we have (noting h(2) = 0)

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \ \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{2^j-1} \sum_{\ell'=0}^{2^j-1} h\left(\frac{\ell}{2^{j-1}}\right) h\left(\frac{\ell'}{2^{j-1}}\right) \\ \times \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} w_{jk} \ Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{jk}) \ Z(d,\ell') P_{\ell'}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{y} \cdot \mathbf{x}_{jk}).$$
(5.2.9)

Since $\{(w_{jk}, \mathbf{x}_{jk}) : k = 1, ..., N_j\}$ is exact for polynomials of degree $2^{j+1} - 1$, the sum $\sum_{k=1}^{N_j}$ over quadrature points in (5.2.9) is equal to the integral over \mathbb{S}^d . Then

by (2.2.1) and the definition of the filtered kernel, see (2.6.5), the equation (5.2.9) gives

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \,\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} h\left(\frac{\ell}{2^{j-1}}\right)^2 Z(d,\ell) \,P_\ell^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}) = v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\mathbf{y}). \quad (5.2.10)$$

This proves (5.2.8a).

For $J \ge 0$, by (5.2.10) and (5.2.4), we now have, using h(0) = 0,

$$\sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) \,\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) = 1 + \sum_{j=1}^{J} \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} h\left(\frac{\ell}{2^{j-1}}\right)^2 Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$$
$$= 1 + \sum_{\ell=1}^{\infty} \left(\sum_{j=0}^{J-1} h\left(\frac{\ell}{2^j}\right)^2\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} H\left(\frac{\ell}{2^{J-1}}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$

This completes the proof.

Theorem 5.2.9 with (2.6.6) leads to the following equivalence of the filtered approximation with filter H and the semidiscrete needlet approximation (5.1.4).

Theorem 5.2.10. Under the assumption of Theorem 5.2.9, for $f \in \mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $J \ge 0$,

$$V_{2^{J-1},H}(f) = \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \psi_{jk} = V_{2^J}^{\text{need}}(f).$$
(5.2.11)

Theorems 5.2.6 and 5.2.10 imply that the semidiscrete needlet approximation has a near-best approximation error.

Theorem 5.2.11. For $L \ge 1$, let $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$, see (5.1.4), be the semidiscrete needlet approximation with needlets ψ_{jk} , see (5.1.3), for filter smoothness $\kappa \ge d+1$. Then for $f \in \mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$\left\|f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, E_{\lceil \frac{L}{2} \rceil}(f)_p,$$

where the constant c depends only on d, the filter h and κ .

Proof. For $L \ge 1$, let $J := \lfloor \log_2(L) \rfloor$, from which follows $L/2 < 2^J \le L$, and hence $V_L^{\text{need}}(f) = V_{2^J}^{\text{need}}(f)$. By Theorem 5.2.10, the approximation by the semidiscrete needlets $V_{2^J}^{\text{need}}(f)$ is equivalent to that by filtered approximation $V_{2^{J-1},H}(f)$. Then the definition (5.1.4) of $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ and (5.2.7) of Theorem 5.2.6 together with Theorem 5.2.10 and the non-increasing monotonicity of the sequence $E_L(f)_p$ give

$$\left\| f - V_{L}^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} = \left\| f - V_{2^{J-1},H}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \le c_{d,H,\kappa} E_{2^{J-1}}(f)_{p} \le c_{d,h,\kappa} E_{\lceil \frac{L}{2} \rceil}(f)_{p}.$$

Theorem 5.2.11 and Lemma 5.2.5 imply a rate of convergence of the approximation error of $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ for f in a Sobolev space, as follows.

Theorem 5.2.12. Under the assumption of Theorem 5.2.11, we have for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s > 0 and $L \ge 1$,

$$\left\|f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, h and κ .

5.3 Discrete needlet approximations

To implement the needlet approximation in a numerical computation, we need to discretise the continuous inner product $(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}$ in (5.1.4). We make use of the quadrature rule in (5.1.5) to replace the continuous inner product by a discrete version. In this section, we estimate the error by the discrete needlet approximation for the Sobolev space $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $2 \leq p \leq \infty$.

5.3.1 Discrete needlets and filtered hyperinterpolation

Let ψ_{jk} be needlets satisfying (5.1.3), and let $\mathcal{Q}_N := \mathcal{Q}(N, \ell) := \{(W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, \ldots, N\}$ be a discretisation quadrature rule that is exact for polynomials of degree up to some ℓ , yet to be fixed. Applying the quadrature rule \mathcal{Q}_N to the needlet coefficient $(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} f(\mathbf{y}) \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}) d\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})$, we obtain the discrete needlet coefficient

$$(f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} = \sum_{i=1}^N W_i f(\mathbf{y}_i) \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}_i).$$
(5.3.1)

This turns the semidiscrete needlet approximation (5.1.4) into the (fully) discrete needlet approximation:

$$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f) = \sum_{2^{j} \le L} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_{N}} \psi_{jk}$$
(5.3.2)

In a similar way to the semidiscrete case, cf. (5.2.11) of Theorem 5.2.10, the discrete needlet approximation (5.3.2) is equivalent to filtered hyperinterpolation, which we now introduce.

The filtered hyperinterpolation approximation with a filtered kernel $v_{T,g}$ in (2.6.5) and discretisation quadrature Q_N in (5.1.5) is

$$V_{T,g,N}^d(f;\mathbf{x}) := V_{T,g,N}^d(f;\mathbf{x}) := \left(f, v_{T,g}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x})\right)_{\mathcal{Q}_N} := \sum_{i=1}^N W_i f(\mathbf{y}_i) v_{T,g}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{x}), \quad T \in \mathbb{R}_+$$

$$(5.3.3)$$

as named by Sloan and Womersley [68]; see also [41] and [35].

Theorem 5.3.1. Let h be a needlet filter given by (5.1.1) and let the filter H be given by (5.2.3). For $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $J \ge 0$,

$$V_{2^{J-1},H,N}^d(f) = \sum_{j=0}^J \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f,\psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} \psi_{jk} = V_{2^J,N}^{\text{need}}(f).$$
(5.3.4)

Remark. Note that in Theorem 5.3.1 we do not yet require the number N of nodes of the discretisation quadrature to depend on the degree 2^{J} of the discrete needlet approximation.

Proof. Applying (5.2.8b) of Theorem 5.2.9 to $v_{2^{J-1},H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{x})$, cf. (5.3.3), and using (5.3.1), we have

$$V_{2^{J-1},H,N}^{d}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i} f(\mathbf{y}_{i}) \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}_{i}) \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x})$$

$$= \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i} f(\mathbf{y}_{i}) \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{y}_{i}) \right) \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{j}} (f, \psi_{jk}) \varrho_{N} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}),$$

which gives (5.3.4).

which gives (5.3.4).

5.3.2Error for filtered hyperinterpolation

By Theorem 5.3.1, the discrete needlet approximation, if regarded as a function over the entire sphere, reduces to the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation. In this section, we estimate the approximation error of the filtered hyperinterpolation or discrete needlet approximation for f in Sobolev spaces $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $2 \leq p \leq \infty$ and s > d/p.

By Corollary 5.2.7, the filtered approximation $V_{L,H}(f)$ has the following approximation error for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $1 \leq p \leq \infty$ and s > 0:

$$\|f - V_{L,H}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \quad f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d), \tag{5.3.5}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, s, filter H and κ . We now want error bounds for $V_{L,H,N}^d$.

For that discrete version of the filtered approximation, Le Gia and Mhaskar [41], and Sloan and Womersley [68] obtained the truncation error (5.3.5) for $f \in \mathbb{W}^s_{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s > 0, as stated in Theorem 5.3.2 below. Given $L \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, let

$$Q_N := Q(N, 3L - 1) := \{ (W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, 2, \dots, N \}$$
(5.3.6)

be a discretisation quadrature exact for polynomials of degree up to 3L-1.

Theorem 5.3.2 ([41, 68]). Given a needlet filter h, let $V_{L,H,N}^d$ be the filtered hyperinterpolation in (5.3.3) with \mathcal{Q}_N given by (5.3.6) and filter H given by (5.2.3) and satisfying $H \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for $\kappa \geq d+1$. Then, for $f \in \mathbb{W}_{\infty}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $s \geq 0$,

$$\left\|f - V_{L,H,N}^d(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{\infty}(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-s} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{\infty}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, s, H and κ .

The proof of Theorem 5.3.2 uses the same argument as the proof of (5.3.5), that is, it uses the fact that $V_{L,H,N}^d$ is bounded on $C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and is thus a near-best approximation operator for $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$, and that the upper bound of the error of best approximation for $f \in \mathbb{W}_{\infty}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ has convergence order L^{-s} , see Lemma 5.2.5. This strategy, however, is less effective for $p < \infty$ since we do not have the boundedness of $V_{L,H,N}^d$ in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$, because point evaluation is not a bounded linear functional in $\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)$.

In the following theorem, we make use of the localisation of the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation to prove that the truncation error of $V_{L,H,N}^d$ for $f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with s > d/2 is $\mathcal{O}\left(L^{-(s-\frac{d}{2}-\epsilon)}\right)$ for any given $0 < \epsilon < s - d/2$.

Theorem 5.3.3. Given a needlet filter h, let $V_{L,H,N}^d$ be the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation in (5.3.3) with \mathcal{Q}_N given by (5.3.6) and filter H given by (5.2.3) and satisfying $H \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for $\kappa \ge d+1$, and let s > d/2. Then, given $0 < \epsilon < s - d/2$, for $f \in \mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$,

$$\|f - V_{L,H,N}^d(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c L^{-(s - \frac{d}{2} - \epsilon)} \|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, s, ϵ , H and κ .

Theorem 5.3.3 will be proved in Section 5.5.2.

Remark. We note that [47, Theorems 3.1 and 3.3] will imply a result of similar nature to Theorem 5.3.3 but here we offer a more direct proof.

An interpolation argument, see e.g. [75, Chapter 1], with Theorems 5.3.2 and 5.3.3 taken together, then gives the following approximation error of $V_{L,H,N}^d(f)$ for $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ with $p \in [2, \infty]$ and s > d/p.

Corollary 5.3.4. Let $d \ge 2$, $2 \le p \le \infty$ and s > d/p, and let $V_{L,H,N}^d$ be the filtered hyperinterpolation approximation in (5.3.3) with \mathcal{Q}_N given by (5.3.6) and filter H given by (5.2.3) and satisfying $H \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for $\kappa \ge d+1$. Then, given $0 < \epsilon < s - d/p$, for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$\left\| f - V_{L,H,N}^d(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(s-\frac{d}{p}-\epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, ϵ , H and κ .

Corollary 5.3.4 with Theorem 5.3.1 gives the errors for the discrete needlet approximation of $f \in W_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$, $2 \le p \le \infty$, as follows.

Theorem 5.3.5 (Error by discrete needlets for $\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$). Let $d \ge 2, 2 \le p \le \infty$ and s > d/p, and let $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}$ be the discrete needlet approximation given by (5.1.6) with needlet filter $h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $\kappa \ge d+1$ and with discretisation quadrature \mathcal{Q}_N in (5.3.6). Then, given $0 < \epsilon < s - d/p$, for $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$\left\|f - V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(s - \frac{d}{p} - \epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, ϵ , h and κ .

5.3.3 Discrete needlets and discrete wavelets

Let \mathcal{Q}_N be a discretisation quadrature rule given by (5.1.5). The discrete needlet approximation $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}$ in (5.1.6) can be written, for $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$, as

$$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}) = \sum_{2^{j} \le L} \mathcal{U}_{jN}(f; \mathbf{x}), \qquad (5.3.7)$$

where \mathcal{U}_{jN} is the *level-j* contribution of the discrete needlet approximation defined by

$$\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f;\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), \quad f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d), \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d.$$
(5.3.8)

Using (5.2.8a) then gives

$$\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \left(f, \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} \psi_{jk}(\cdot)\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x})\right)_{\mathcal{Q}_N} = \left(f, v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x}\cdot\cdot)\right)_{\mathcal{Q}_N} = V_{2^{j-1},h^2,N}^d(f;\mathbf{x}),$$
(5.3.9)

where the filtered kernel $v_{2^{j-1},h^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ is given by (2.6.5).

Using (5.2.8b) and (5.3.9) with (2.6.6) gives the following representation of filtered hyperinterpolation in terms of \mathcal{U}_{iN} .

Theorem 5.3.6. Let $d \ge 2$ and let $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$ be the level-j contribution of the discrete needlet approximation in (5.3.7) and let H be the filter given by (5.2.3). Then for $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $J \ge 0$,

$$V_{2^{J-1},H,N}^d(f) = \sum_{j=0}^J \mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$$

Theorems 5.3.1 and 5.3.6 with (5.3.3) and (5.3.9) imply the following representation for $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}$.

Corollary 5.3.7. Let h be a needlet filter given by (5.1.1) and let the filter H be given by (5.2.3). For $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $L \ge 1$,

$$V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f;\mathbf{x}) = \sum_{2^{j} \le L} \sum_{i=1}^{N_{j}} W_{i} f(\mathbf{y}_{i}) v_{2^{j-1},h^{2}}(\mathbf{y}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{x}) = (f, v_{2^{J-1},H}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x}))_{\mathcal{Q}_{N}}, \quad (5.3.10)$$

where $J := \lfloor \log_2(L) \rfloor$.

The theorem below shows that the \mathbb{L}_p -norm of $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$ decays to zero exponentially with respect to order j. This means that the different levels of a discrete needlet approximation have different contributions and $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$ thus forms a multi-level decomposition. We can hence regard $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$ as a discrete wavelet transform.

Theorem 5.3.8. Let $d \geq 2$ and let \mathcal{U}_{jN} be the level-j contribution of the discrete needlet approximation in (5.3.7) and let the needlet filter h satisfy $h \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $\kappa \geq d+1$, and let $2 \leq p \leq \infty$ and s > d/p. Then for $0 < \epsilon < s - d/p$, $f \in \mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)$ and $j \geq 1$,

$$\left\|\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)\right\|_{\mathbb{L}_p(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, 2^{-j(s-\frac{d}{p}-\epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_p^s(\mathbb{S}^d)},$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, ϵ , h and κ .

Remark. When $p = \infty$, ϵ can be replaced by zero.

Proof of Theorem 5.3.8. Theorem 5.3.6 shows that $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f)$ is the difference of two filtered hyperinterpolation approximations: for $j \geq 1$,

$$\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f) = V^d_{2^{j-1},H,N}(f) - V^d_{2^{j-2},H,N}(f).$$

This with Corollary 5.3.4 gives

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{U}_{jN}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq \left\| V_{2^{j-1},H,N}^{d}(f) - f \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \left\| f - V_{2^{j-2},H,N}^{d}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq c \, 2^{-j(s - \frac{d}{p} - \epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_{p}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}, \end{aligned}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, p, s, ϵ , h and κ .

5.4 Numerical examples

In this section we give a computational strategy for discrete needlet approximation and show the results of some numerical experiments. For the semidiscrete needlet case the approximation is not computable, but we are able to infer the error indirectly by using the Fourier-Laplace series of the test function to evaluate the \mathbb{L}_2 error. The last part gives an example of a *localised discrete needlet approximation* with high accuracy over a local region.

5.4.1 Algorithm

Algorithm 5.4.1. Consider computing the discrete needlet approximation $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f; \mathbf{x}'_i)$ of order $J := \lfloor \log_2(L) \rfloor$ with needlet filter h at a set of points $\{\mathbf{x}'_i : i = 1, ..., M\}$. The needlet quadrature rules $\{(w_{jk}, \mathbf{x}_{jk}) : k = 1, ..., N_j\}$ are exact for polynomials of degree $2^{j+1} - 1$. The major steps are analysis and synthesis.

1. Analysis: Compute the discrete needlet coefficients $(f, \psi_{jk})_{Q_N}$, $k = 1, ..., N_j$, j = 0, ..., J using a discretisation quadrature rule $Q_N = Q(N, 3L - 1) = \{(W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, ..., N\}$.

2. Synthesis: Compute the discrete needlet approximation $\sum_{j=0}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_j} (f, \psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}'_i), i = 1, \dots, M.$

Needlet filters. Here $\psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}'_i)$ is computed by (5.1.3b) where the normalised Legendre polynomial $P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(t)$ is computed by the three-term recurrence formula, see [54, § 18.9(i)] and the needlet filter may be computed as follows. For construction of other needlet filters, see e.g. [43, 51].

Given $\kappa \ge 1$, let p(t) be a polynomial of degree $2\kappa + 2$ of the form

$$p(t) := \sum_{k=\kappa+1}^{2\kappa+2} a_k (1-t)^k, \quad t \in [0,1],$$
(5.4.1)

where the coefficients a_k are uniquely determined real numbers satisfying p(0) = 1and the *i*th derivatives of p(t) at t = 0 for $1 \le i \le \kappa + 1$ are zero. Clearly, p(1) = 0and all the *j*th derivatives of p(t), $1 \le j \le \kappa$, at t = 1 are zero. Then it can be shown that

$$h(t) := \begin{cases} p(t-1), & 1 \le t \le 2, \\ \sqrt{1 - [p(2t-1)]^2}, & 1/2 \le t \le 1, \\ 0, & \text{elsewhere} \end{cases}$$

is a filter *h* satisfying (5.1.1). This section uses $\kappa = 5$, where the coefficients in (5.4.1) are: $a_6 = 924$, $a_7 = -4752$, $a_8 = 10395$, $a_9 = -12320$, $a_{10} = 8316$, $a_{11} = -3024$, $a_{12} = 462$, giving the filter *h* illustrated in Figure 5.1.

Figure 5.2 shows an order-6 needlet with the filter given in Figure 5.1. We see that it is very localised.

Quadrature rules. We use symmetric spherical designs for integration on \mathbb{S}^2 , as recently developed by Womersley [80, 81], for both the needlet quadrature rule and the discretisation quadrature rule. Let t be a non-negative integer. A symmetric (if \mathbf{x}_i is a node so is $-\mathbf{x}_i$) spherical t-design is a quadrature rule with equal weights and exact for all polynomials of degree at most t. In these experiments the rules have $2\left|\frac{t^2+t+4}{4}\right| \approx t^2/2$ nodes.





Figure 5.1: Needlet filter $h \in C^5(\mathbb{R}_+)$

Figure 5.2: An order-6 needlet with a C^5 -needlet filter

Cost of algorithm. Using a symmetric spherical *t*-design, a needlet quadrature rule for level *j* has $N_j \approx 2^{2j+1}$ nodes, giving a total of $\sum_{j=0}^{J} N_j \approx \frac{8}{3} \times 2^{2J}$ nodes for all *J* levels as the symmetric spherical *t*-designs are not nested. Similarly, a discretisation quadrature rule exact up to degree $3 \times 2^J - 1$ has $N \approx \frac{9}{2} \times 2^{2J}$ nodes. Thus the analysis step to evaluate the needlet coefficients requires $\frac{8}{3} \times 2^{2J}N$ evaluations of *f*. The synthesis step only involves a weighted sum of the needlets evaluated at *M* (possibly very large) points. At high levels the number of needlets is large, for example when J = 6, L = 64, $N_J = 8130$ and N = 18338.

5.4.2 Needlet approximations for the entire sphere

This section illustrates the discrete needlet approximation of a function f that is a linear combination of scaled Wendland radial basis functions on \mathbb{S}^2 , see [79]. The advantage of this choice is that the Wendland functions have varying smoothness, and belong to known Sobolev spaces.

Let $(r)_+ := \max\{r, 0\}$ for $r \in \mathbb{R}$. The original Wendland functions are [79]

$$\begin{cases} (1-r)_{+}^{2}, & k = 0, \\ (1-r)_{+}^{4}(4r+1), & k = 1, \end{cases}$$

$$\widetilde{\phi}_{k}(r) := \begin{cases} (1-r)_{+}^{6} (35r^{2} + 18r + 3)/3, & k = 2, \\ (1-r)_{+}^{8} (32r^{3} + 25r^{2} + 8r + 1), & k = 3, \\ (1-r)_{+}^{10} (429r^{4} + 450r^{3} + 210r^{2} + 50r + 5)/5, & k = 4. \end{cases}$$



Figure 5.3: The test function f_2

The normalised (equal area) Wendland functions as defined in [17] are

$$\phi_k(r) := \widetilde{\phi}_k\left(\frac{r}{\delta_k}\right), \quad \delta_k := \frac{(3k+3)\Gamma(k+\frac{1}{2})}{2\,\Gamma(k+1)}, \quad k \ge 0$$

The Wendland functions scaled this way have the property of converging pointwise to a Gaussian as $k \to \infty$, see Chernih et al. [17]. Thus as k increases the main change is to the smoothness of f. We write $\phi(r) := \phi_k(r)$ for brevity if no confusion arises.

Let $\mathbf{z}_1 := (1, 0, 0), \mathbf{z}_2 := (-1, 0, 0), \mathbf{z}_3 := (0, 1, 0), \mathbf{z}_4 := (0, -1, 0), \mathbf{z}_5 := (0, 0, 1),$ $\mathbf{z}_6 := (0, 0, -1)$ be six points on \mathbb{S}^2 and define [42]

$$f(\mathbf{x}) := f_k(\mathbf{x}) := \sum_{i=1}^{6} \phi_k(|\mathbf{z}_i - \mathbf{x}|), \quad k \ge 0,$$
(5.4.2)

where $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean distance.

Narcowich and Ward [53] and Le Gia, Sloan and Wendland [42] proved that $f_k \in \mathbb{H}^{k+\frac{3}{2}}(\mathbb{S}^2)$. Figure 5.3 shows the picture of f_2 , which belongs to $\mathbb{H}^{\frac{7}{2}}(\mathbb{S}^2)$. The function f_k has limited smoothness at the centres \mathbf{z}_i and at the boundary of each cap with centre \mathbf{z}_i . These features make f_k relatively difficult to approximate in these regions, especially for small k.

 \mathbb{L}_2 approximation error. We show the \mathbb{L}_2 errors when using V_L^{need} and by $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}$. For $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f)$ we compute its \mathbb{L}_2 error by discretising the squared \mathbb{L}_2 -norm by a quadrature rule. We cannot compute the \mathbb{L}_2 error for $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ in this way as we do not have access to exact integrals for the inner products. As the test function in (5.4.2) is a linear combination of Wendland functions, we are able to approximate the \mathbb{L}_2 error of $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ by truncating the Fourier-Laplace expansion and using the known Fourier coefficients of Wendland functions. We make use of the Fourier-Laplace coefficients of f to compute the L₂-error of the semidiscrete needlet approximation over the entire sphere, as follows. By Theorem 5.2.10 and the definition of the filtered approximation, see (2.6.5) and (2.6.6), and the addition theorem, see (2.1.8), the Fourier coefficients of $V_L^{\text{need}}(f)$ are $H(\ell/L) \hat{f}_{\ell m}$. Then the Parseval's identity gives

$$\left\| f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^2)}^2 = \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{2\ell+1} \left(1 - H\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \right)^2 |\widehat{f}_{\ell m}|^2.$$
(5.4.3)

We expand $\phi(\sqrt{2-2t})$ in terms of $P_{\ell}(t)$:

$$\phi(\sqrt{2-2t}) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \widehat{\phi}_{\ell} (2\ell+1) P_{\ell}(t),$$

where $P_{\ell}(t)$ is the Legendre polynomial of degree ℓ and

$$\widehat{\phi}_{\ell} := \frac{1}{2} \int_{-1}^{1} \phi(\sqrt{2-2t}) P_{\ell}(t) \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad \ell \ge 0.$$
(5.4.4)

Using the addition theorem again,

$$\phi(|\mathbf{z}_i - \mathbf{x}|) = \phi\left(\sqrt{2 - 2\,\mathbf{z}_i \cdot \mathbf{x}}\right) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \widehat{\phi}_\ell \,(2\ell+1) P_\ell(\mathbf{z}_i \cdot \mathbf{x})$$
$$= \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{2\ell+1} \widehat{\phi}_\ell \,Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{z}_i) Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{x}),$$

which with (5.4.2) gives

$$\widehat{f}_{\ell m} = (f, Y_{\ell, m})_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = \widehat{\phi}_{\ell} \sum_{i=1}^6 Y_{\ell, m}(\mathbf{z}_i).$$

This with (5.4.3) and the addition theorem together gives

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| f - V_L^{\text{need}}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}^2 &= \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{2\ell+1} \left(1 - H\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \right)^2 \left| \widehat{\phi}_\ell \right|^2 \left(\sum_{i=1}^6 Y_{\ell,m}(\mathbf{z}_i) \right)^2 \\ &= \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} \left(1 - H\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right) \right)^2 \left| \widehat{\phi}_\ell \right|^2 \sum_{i=1}^6 \sum_{i=1}^6 (2\ell+1) P_\ell(\mathbf{z}_i \cdot \mathbf{z}_j), \quad (5.4.5) \end{aligned}$$

where we use the Gauss-Legendre rule to compute the one-dimensional integral (5.4.4) for $\hat{\phi}_{\ell}$ to the desired accuracy.

Figure 5.4a shows the \mathbb{L}_2 -error of the semidiscrete needlet approximation $V_L^{\text{need}}(f_k)$ for k = 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, where we used the filter h of Figure 5.1, with H then given by (5.2.4), and the degree of semidiscrete needlet approximation is $L = 2^J, J = 1, \ldots, 6$,



Figure 5.4: \mathbb{L}_2 -errors for needlet approximations of test functions f_k using Wendland functions of different smoothness k

and the truncation degree ℓ in (5.4.5) is taken as high as 500. The slight fluctuation of the L₂-errors of the semidiscrete needlet approximation for f_4 is partly due to the truncation error for the Fourier coefficients of ϕ_4 .

Either (5.3.10) and (2.6.5), or the needlet decomposition (5.1.6) can be used to compute the fully discrete needlet approximation $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f)$. Some discussion of efficient implementation can be found in [35]. We then approximate the \mathbb{L}_2 error by a quadrature rule $\{(\tilde{w}_i, \mathbf{x}_i) : i = 1, \dots, \tilde{N}\}$, as follows.

$$\left\| V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f) - f \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{2})}^{2} = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{2}} \left| V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f;\mathbf{x}) - f(\mathbf{x}) \right|^{2} d\sigma_{d}(\mathbf{x})$$
$$\approx \sum_{i=1}^{\tilde{N}} \widetilde{w}_{i} \left(V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f;\mathbf{x}_{i}) - f(\mathbf{x}_{i}) \right)^{2}.$$
(5.4.6)

Figure 5.4b shows the corresponding \mathbb{L}_2 -error for the discrete needlet approximation $V_{L,N}^{\text{need}}(f_k)$, where we used the same needlet filter, and used symmetric spherical designs for both needlets and discretisation, and the degree of discrete needlet approximation is $L = 2^J$, $J = 1, \ldots, 6$. We used a symmetric spherical 275-design (with $\tilde{N} = 37952$ nodes and equal weights $\tilde{w}_i = 1/\tilde{N}$) to approximate the integral in (5.4.6).

For each k, the \mathbb{L}_2 -errors of the semidiscrete and fully discrete needlet approximations converge at almost the same order (with respect to degree L). This suggests that the theoretical result for the discrete needlet approximation may be improved. The figure also shows that the convergence order becomes higher as the smoothness of f increases, which is consistent with the theory.





Figure 5.5: Centres of needlets at level 4 (larger points) and level 6 (smaller points) for a localised discrete needlet approximation

Figure 5.6: Absolute errors of a localised discrete needlet approximation for f_2 with all needlets at levels ≤ 4 and localised needlets at levels 5, 6

5.4.3 Local approximations by discrete needlets

In the following example, we show the approximation error using discrete needlets for f_2 given by (5.4.2), using all needlets at low levels and needlets with centres in a small region at high levels.

In general, let X be a compact set of \mathbb{S}^d . We define the *localised discrete needlet* approximation for $f \in C(\mathbb{S}^d)$ by

$$\widetilde{V}_{J_0,J,N}^{\text{need}}(X;f;\mathbf{x}) := \begin{cases} \sum_{j=0}^{J_0} \mathcal{U}_{jN}(f;\mathbf{x}), & \mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d \backslash X, \\ \\ \sum_{j=0}^{J_0} \mathcal{U}_{jN}(f;\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{\substack{\mathbf{x}_{jk} \in X\\ J_0+1 \le j \le J}} (f,\psi_{jk})_{\mathcal{Q}_N} \psi_{jk}(\mathbf{x}), & \mathbf{x} \in X, \end{cases}$$

where $\mathcal{U}_{jN}(f; \mathbf{x})$, given by (5.3.8), is the level-*j* contribution of the discrete needlet approximation. The idea is that on the compact set X we seek a more refined needlet approximation — that is, we "zoom-in" on the set X.

Let $X := \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{z}_3, r)$, the spherical cap with centre $\mathbf{z}_3 := (0, 1, 0)$ and radius r.

Figure 5.6 shows the pointwise absolute error of the localised discrete needlet approximation

 $\widetilde{V}_{4,6,N}^{\text{need}}(\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{z}_3, \pi/6); f_2; \mathbf{x})$. In the exterior of the cap $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{z}_3, \pi/6)$, the approximation used needlets up to level 4, with the largest absolute error, about 1.2×10^{-4} , at the centres \mathbf{z}_i , $i \neq 3$. In the cap, the approximation is a combination of needlets at the low levels 0 to 4 with those at high levels 5 and 6.

We observe that the localised discrete needlet approximation has good approximation near the centre of the local region but with less computational cost since the levels 5 and 6 used only a fraction of the full set of needlets, approximately $|\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{z}_3, r)|/|\mathbb{S}^2| = (1 - \cos(r))/2$ (about 6.7% when $r = \pi/6$). This localisation is an efficient way of constructing a discrete needlet approximation for a specific region.

Figure 5.5 shows the centres of the needlets for level 4 (larger points) and those in the cap $C(\mathbf{z}_3, \pi/6)$ for level 6 (smaller points) of the localised discrete needlet approximation $\widetilde{V}_{4,6,N}^{\text{need}}(C(\mathbf{z}_3, \pi/6); f_2; \mathbf{x})$. The smaller points illustrate where the high levels of the localised discrete needlet approximation focused. At level 6, the needlet quadrature used the symmetric spherical 63-design, which has totally 8130 nodes over the sphere and 544 nodes in the cap. The localised discrete needlet approximation at this level used only needlets with centres at these 544 nodes for the local region.

5.5 Proofs

In this section we give the proofs for Sections 5.2 and 5.3.

5.5.1 Proofs for Section 5.2

In the proof of Theorem 5.2.2 we use the following lemma to bound $A_k(T, \ell)$, where

$$A_{k}(T,\ell) := \begin{cases} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) - g\left(\frac{\ell+1}{T}\right), & k = 1, \\ \frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell)}{2\ell+2r+k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell+1)}{2(\ell+1)+2r+k}, & k = 2, 3, \dots \end{cases}$$
(5.5.1)

Note that $A_k(T, \ell)$ vanishes for $\ell \leq \lceil aT \rceil - k$, because of the assumed constancy of g on [0, a]. This is a crucial property for establishing the following lemma.

Lemma 5.5.1. Let g satisfy the condition of Theorem 5.2.2 with $T_1 = \lceil aT \rceil$ and $T_2 = \lfloor bT \rfloor$, where b is the largest member of supp g, and with T sufficiently large that $0 \leq T_1 - \kappa \leq T_2$. Let $A_k(T, \ell)$ be defined by (5.5.1). Then for an arbitrary positive integer $k \leq \kappa$,

$$A_k(T,\ell) = \mathcal{O}\left(T^{-(2k-1)}\right), \quad T_1 - k \le \ell \le T_2,$$
 (5.5.2)

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} depends only on d, k, g and κ .

Proof. For a sequence u_{ℓ} , let $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1} u_{\ell} := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}(u_{\ell}) := u_{\ell} - u_{\ell+1}$ denote the first order forward difference of u_{ℓ} , and for $i \geq 2$, let the *i*th order forward difference be

defined recursively by $\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i}(u_{\ell}) := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}(\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i-1}(u_{\ell}))$. We now prove the estimate in (5.5.2), making use of the obvious identity

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \left(u_{\ell} \, \nu_{\ell} \right) = \left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \, u_{\ell} \right) \, \nu_{\ell} + u_{\ell+1} \left(\overrightarrow{\Delta}^{1}_{\ell} \, \nu_{\ell} \right). \tag{5.5.3}$$

By (5.5.1), for $k \ge 2$

$$A_{k}(T,\ell) = \left(\frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell)}{2\ell+2r+k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell)}{2(\ell+1)+2r+k}\right) \\ + \left(\frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell)}{2(\ell+1)+2r+k} - \frac{A_{k-1}(T,\ell+1)}{2(\ell+1)+2r+k}\right) \\ = \frac{1}{2\ell+2r+k+2} \left(\frac{2}{2\ell+2r+k} + \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{1}\right) A_{k-1}(T,\ell) =: \delta_{k}(\ell) \left(A_{k-1}(T,\ell)\right).$$

In addition, let $\delta_1(\ell) := \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^1$. Then for $k \ge 1$,

$$A_k(T,\ell) = \delta_k(\ell) \cdots \delta_1(\ell) \left(g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right)\right).$$
(5.5.4)

By induction using (5.5.3) and (5.5.4), A_k with $k \ge 1$ can be written as

$$A_{k}(T,\ell) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} R_{-(2k-1-i)}(\ell) \,\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} \, g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right),$$
(5.5.5)

where $R_{-j}(\ell)$, $k-1 \leq j \leq 2k-2$, is a rational function of ℓ with degree^{*} deg $(R_{-j}) \leq -j$ and hence

$$R_{-j}(\ell) = \mathcal{O}_{d,k}\left(\ell^{-j}\right). \tag{5.5.6}$$

For $g \in C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and $0 \leq i \leq k \leq \kappa$, we have by induction the following integral representation of the finite difference $\overrightarrow{\Delta}^i_{\ell} g(\frac{\ell}{T})$:

$$\overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^{i} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) = \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{T}} \mathrm{d}u_{1} \cdots \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{T}} g^{(i)} \left(\frac{\ell}{T} + u_{1} + \dots + u_{i}\right) \mathrm{d}u_{i}.$$

Since $g^{(i)}$ is bounded, for $T_1 - \kappa \leq \ell \leq T_2$, $\left| \overrightarrow{\Delta}_{\ell}^i g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) \right| \leq c_{i,g} T^{-i}$. This together with (5.5.5) and (5.5.6) gives (5.5.2), on noting that $\ell \approx T$ in (5.5.2).

Proof of Theorem 5.2.2. In this proof, let r := (d-2)/2, $T_1 := \lceil aT \rceil$ and $T_2 := \lfloor bT \rfloor$. We only need to consider T sufficiently large to ensure that $0 \le T_1 - \kappa \le T_2$. Let

^{*}Let R(t) be a rational polynomial taking the form R(t) = p(t)/q(t), where p(t) and q(t) are polynomials with $q \neq 0$. The *degree* of R(t) is $\deg(R) := \deg(p) - \deg(q)$.

 $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t), t \in [-1,1]$, be the Jacobi polynomial of degree ℓ for $\alpha, \beta > -1$. From [70, Eq. 4.5.3, p. 71],

$$\sum_{j=0}^{\ell} \frac{(2j+\alpha+\beta+1)\Gamma(j+\alpha+\beta+1)}{\Gamma(j+\beta+1)} P_j^{(\alpha,\beta)}(t) = \frac{\Gamma(\ell+\alpha+\beta+2)}{\Gamma(\ell+\beta+1)} P_\ell^{(\alpha+1,\beta)}(t),$$
(5.5.7)

and by [70, Eq. 4.1.1, p. 58], $P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(1) = {\binom{\ell+\alpha}{\ell}}$. Then we find using (2.1.3) and (2.1.6) that

$$v_{T,g}(\cos\theta) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\cos\theta) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(d)} \sum_{\ell=0}^{\infty} g\left(\frac{\ell}{T}\right) \frac{(2\ell+2r+1)\Gamma(\ell+2r+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+r+1)} P_{\ell}^{(r,r)}(\cos\theta) = \frac{\Gamma(\frac{d}{2})}{\Gamma(d)} \sum_{\ell=T_1-\kappa}^{T_2} A_{\kappa}(T,\ell) \frac{\Gamma(\ell+2r+\kappa+1)}{\Gamma(\ell+r+1)} P_{\ell}^{(r+\kappa,r)}(\cos\theta), \quad (5.5.8)$$

where the last equality uses (5.5.7) and summation by parts κ times, and $A_{\kappa}(T, \ell)$ is given by (5.5.1).

From [70, Eq. 7.32.5, Eq. 4.1.3] or [19, Eq. B.1.7, p. 416], for arbitrary $\alpha, \beta > -1$,

$$\left|P_{\ell}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(\cos\theta)\right| \le \frac{c_{\alpha,\beta}\,\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{(\ell^{-1}+\theta)^{\alpha+\frac{1}{2}}(\ell^{-1}+\pi-\theta)^{\beta+\frac{1}{2}}}, \ \ 0\le \theta\le \pi.$$
(5.5.9)

Applying Lemma 5.5.1 with (5.5.8) and (5.5.9) gives (bearing in mind that r = (d-2)/2)

$$|v_{T,g}(\cos\theta)| \le c_{d,\kappa} \sum_{\ell=T_1-\kappa}^{T_2} |A_{\kappa}(T,\ell)| \, \ell^{r+\kappa} \times \frac{\ell^{-\frac{1}{2}}}{(\ell^{-1}+\theta)^{r+\kappa+\frac{1}{2}}(\ell^{-1}+\pi-\theta)^{r+\frac{1}{2}}} \\ \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \sum_{\ell=T_1-\kappa}^{T_2} \frac{T^{-(2\kappa-1)} \, \ell^{\frac{d}{2}+\kappa-\frac{3}{2}}}{(\ell^{-1}+\theta)^{\kappa+\frac{d-1}{2}}(\ell^{-1}+\pi-\theta)^{\frac{d-1}{2}}}.$$

From this and $T_1 \simeq T \simeq T_2$ together with $T_2 - T_1 \simeq T$, for $\theta \in [0, \pi/2]$ we have

$$|v_{T,g}(\cos\theta)| \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \sum_{\ell=T_1-\kappa}^{T_2} T^{-(2\kappa-1)} \frac{T^{\frac{d}{2}+\kappa-\frac{3}{2}}}{(T^{-1}+\theta)^{\kappa+\frac{d-1}{2}}} \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \frac{T^d}{(1+T\theta)^{\kappa+\frac{d-1}{2}}};$$

while for $\theta \in [\pi/2, \pi]$,

$$|v_{T,g}(\cos\theta)| \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \sum_{\ell=T_1-\kappa}^{T_2} T^{-(2\kappa-1)} T^{d+\kappa-2} \le c_{d,g,\kappa} T^{d-\kappa} \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \frac{T^d}{(1+T\theta)^{\kappa}}.$$

The estimates for the above two cases imply (5.2.6), thus completing the proof. \Box

Proof of Theorem 5.2.3. We only need to prove the result for $T \ge 1$. Using the property of a zonal kernel, for $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)} &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left| v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \right| \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \int_0^\pi \left| v_{T,g}(\cos\theta) \right| (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= \frac{|\mathbb{S}^{d-1}|}{|\mathbb{S}^d|} \left(\int_0^{1/T} + \int_{1/T}^\pi \right) \left| v_{T,g}(\cos\theta) \right| (\sin\theta)^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta. \end{aligned}$$
(5.5.10)

By (5.2.6),

$$\left| v_{T,g}(\cos \theta) \right| \le \begin{cases} c T^d, & 0 \le \theta < 1/T, \\ c T^{d-\kappa} \theta^{-\kappa} & 1/T \le \theta \le \pi. \end{cases}$$

where the constants depend only on d, g and κ . This estimate with (5.5.10) gives

$$\left\| v_{T,g}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_1(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c_{d,g,\kappa} \left(\int_0^{1/T} T^d \, \theta^{d-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta + \int_{1/T}^{\pi} T^{d-\kappa} \, \theta^{d-\kappa-1} \, \mathrm{d}\theta \right),$$

where since $\kappa \ge d + 1$, both integrals are bounded independently of T, thus completing the proof.

Proof of Theorem 5.2.6. The strategy for proving (5.2.7) of Theorem 5.2.6 is similar to that in [64]. Since H(t) = 1 for $t \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$V_{L,H}(p;\mathbf{x}) = \left(p, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \cdot)\right)_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} = p(\mathbf{x}),$$

and hence, from Corollary 5.2.4,

$$\begin{split} \|f - V_{L,H}(f)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &= \|f - p - V_{L,H}(f - p)\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \|V_{L,H}\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p} \to \mathbb{L}_{p}}\right)\|f - p\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq c_{d,H} \|f - p\|_{\mathbb{L}_{p}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}, \end{split}$$

which holds for all $p \in \mathbb{P}_L(\mathbb{S}^d)$, thus completing the proof.

5.5.2 Proofs for Section 5.3

The following lemma, from [62, Lemma 1], [32, Lemma 2] and [10, Lemma 3.2], states that if a positive quadrature rule on \mathbb{S}^d is exact for polynomials of degree up to 2L then the sum of the weights corresponding to quadrature points in a cap of radius at least $\pi/(20L)$ is bounded by a constant multiple of the area of the cap.

Lemma 5.5.2. Let $\{(W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ be a positive quadrature rule exact for the polynomials of degree up to 2L. Then, given $\theta \in [\frac{\pi}{20L}, \pi]$, for all $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{S}^d$,

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le i \le N\\ \mathbf{y}_i \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{x}, \theta)}} W_i \le c_d \left| \mathcal{C} \left(\mathbf{x}, \theta \right) \right|.$$

Chapter 5 Fully discrete needlet approximations on the sphere

Given s' > 0, let $A_{\ell}, \ell \ge 1$, be a real sequence satisfying

$$\widetilde{c}_{d,s'} := \sum_{\ell \ge 1} |A_\ell| \ \ell^{2s'+d-1} < +\infty.$$
(5.5.11)

Lemma 5.5.3. Given $L \ge 0$, let $\{(W_i, \mathbf{y}_i) : i = 1, 2, ..., N\}$ be a positive quadrature rule exact for the polynomials of degree up to 2L. Let g be a filter in $C^{\kappa}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $1 \le \kappa < \infty$ such that g(t) is a constant in [0, a] for some a > 0, and let A_{ℓ} satisfy (5.5.11) with s' > 0. Then,

$$I_N := \left| \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i W_{i'} \sum_{\ell=L+1}^\infty A_\ell Z(d,\ell) P_\ell^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) v_{L,g}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \right| = \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-2s'} \right),$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} term depends only on d, s', g and κ .

Proof. From Theorem 5.2.2,

$$I_{N} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i'=1}^{N} W_{i} W_{i'} \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} |A_{\ell}| Z(d,\ell) |v_{L,g}(\mathbf{y}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'})|$$

$$\leq \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} |A_{\ell}| \ell^{2s'+d-1} L^{-2s'} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i'=1}^{N} W_{i} W_{i'} \frac{c_{d,g,\kappa} L^{d}}{(1+L \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i},\mathbf{y}_{i'}))^{\kappa}}$$

$$\leq c_{d,g,\kappa} \widetilde{c}_{d,s'} L^{-2s'} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i'=1}^{N} \frac{L^{d} W_{i} W_{i'}}{(1+L \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i},\mathbf{y}_{i'}))^{\kappa}} =: c_{d,g,\kappa} \widetilde{c}_{d,s'} L^{-2s'} I_{N}^{*}, \quad (5.5.12)$$

where $\tilde{c}_{d,s'}$ is given by (5.5.11) and we used (2.1.7) and (2.1.3) in the first and second inequalities respectively. We now show that the double sum I_N^* is bounded independently of N, i.e. $I_N^* = \mathcal{O}_{d,\kappa}(1)$. To show this, we split I_N^* into two sums:

$$I_{N}^{*} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i} \left(\sum_{\substack{1 \le i' \le N \\ \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i}) \le \frac{\pi}{20L}}} + \sum_{\substack{1 \le i' \le N \\ \frac{\pi}{20L} < \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i}) \le \pi}} \right) \frac{L^{d} W_{i'}}{(1 + L \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i}))^{\kappa}} =: I_{N,1}^{*} + I_{N,2}^{*},$$
(5.5.13)

and prove that both of $I_{N,1}^*$ and $I_{N,2}^*$ are bounded. For $I_{N,1}^*$, using Lemma 5.5.2,

$$I_{N,1}^* \leq c_{\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i' \leq N \\ \mathbf{y}_{i'} \in \mathcal{C}\left(\mathbf{y}_i, \frac{\pi}{20L}\right)}} W_{i'} L^d \leq c_{d,\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \left| \mathcal{C}\left(\mathbf{y}_i, \frac{\pi}{20L}\right) \right| L^d$$
$$\leq c_{d,\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i L^{-d} L^d = c_{d,\kappa},$$

where the third inequality used (2.1.2). For $I_{N,2}^*$ in (5.5.13) we use

$$I_{N,2}^{*} \leq L^{d-\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i' \leq N \\ \frac{\pi}{20L} < \text{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i}) \leq \pi}} W_{i} \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i})^{-\kappa} =: L^{d-\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^{N} W_{i} f_{i}.$$
(5.5.14)

We follow the argument of Brauchart and Hesse [10, p. 57–59] to estimate f_i . For $1 \le i \le N$, let

$$F_{i}(\theta) := \sum_{\substack{1 \le i' \le N\\ \frac{\pi}{20L} < \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_{i}) \le \theta}} W_{i'}, \quad \theta \in [\frac{\pi}{20L}, \pi].$$
(5.5.15)

Then $F_i(\theta)$ is a non-decreasing function of θ on $\left[\frac{\pi}{20L}, \pi\right]$ satisfying $F_i(\pi/20L) = 0$ and, by $\sum_{i'=1}^{N} W_{i'} = 1$, $F_i(\pi) \leq 1$. Hence f_i can be written as a Stieltjes integral,

$$f_i = \sum_{\substack{1 \le i' \le N \\ \frac{\pi}{20L} < \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_i) \le \pi}} W_{i'} \operatorname{dist}(\mathbf{y}_{i'}, \mathbf{y}_i)^{-\kappa} = \int_{\frac{\pi}{20L}}^{\pi} \theta^{-\kappa} \, \mathrm{d}F_i(\theta).$$

By integration by parts,

$$f_i = F_i(\pi)\pi^{-\kappa} + \kappa \int_{\frac{\pi}{20L}}^{\pi} F_i(\theta)\theta^{-\kappa-1} \,\mathrm{d}\theta.$$
 (5.5.16)

Applying Lemma 5.5.2 to $F_i(\theta)$ in (5.5.15) and using (2.1.2), we have

$$F_{i}(\theta) \leq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i' \leq N \\ \mathbf{y}_{i'} \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbf{y}_{i},\theta)}} W_{i'} \leq c_{d} |\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{y}_{i},\theta)| \leq c_{d} \theta^{d}.$$

This with $|F_i(\pi)| \leq 1$ and (5.5.16) gives, using $d - \kappa - 1 < -1$,

$$f_i \leq \pi^{-\kappa} + c_{d,\kappa} \int_{\frac{\pi}{20L}}^{\pi} \theta^{d-\kappa-1} \,\mathrm{d}\theta = \mathcal{O}_{d,\kappa} \left(L^{\kappa-d} \right),$$

which together with (5.5.14) gives $I_{N,2}^* \leq c_{d,\kappa} L^{d-\kappa} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i L^{\kappa-d} = c_{d,\kappa}$. Equation (5.5.12) now gives the desired result.

Lemmas 2.6.5 and 5.5.3 imply the following estimate for the \mathbb{L}_2 -error between filtered approximation and filtered hyperinterpolation.

Lemma 5.5.4. With the assumptions of Theorem 5.3.3,

$$\left\| V_{L,H}(f) - V_{L,H,N}^d(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)} \le c \, L^{-(s - \frac{d}{2} - \epsilon)} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}, \tag{5.5.17}$$

where the constant c depends only on d, s, ϵ , H and κ .

Proof. For $f \in \mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$, we can write $f(\mathbf{x}) = (f, K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x}))_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}$, giving

$$V_{L,H}(f)(\mathbf{y}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left(f, K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x}) \right)_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}),$$
$$V_{L,H,N}^d(f)(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \, \left(f, K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{y}_i) \right)_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)} \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}),$$

Chapter 5 Fully discrete needlet approximations on the sphere

and hence

$$V_{L,H}(f)(\mathbf{y}) - V_{L,H,N}^d(f)(\mathbf{y})$$

= $\left(f, \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x}) v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) - \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \, K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{y}_i) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y})\right)_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$

Applying the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, we obtain

$$\left| V_{L,H}(f)(\mathbf{y}) - V_{L,H,N}^{d}(f)(\mathbf{y}) \right| \le \|f\|_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y}),$$
(5.5.18)

where

$$B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y}) := \left\| \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{x}) v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) - \sum_{i=1}^N W_i K^{(s)}(\cdot \cdot \mathbf{y}_i) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}) \right\|_{\mathbb{H}^s(\mathbb{S}^d)}.$$

Hence using reproducing kernel property, see (2.4.3),

$$\begin{aligned} \left| B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y}) \right|^2 &= \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x}' \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}') \\ &- 2 \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i \, W_{i'} \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, v_{L,H}(\mathbf{y}_{i'} \cdot \mathbf{y}). \end{aligned}$$

This together with Proposition 5.2.1 gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left| B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y}) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x}' \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{x}') \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}') - 2 \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \sum_{i=1}^N W_i \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{x}) \, v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}_i) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{x}) + \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i \, W_{i'} \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \, v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}).$$
(5.5.19)

Applying Lemma 2.6.5 to the two integrals of (5.5.19) gives

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^d} |B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y})|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y})
= v_{L,H^2}^{(2s)}(1) - 2\sum_{i=1}^N W_i \, v_{L,H^2}^{(2s)}(1) + \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i \, W_{i'} \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \, v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'})
= \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i \, W_{i'} \, K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \, v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) - v_{L,H^2}^{(2s)}(1),$$
(5.5.20)

119

where $v_{L,H^2}^{(2s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'})$ is given by (2.6.8) and the second equality used $\sum_{i=1}^{N} W_i = 1$. Let $K_L^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{L} b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ be the first (L+1)-term truncation of $K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$. Then $K_L^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y})$ is a polynomial of degree L and the remainder is

$$K^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) - K_L^{(s)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}) = \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{\infty} b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Z(d,\ell) P_{\ell}^{(d+1)}(\mathbf{x} \cdot \mathbf{y}).$$

Since the filtered kernel $v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'})$ is a polynomial of \mathbf{y}_i (and also $\mathbf{y}_{i'}$) of degree up to 2L-1 and the discretisation quadrature rule Q_N is exact for polynomials of degree up to 3L - 1,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{i'=1}^{N} W_{i} W_{i'} K_{L}^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) v_{L,H^{2}}(\mathbf{y}_{i} \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d}} K_{L}^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) v_{L,H^{2}}(\mathbf{y}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d}(\mathbf{y}) \mathrm{d}\sigma_{d}(\mathbf{y}).$$

We can hence rewrite (5.5.20) as

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left| B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y}) \right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{i'=1}^N W_i \, W_{i'} \left(K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) - K_L^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \right) v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}_i \cdot \mathbf{y}_{i'}) \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left(K^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) - K_L^{(s)}(\mathbf{y}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) \right) v_{L,H^2}(\mathbf{y}' \cdot \mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}'), \\ &=: S_1 - S_2, \end{split}$$
(5.5.21)

where we used Lemma 2.6.5 again. Applying Lemma 5.5.3 with $s' = s - \frac{d}{2} - \epsilon > 0$, $A_{\ell} = b_{\ell}^{(-2s)}$ and $g = H^2$ gives

$$S_1 = \mathcal{O}\left(L^{-2(s-\frac{d}{2}-\epsilon)}\right),\tag{5.5.22}$$

where the constant in the big \mathcal{O} depends only on d, s, ϵ, H and κ . Applying (2.2.2), S_2 becomes

$$S_2 = \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{2L-1} H\left(\frac{\ell}{L}\right)^2 b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Z(d,\ell) \le \sum_{\ell=L+1}^{2L-1} b_{\ell}^{(-2s)} Z(d,\ell) \le c_{d,s} L^{-(2s-d)},$$

where the last inequality used (2.1.3) and (2.3.1). This with (5.5.22) and (5.5.21)gives

$$\|B_{s,L,H,N}\|_{\mathbb{L}_2(\mathbb{S}^d)}^2 = \int_{\mathbb{S}^d} \left|B_{s,L,H,N}(\mathbf{y})\right|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\sigma_d(\mathbf{y}) = \mathcal{O}_{d,s,\epsilon,H,\kappa}\left(L^{-2(s-\frac{d}{2}-\epsilon)}\right). \tag{5.5.23}$$

Taking the \mathbb{L}_2 -norm of both sides of (5.5.18) and by (5.5.23), we arrive at (5.5.17). *Proof of Theorem 5.3.3.* For $f \in \mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})$ with s > d/2, by Corollary 5.2.7 and Lemma 5.5.4

$$\begin{split} \left\| f - V_{L,H,N}^{d}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} &\leq \left\| f - V_{L,H}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + \left\| V_{L,H}(f) - V_{L,H,N}^{d}(f) \right\|_{\mathbb{L}_{2}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} \\ &\leq c \, L^{-s} \| f \|_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})} + c \, L^{-(s-d/2-\epsilon)} \| f \|_{\mathbb{H}^{s}(\mathbb{S}^{d})}, \end{split}$$

thus completing the proof.

Bibliography

- C. An, X. Chen, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley, *Regularized least squares* approximations on the sphere using spherical designs, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 50 (2012), pp. 1513–1534.
- [2] J.-P. Antoine and P. Vandergheynst, Wavelets on the two-sphere and other conic sections, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 13 (2007), pp. 369–386.
- [3] K. Atkinson and W. Han, Spherical harmonics and approximations on the unit sphere: an introduction, Lecture Notes in Math. 2044, Springer, Heidelberg, 2012.
- [4] T. Aubin, Some nonlinear problems in Riemannian geometry, Springer Monogr. Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [5] P. Baldi, G. Kerkyacharian, D. Marinucci and D. Picard, Adaptive density estimation for directional data using needlets, Ann. Statist., 37 (2009), pp. 3362– 3395.
- [6] P. Baldi, G. Kerkyacharian, D. Marinucci and D. Picard, Asymptotics for spherical needlets, Ann. Statist., 37 (2009), pp. 1150–1171.
- [7] E. Belinsky, F. Dai and Z. Ditzian, *Multivariate approximating averages*, J. Approx. Theory, 125 (2003), pp. 85–105.
- [8] H. Berens, P. L. Butzer and S. Pawelke, Limitierungsverfahren von Reihen mehrdimensionaler Kugelfunktionen und deren Saturationsverhalten, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. Ser. A, 4 (1968/1969), pp. 201–268.
- [9] L. Brandolini and L. Colzani, Localization and convergence of eigenfunction expansions, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 5 (1999), pp. 431–447.

- [10] J. S. Brauchart and K. Hesse, Numerical integration over spheres of arbitrary dimension, Constr. Approx., 25 (2007), pp. 41–71.
- [11] J. S. Brauchart, J. Dick, E. B. Saff, I. H. Sloan, Y. G. Wang and R. S. Womersley, Covering of spheres by spherical caps and worst-case error for equal weight cubature in Sobolev spaces, arXiv:1407.8311 [math.NA] (2014).
- [12] J. S. Brauchart, E. B. Saff, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley, QMC designs: optimal order quasi Monte Carlo integration schemes on the sphere, Math. Comp., 83 (2014), pp. 2821–2851.
- [13] G. Brown and F. Dai, Approximation of smooth functions on compact twopoint homogeneous spaces, J. Funct. Anal., 220 (2005), pp. 401–423.
- [14] A. Carbery and F. Soria, Almost-everywhere convergence of Fourier integrals for functions in Sobolev spaces, and an L²-localisation principle, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana, 4 (1988), pp. 319–337.
- [15] A. Carbery and F. Soria, Pointwise Fourier inversion and localisation in Rⁿ,
 J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 3 (1997), pp. 847–858 (special issue).
- [16] A. Carbery and F. Soria, Sets of divergence for the localization problem for Fourier integrals, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 325 (1997), pp. 1283– 1286.
- [17] A. Chernih, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley, Wendland functions with increasing smoothness converge to a Gaussian, Adv. Comput. Math., 40 (2014), pp. 185–200.
- [18] F. Dai, On generalized hyperinterpolation on the sphere, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 134 (2006), pp. 2931–2941.
- [19] F. Dai and Y. Xu, Approximation theory and harmonic analysis on spheres and balls, Springer Monogr. Math., Springer, New York, 2013.
- [20] F. Filbir, H. N. Mhaskar and J. Prestin, On a filter for exponentially localized kernels based on Jacobi polynomials, J. Approx. Theory, 160 (2009), pp. 256– 280.

- [21] F. Filbir and W. Themistoclakis, Generalized de la Vallée Poussin operators for Jacobi weights, in Numerical Analysis and Approximation Theory, Casa Cărții de ştiință, Cluj-Napoca, 2006, pp. 195–204.
- [22] W. Freeden, T. Gervens and M. Schreiner, Constructive approximation on the sphere with applications to geomathematics, Numer. Math. Sci. Comput., The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- [23] W. Freeden and C. Mayer, Wavelets generated by layer potentials, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 14 (2003), pp. 195–237.
- [24] W. Freeden and M. Schreiner, Orthogonal and non-orthogonal multiresolution analysis, scale discrete and exact fully discrete wavelet transform on the sphere, Constr. Approx., 14 (1998), pp. 493–515.
- [25] W. Freeden and U. Windheuser, Combined spherical harmonic and wavelet expansion—a future concept in Earth's gravitational determination, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 4 (1997), pp. 1–37.
- [26] W. Freeden, Multiscale modelling of spaceborne geodata, B. G. Teubner, Stuttgart, 1999.
- [27] C. L. Frenzen and R. Wong, A uniform asymptotic expansion of the Jacobi polynomials with error bounds, Canad. J. Math., 37 (1985), pp. 979–1007.
- [28] G. Gasper, Banach algebras for Jacobi series and positivity of a kernel, Ann. of Math. (2), 95 (1972), pp. 261–280.
- [29] G. Gasper, Positivity and the convolution structure for Jacobi series, Ann. of Math. (2), 93 (1971), pp. 112–118.
- [30] C. Gerhards, A combination of downward continuation and local approximation for harmonic potentials, Inverse Problems, 30 (2014), pp. 085004, 30.
- [31] K. Hesse, A lower bound for the worst-case cubature error on spheres of arbitrary dimension, Numer. Math., 103 (2006), pp. 413–433.
- [32] K. Hesse and I. H. Sloan, Cubature over the sphere S² in Sobolev spaces of arbitrary order, J. Approx. Theory, 141 (2006), pp. 118−133.

- [33] K. Hesse, I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley, Numerical integration on the sphere, in Handbook of Geomathematics, Springer, 2010, pp. 1185–1219.
- [34] E. Hille and G. Klein, Riemann's localization theorem for Fourier series, Duke Math. J., 21 (1954), pp. 587–591.
- [35] K. Ivanov and P. Petrushev, Fast memory efficient evaluation of spherical polynomials at scattered points, Adv. Comput. Math., 41 (2015), pp. 191–230.
- [36] K. Ivanov, P. Petrushev and Y. Xu, Sub-exponentially localized kernels and frames induced by orthogonal expansions, Math. Z., 264 (2010), pp. 361–397.
- [37] A. I. Kamzolov, The best approximation of classes of functions $W_p^{\alpha}(\mathbb{S}^n)$ by polynomials in spherical harmonics, Mat. Zametki, 32 (1982), pp. 285–293, 425.
- [38] Z. Khalid, R. Kennedy, S. Durrani, P. Sadeghi, Y. Wiaux and J. McEwen, Fast directional spatially localized spherical harmonic transform, IEEE Trans. Signal Process., 61 (2013), pp. 2192–2203.
- [39] T. Koornwinder, Jacobi polynomials. II. An analytic proof of the product formula, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 5 (1974), pp. 125–137.
- [40] D. Larson et al., Seven-year Wilkinson Microwave Anisotropy Probe (WMAP) Observations: Power Spectra and WMAP-derived Parameters, Astrophys. J. Supplement, 192 (2011), pp. 16.
- [41] Q. T. Le Gia and H. N. Mhaskar, Localized linear polynomial operators and quadrature formulas on the sphere, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 47 (2008), pp. 440– 466.
- [42] Q. T. Le Gia, I. H. Sloan and H. Wendland, Multiscale analysis in Sobolev spaces on the sphere, SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 48 (2010), pp. 2065–2090.
- [43] D. Marinucci et al., Spherical needlets for cosmic microwave background data analysis, Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc., 383 (2008), pp. 539–545.
- [44] D. Marinucci and G. Peccati, Random fields on the sphere. Representation, limit theorems and cosmological applications, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser. 389, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011.

- [45] H. N. Mhaskar, On the representation of smooth functions on the sphere using finitely many bits, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 18 (2005), pp. 215–233.
- [46] H. N. Mhaskar, Polynomial operators and local smoothness classes on the unit interval, J. Approx. Theory, 131 (2004), pp. 243–267.
- [47] H. N. Mhaskar, Weighted quadrature formulas and approximation by zonal function networks on the sphere, J. Complexity, 22 (2006), pp. 348–370.
- [48] H. N. Mhaskar and J. Prestin, Polynomial operators for spectral approximation of piecewise analytic functions, Appl. Comput. Harmon. Anal., 26 (2009), pp. 121–142.
- [49] H. N. Mhaskar, F. J. Narcowich, J. Prestin and J. D. Ward, L^p Bernstein estimates and approximation by spherical basis functions, Math. Comp., 79 (2010), pp. 1647–1679.
- [50] C. Müller, Spherical harmonics, Lecture Notes in Math. 17, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1966.
- [51] F. Narcowich, P. Petrushev and J. Ward, Decomposition of Besov and Triebel-Lizorkin spaces on the sphere, J. Funct. Anal., 238 (2006), pp. 530–564.
- [52] F. J. Narcowich, P. Petrushev and J. D. Ward, *Localized tight frames on spheres*, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 38 (2006), pp. 574–594.
- [53] F. J. Narcowich and J. D. Ward, Scattered data interpolation on spheres: error estimates and locally supported basis functions, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 33 (2002), pp. 1393–1410.
- [54] NIST Digital Library of Mathematical Functions, http://dlmf.nist.gov/, Release 1.0.9 of 2014-08-29, Online companion to [55].
- [55] F. W. J. Olver, D. W. Lozier, R. F. Boisvert and C. W. Clark, eds., NIST Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Print companion to [54], New York, NY: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [56] P. Petrushev and Y. Xu, Localized polynomial frames on the ball, Constr. Approx., 27 (2008), pp. 121–148.
- [57] P. Petrushev and Y. Xu, *Localized polynomial frames on the interval with Jacobi weights*, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 11 (2005), pp. 557–575.
- [58] D. Pietrobon, A. Amblard, A. Balbi, P. Cabella, A. Cooray and D. Marinucci, Needlet detection of features in the WMAP CMB sky and the impact on anisotropies and hemispherical asymmetries, Phys. Rev. D, 78 (2008), pp. 103504.
- [59] M. A. Pinsky, Pointwise Fourier inversion and related eigenfunction expansions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 47 (1994), pp. 653–681.
- [60] M. A. Pinsky, *Pointwise Fourier inversion in several variables*, Notices Amer. Math. Soc., 42 (1995), pp. 330–334.
- [61] M. A. Pinsky and M. E. Taylor, *Pointwise Fourier inversion: a wave equation approach*, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 3 (1997), pp. 647–703.
- [62] M. Reimer, Hyperinterpolation on the sphere at the minimal projection order, J. Approx. Theory, 104 (2000), pp. 272–286.
- [63] W. Rudin, *Principles of mathematical analysis*, Third Edition, McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York-Auckland-Düsseldorf, 1976.
- [64] K. P. Rustamov, On the approximation of functions on a sphere, Izv. Ross. Akad. Nauk Ser. Mat., 57 (1993), pp. 127–148 (in Russia), Russian Acad. Sci. Izv. Math., 43 (1994), pp. 311–329 (in English).
- [65] F. J. Simons, F. A. Dahlen and M. A. Wieczorek, Spatiospectral concentration on a sphere, SIAM Rev., 48 (2006), pp. 504–536.
- [66] F. J. Simons, I. Loris, E. Brevdo and I. C. Daubechies, Wavelets and waveletlike transforms on the sphere and their application to geophysical data inversion, Proc. of SPIE, 81380X (2011), pp. 1–15.
- [67] I. H. Sloan, Polynomial approximation on spheres—generalizing de la Vallée-Poussin, Comput. Methods Appl. Math., 11 (2011), pp. 540–552.
- [68] I. H. Sloan and R. S. Womersley, Filtered hyperinterpolation: a constructive polynomial approximation on the sphere, Int. J. Geomath., 3 (2012), pp. 95– 117.

- [69] E. M. Stein and R. Shakarchi, *Fourier analysis: An introduction*, Princeton Lectures in Analysis 1, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2003.
- [70] G. Szegő, Orthogonal polynomials, Fourth Edition, Amer. Math. Soc. Colloq. Publ. 23, AMS, Providence, R.I., 2003.
- [71] M. E. Taylor, Eigenfunction expansions and the Pinsky phenomenon on compact manifolds, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 7 (2001), pp. 507–522.
- [72] M. E. Taylor, Pointwise Fourier inversion on tori and other compact manifolds, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 5 (1999), pp. 449–463.
- [73] M. E. Taylor, The Gibbs phenomenon, the Pinsky phenomenon, and variants for eigenfunction expansions, Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 27 (2002), pp. 565–605.
- [74] S. A. Telyakovskiĭ, The Riemann localization principle and an estimate for the rate of convergence, Sovrem. Mat. Fundam. Napravl., 25 (2007), pp. 178–181.
- [75] H. Triebel, Interpolation theory, function spaces, differential operators, North-Holland Mathematical Library 18, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam-New York, 1978.
- [76] P. Vielva, E. Martínez-González, R. B. Barreiro, J. L. Sanz and L. Cayón, Detection of non-Gaussianity in the WMAP 1-year data using spherical wavelets, Astrophys. J., 609 (2004), pp. 22–34.
- [77] H.-C. Wang, Two-point homogeneous spaces, Ann. of Math. (2), 55 (1952), pp. 177–191.
- [78] K. Wang and L. Li, Harmonic analysis and approximation on the unit sphere, Science Press, Beijing, 2006.
- [79] H. Wendland, Piecewise polynomial, positive definite and compactly supported radial functions of minimal degree, Adv. Comput. Math., 4 (1995), pp. 389– 396.
- [80] R. S. Womersley, *Efficient spherical designs with good geometric properties*, Preprint, (2015).

- [81] R. S. Womersley, Efficient spherical designs with good geometric properties (experiments), http://web.maths.unsw.edu.au/~rsw/Sphere/EffSphDes/ (2015).
- [82] A. Zygmund, Trigonometric series: Vols. I, II, Second Edition, Cambridge University Press, London-New York, 1968.